# POST-TRANSCRIPTIONAL AND EPIGENETIC REGULATION OF MIEN1 IN PROSTATE CANCER

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Graduate Council of the Graduate School of Biomedical Sciences University of North Texas Health Science Center at Fort Worth In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

For the Degree of

### DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

Smrithi Rajendiran, B.S.

Fort Worth, Texas

July 2014

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The past few years have been a very enlightening and interesting experience for me. A huge part of that involves the graduate training at UNT Health Science Center. I would like to begin by thanking my mentor, Dr. Jamboor K. Vishwanatha, for allowing me to be a part of his lab, and giving me the freedom to pursue my ideas, apart from showing constant support and enthusiasm towards the project. His belief in me made me work harder every day. I thank my advisory committee members Dr. Alakananda Basu, Dr. Rance Berg, Dr. Hriday Das and Dr. Marianna Jung for their insight, suggestions and encouragement throughout this journey.

I am thankful to the Graduate School for the stipend support for part of my training and the staff for ensuring that I didn't miss any important University deadlines. I thank the Department of Molecular Biology and Immunology, the Department of Molecular and Medical Genetics and the administrative staff for all their help. I am grateful to Dr. Gryczynski, Dr. Uht, and their students, for allowing me to use their lab facilities.

I am pleased to have had the opportunity to work with various clinicians, who not only provided me with human tissue and serum samples for my work but also took time off their busy schedules to accommodate my questions. I am especially thankful to Dr. Richard Hare for patiently explaining to me the pathology of prostate cancer and making my visits to his office memorable and entertaining with his anecdotes. I am grateful to all the patients/subjects who consented to participate in our study. I consider myself lucky to have experienced such a great work environment, thanks to the awesome colleagues I have had. I sincerely thank the past members of the lab for their guidance during the initial phase of my doctoral training. I want to extend my gratitude to my current labmates, Dr. Pankaj Chaudhary, Dr. Amalendu Ranjan, Dr. Anindita Mukerjee, Marilyne Kpetemey, Sayantan Maji, Lee Gibbs, Jessica Castaneda-Gill, Andrew Godowski and Timothy Van Treuren, for the scientific discussions in the corridors, group lunches and most importantly, for helping me stay sane at the end of "those" frustrating days.

Student life is not always easy, and it definitely was not any help staying so far away from family. Deepanwita, Amruta, Deepti and Pooja, were truly my home away from home. I am indebted to them for having made life so much more fun. The lengthy chats were always refreshing. I am eternally thankful to the large group of people I have had the delight of calling my friends. In one way or another, every one of them has made a mark in my life.

Words cannot express my gratitude to my extended family. I couldn't have done any of this without their constant, strong and unwavering support. Finally, I thank my parents for their love, freedom, patience, advice, encouragement, inspiration, strength and for just being there for me. I hope, one day, to be a reflection of their impeccable attributes. I would like to dedicate this work to my parents for always believing in me.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS	viii
ABBREVIATIONS	xi
CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE AUTHORS	xiv

# CHAPTER

I. INTRODUCTION	. 1
Cancer	1
Molecular Biology of Cancer Progression	.2
Molecular Biology of Cancer Metastasis	.2
Prostate Cancer	5
Statistics, Risk Factors and Diversities, Signs and Symptoms	.5
Anatomy of the prostate and Prostatic conditions	.7
Pathology of prostate cancer	.8
Current Diagnosis and Treatment Strategies1	0
Clinical Challenges in Diagnosis1	1
Novel candidate biomarkers for prostate cancer1	.2
Gene Regulation1	3
Mechanisms and their Overall Significance in	
Maintaining Cancer-free state1	3

	Post-transcriptional Regulation: MicroRNA	14
	Epigenetic Regulation: DNA Methylation	17
Gen	e of Interest: Migration and Invasion Enhancer 1 (MIEN1)	21
Obje	ectives of this study	23
	Hypothesis and Specific Aims	23
Refe	rences	27

# II. MICRORNA-940 SUPPRESSES PROSTATE CANCER

MIGRATION AND INVASION BY REGULATING MIEN1	45
Abstract	45
Introduction	47
Results	49
Discussion	70
Materials and Methods	75
Supplementary Materials and Methods	81
Supplementary Figures	83
Supplementary Table	93
References	95

III. NOVEL MIRNA-940 IS A POTENTIAL SERUM BIOMARKER	
Abstract	101
Introduction	102
Results	104

Discussion	114
Materials and Methods	115
References	118

# IV. MIEN1 IS TIGHTLY REGULATED BY SINE ALU

METHYLATION IN ITS PROMOTER	.124
Abstract	.124
Introduction	.125
Results	.127
Discussion	.144
Materials and Methods	.148
Supplementary Figures	.153
Supplementary Table	.161
References	.162

V. SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
Discussion and Implication in Cancer	
Future Directions	
References	

# LIST OF TABLES

CHAPTER II	
Supplementary Table 1: Predicted pathways altered by miR-9409	<del>)</del> 3
CHAPTER IV	
Supplementary Table 1: Predicted pathways altered by miR-940	51

# LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

### CHAPTER I

Figure 1: Cancer Progression and Metastasis	3
Figure 2: miRNA Biogenesis and Gene Regulation	16
Figure 3: Gene regulation by DNA methylation	19
Figure 4: Effects of downregulating MIEN1 expression	24
Figure 5: Flowchart representing workflow for of specific aims 1, 2 and 3	

# CHAPTER II

Figure 1: miR-940 expression	51
Figure 2: MIEN1 expression upon transfection of miRNA	
mimic(s) or inhibitor(s) in different cell lines	53
Figure 3: miR-940 expression in human prostate cancer and normal tissues	56
Figure 4: miR-940 directly binds to MIEN1	59
Figure 5: miR-940 targets MIEN1 and affects MMP-9, uPA and VEGF	
expression in a cellular context-dependent manner	62
Figure 6: miR-940 affects the cellular migratory and invasive potential	65
Figure 7: miR-940 alters the anchorage-dependent	
and -independent growth of DU-145 cells	68
Supplementary Figure 1: Post-transcriptional regulation of MIEN1	

Supplementary Figure 2: Potential miRNA regulators of MIEN1	85
Supplementary Figure 3: miR-940 expression pattern in prostate tumors	87
Supplementary Figure 4: miR-940 does not alter the cell viability	89
Supplementary Figure 5: miR-940 attenuates EMT and promotes MET	91

# CHAPTER III

Figure 1: miR-940 expression in cell culture supernatant	05
Figure 2: Serum miR-940 is significantly higher	
in cancer compared to normal serum1	07
Figure 3: Secreted miR-940 levels from serum is significantly higher in patients	
with clinically significant tumors1	10
Figure 4: miR-940 levels in serum obtained from patients previously treated or	
undergoing treatment is significantly elevated1	12

# CHAPTER IV

Figure 1: MIEN1 promoter	129
Figure 2: MIEN1 expression upon treatment with the	
nucleoside analog, 5-Aza-2'-deoxycitidine	132
Figure 3: MIEN1 expression upon treatment with the	
non-nucleoside inhibitor, Procainamide	134
Figure 4: MIEN1 expression upon knockdown of	
DNA methyltransferases in PWR-1E	137
Figure 5: Activity of MIEN1 promoter is influenced by SINE Alu	140
Figure 6: Regulatory elements in the MIEN1 promoter	142

Supplementary Figure	1: MIEN1	promoter15	53
----------------------	----------	------------	----

Supplementary Figure 2: MIEN1 expression upon treatment	
with pharmacological inhibitors	155
Supplementary Figure 3: qPCR for DNMTs	157
Supplementary Figure 4: Activity of MIEN1 promoter is influenced by SINE Alu	159

# CHAPTER V

# ABBREVIATIONS

3'UTR	3' untranslated region
5-Aza-2'dC	5-Aza-2'deoxycytidine
Act-D	Actinomycin-D
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Anti-DIG-AP	Anti-digoxigenin antibodies, conjugated to alkaline phosphatase
AUC	Area under the curve
BLAST	Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
BPH	Benign prostatic hyperplasia or hypertrophy
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cDNA	complementary DNA
DNA	Deoxyribonuceic acid
DNMT	DNA methyltransferase
DRE	Digital rectal examination
EMT	Epitelial-to-mesenchymal transition
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GGTase-I	Geranylgeranyl transferase I
GS	Gleason Score
H&E	Hematoxylin and eosin

HER2/neu	human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
IgG	Immunoglobulin G
ITAM	Immureceptor tyrosine-based activation motif
LNA	Locked nucleic acid
MET	Mesencymal-to-epithelial transition
MIEN1	Migration and invasion enhancer 1
miR	miRNA or MicroRNA
miR-940	hsa-miR-940
MMP-9	Matrix metallopeptidase 9
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
NBT-BCIP	Nitro-blue tetrazolium with 5-bromo-4-chloro-3'-indolyphosphate
NF-κB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PCN	Procainamide
PIN	Prostatic intra-epithelial neoplasia
PSA	Prostate specific antigen
qPCR	Real time polymerase chain reaction
qRT-PCR	Real-time reverse-transcription PCR
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
ROC	Receiver operating characteristic
SINE	Short interspersed nuclear element
siRNA	Small interfering RNA

SSC	Saline-sodium citrate
TNM	Tumor-nodal-metastasis
tPSA	Total PSA
TURP	Transurethral resection of the prostate
U6snRNA, RNU6-2	Small nuclear RNA component of U6 small nuclear
	ribonucleoprotein
uPA	Urokinase-type plasminogen activator
USF	Upstream stimulatory factor
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor

#### **CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE AUTHORS**

### Chapter II

SR, SD and JKV conceptualized the study. SR designed, standardized and performed the assays and statistical analysis. AVP and RJH acquired patient specimens and scored the H&E, *in situ* hybridization and immunohistochemistry staining. SR and RKR performed cell line authentications. SR and JKV interpreted the data.

### Chapter III

SR and JKV conceptualized the study and interpreted the results. SR designed, standardized and performed the assays and statistical analysis. SM extracted exosomes from cell culture supernatant. CO assisted with some qPCR. AH, AVH and YL collected patient serum and the associated clinicopathological variables and provided useful inputs from a clinical perspective.

### Chapter IV

SR and JKV conceptualized the study and interpreted the results. SR designed, standardized, and performed the assays and statistical analysis. TVT helped with RNA isolations and luciferase assays.

### **CHAPTER I**

### **INTRODUCTION**

#### Cancer

In simple layperson terms, cancer is just an uncontrolled and abnormal growth of cells. Though this superficially seems to be a simple issue, one that our immune system should more than easily be able to tackle, in reality it is not. Cancer, or malignancy, could lead to interruption or alteration of the regular physiological processes. The tumor could also grow and destroy healthy tissues at the primary site or in regions further away. This process of the tumor spreading is called metastasis and most of the cancer related deaths are due to the spread rather than a benign tumor, which is usually confined within a well-defined area, like the primary site of origin.

Cancer is a leading cause of death, second only to cardiovascular diseases in the United States for about two decades [1]. The yearly statistics on cancer incidence, mortality and survival, collected and compiled by various organizations, including the American Cancer Society, National Cancer Institute, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, the North American Association of Central Cancer Registries and the National Center for Health Statistics, all project a total of 1,665,540 new cancer cases and 585,720 cancer deaths to occur in the United States in 2014. Though the cancer related deaths in the past two decades has dropped by about 20%, a reflection of advances made in cancer control and prevention with enhancing awareness as well as establishing better screening techniques for some cancers, the overall number of lives lost are still high; providing a need for research in the field.

### Molecular Biology of Cancer Progression

There is increasing evidence that the process of tumor initiation is the ability of the tumor cell to accumulate genetic instabilities (due to various environmental and/or intrinsic factors) over time or rapidly, depending on the source/stimulus for the instability [2]. Apart from this, for tumor progression, the cells escape senescence and attain immortality, gain independence from growth factors for signaling and proliferation, undergo deregulated cell cycle control mechanisms, achieve anchorage independent growth abilities with altered cell adhesion mechanisms and facilitate neo-angiogenesis through a cascade of intra- and inter-cellular signaling events [3-8]. In short, cancer cells are known to acquire unique characteristics like diminished requirement of growth factors, loss of contact, and apoptosis evasion, apart from gaining the ability to invade and migrate to other regions. These are the results of various alterations occurring in the normal cells, which finally result in inappropriate gene expression, in turn leading to aberrant activation/inactivation of signaling pathways involved in normal cellular homeostasis maintenance; together facilitating cancer progression.

### Molecular Biology of Cancer Metastasis (Figure 1)

Cancer progression eventually leads to the metastasis of cancer. Metastasis is a process of spreading of cancer from its primary site of origin to the other parts of the body through the circulatory and/or the lymphatic system. The favored sites of metastasis are usually dependent on the primary tumor site. Though many studies and current therapeutic approaches have succeeded in treating localized tumors, targeting and preventing the metastatic spread is still a challenging task; making metastasis the major cause of death in many cancers.

Metastasis is multi-step process involving various independent events and the accompanying signal transduction cascades, including evasion of cell death by immune cells and



(A) Cellular transformation and immune evasion; (B) Angiogenesis and tumor cell proliferation; (C) EMT; (D) Beginning of cellular mobilization; (E) Invasion of matrix; (F) Intravasation (into circulation); (G) Immune evasion and migration; (H) Adherence to endothelial cells of vessel at secondary site; (I) Extravasation (out of circulatory system); (J) Homing in secondary site after immune evasion; (K) MET; (L) Micrometastatic nodule formation at secondary site; (M) Proliferation, angiogenesis and remodeling of the matrix in the secondary site

intracellular signaling at the primary site, during circulation and at the secondary site. The growth of the primary tumor, which precedes metastasis, is a result of both proliferation and angiogenesis. The cells re-structure themselves (morphological rearrangement; usually epithelial to mesenchymal) in order to detach from the colony and/or the extracellular matrix and invade the connective tissue. This process, called intravasation, is succeeded by the circulation of the tumor cells within the vasculature. Once the cells reach a potential secondary site, they bind to the endothelium and extravasate. Finally, the cells home (also altering their morphology again) in the secondary site, establishing the microenvironment to proliferate and form the secondary tumors, or metastatic nodules. Any cellular motility throughout the process of metastasis is referred to as migration. Thus, these steps form the hallmarks of cancer progression and metastasis [9-13].

The plasticity of tumor cells enable them to remodel their cytoskeletal structure to facilitate the process of metastasis [14]. The process of epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) is the initial step during metastatic dissemination of cells. The tumor cells which are of epithelial morphology at the primary site, morph to gain characteristics that allow easy movement. The various steps include the loss of cell-cell contact followed by cell polarity, repression of epithelial genes, actin reorganization, secretion of proteins that aid extracellular matrix cleavage, and expression of mesenchymal genes. Once the mesenchymal phenotype is achieved, the cells are attributed to become more motile. Upon reaching the secondary site, the cells possibly undergo the reverse process, mesenchymal to epithelial transition (MET) in order to form the colonies [15]. MET, though a lesser studied process, is believed to be inverse of the EMT process, and equally vital for the metastatic progression.

Invasion and migration are key events in cancer metastasis [16]. Conventionally, the cells were postulated to invade and migrate individually, an amoeboid motion which would necessarily

involve mesenchymal morphology. But recent advances clearly show that these processes are more complex and dependent on the tumor type and microenvironment. While it is believed that the lower differentiated stages favor specific migratory patterns, it is also seen that some tumors exhibit both the patterns simultaneously [17]. It is essential to recognize that though many cells may be primed and possess the potential to undergo migration and invasion, only a certain set succeed in physically moving; this could be attributed to the signaling alteration in those cells. Additionally, interaction between the tumor and microenvironment (initiated by the tumor and/or the environment), to create a path for the motion of the tumor cells, includes the processes of neovascularization/angiogenesis and disintegration of the matrix/substratum. This occurs through the secretion of angiogenic factors and proteases respectively [18, 19].

In summary, metastasis is a complex cascade. Though many approaches have been targeted against specific events, like blocking proliferation, inhibiting blood vessel formation, preventing cell polarization, impeding morphological changes, or simply targeting specific proteins involved in the progression of cancer [20-27], the success has been minimal to negligible in the clinics. This implies that a deeper understanding of these processes is still required in order to identify more efficacious targets. Also, since the success has been better with targeting localized primary tumors [1], it is of utmost importance to increase awareness and enhance screening tools and techniques to diagnose cancers at early stages, thus improving the prognosis.

#### **Prostate Cancer**

#### Statistics, Risk Factors and Diversities, Signs and Symptoms

Prostate cancer is the second leading cause of cancer related deaths among American men, next only to lung and bronchial cancers, as reported by the American Cancer Society [1]. While it is estimated that 1 in 7 men will be diagnosed with prostate cancer during their lifetime, this accounts for 27% of the new cases of incidence among men, making it the leading cancer in men. According to the American Cancer Society and National Cancer Institute estimations for 2014, the gross number of new cases of prostate cancer that will be diagnosed is 233,000 and 29,480 men will die of the disease [1]. The recent reports on the relative five-year survival for prostate cancer indicate that while almost all the local and regional cancer patients have excellent survival rates, those men that have the distant metastatic form of cancer have only a 28% survival chance [28].

The high incidence and prevalence of prostate cancer has been associated with various factors like age, family history, race and ethnicity and environmental exposures, apart from inherited genetic conditions [1, 28, 29] as reported by the prostate cancer foundation, apart from other organizations. Of these, age is the most well-established risk factor. The older the person, higher is the risk of prostate cancer; about 97% of men diagnosed with prostate cancer are over 50 years, with ~60% being over 65 years, according to prostate cancer foundation. Based on race [30], African American men not only have the highest incidence rates but are also about 2.5 times more likely to die of prostate cancer than Caucasian men. Though the reasons for this disparity is not yet clearly understood or well supported by scientific research, it is conceived that the reasons may include genetic factors and socioeconomic status (including access to care, lifestyle and nutritional habits) [28]. A third contributing risk factor that has evolved in the last decade is the relation of prostate cancer incidence to a family history of the disease [31-33]. Men who have had one or more relatives diagnosed with prostate cancer are at a higher risk for prostate cancer. This risk varies anywhere from 1.5 times to 5 times higher depending on the number of relatives diagnosed, age at diagnosis and closeness to the diagnosed relative. Finally, all cancers have some degree of genetic predisposition. In most cases, this is supported by additional events leading to the

development of cancer. In prostate cancer, though there is no evidence of any single gene mutation being a risk factor, various gene mutations, including but not limited to HPC1, HPC2, ELAC2, RNASEL, LEPR, Cytochrome 1, IL-4, ARVCF, AR, BRCA1 and BRCA2, seem to be involved [34, 35]. Though there is no strong evidence correlating the existence of these mutations to incidence of prostate cancer, there definitely is reason to believe that some of these genes are strong predictors of aggressiveness and mortality [36, 37].

Distinguishing aggressive prostate cancer from the indolent form has gained importance in the recent past and more studies are being conducted to obtain variances in risk factors between the two forms [38-41]. Apart from gene mutations, high body mass index, smoking, bad dietary habits, African American race and occupational exposures are the other factors associated with the aggressive prostate cancer. Determining these differences has become key to treating prostate cancer patients since more often than not, just active surveillance is sufficient for indolent tumors while more radical approaches may be needed when encountering aggressive prostate cancer. At an early stage, no specific symptoms are presented, making early detection highly challenging. But with the progression of the disease, the men experience discomfort and pain, trouble during urination and blood in the urine, and if there has been metastasis, severe pain in the various bones including the hips, chest and back.

#### Anatomy of the prostate and Prostatic conditions

The normal prostate is a small organ in the shape of a walnut, located in the pelvis, inferior to the bladder and surrounding the urethra. In order to understand the pathology of prostate cancer, it is essential to appreciate the anatomy and physiology of the normal prostate. An adult prostatic parenchyma can be divided in four major zones, namely, the peripheral, central, transitional and anterior fibromuscular regions [42]. The peripheral zone (encompassing posterior and lateral parts of the prostate) consisting of 70% of the glandular tissue, is most susceptible to cancer and inflammation; while the central zone comprising of 25% of the glandular tissue, is most resistant. The transitional zone, surrounding the urethra with several tiny periurethral ducts, has 5% glandular tissue and is the region where benign prostatic hyperplasia (BPH) or nodular hyperplasia originates. During the later stages of BPH, large discrete nodules which further constrict the urethra, are pathologically observed. The anterior fibromuscular zone, containing a thick and non-glandular region, is the anterior of the prostate.

BPH is a disorder (benign condition, not carcinoma) [43-45] characterized by the enlargement of prostatic glands exclusively in the transitional zones. It is common in many older men and there is no concrete evidence associating BPH to a precancerous stage. It is accepted that BPH is a condition that occurs as a result of hormonal imbalance; excessive conversion of testosterone to dihydrotestosterone, resulting in cell proliferation. Depending on the extent of discomfort and pain, BPH is either treated (non-invasive:  $\alpha$  blockers, 5 $\alpha$ -reductase inhibitors; minimally invasive: interstitial laser coagulation, microwave hyperthermia, transurethral needle ablation; surgical: transurethral incision of the prostate, transurethral resection of the prostate, simple prostatectomy, vaporize the prostate tissue) or actively monitored [46-50]. Another important prostatic condition which has no correlation to increased risk of prostate cancer is known as prostatitis [44, 45]. Prostatitis is an infection of the prostate which usually results in inflammation and elevated prostate specific antigen (PSA), without necessarily enlarging the prostate. The treatments options are the use of antiobiotics and/or surgery [51, 52].

### Pathology of prostate cancer

The precursor of prostatic adenocarcinoma is prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PIN) [53-55]. PIN, characterized by dysplasia in the epithelial lining of prostate with proliferating ducts, ductules and acini, was first introduced as a stage between hyperplasia and carcinoma. PIN is further categorized into low grade (crowded and irregularly spaced epithelial cells with pleomorphic nuclei and small nucleoli) and high grade (more crowded and heaped up epithelial cells with prominent nucleoli). While low grade PIN is very unlikely to progress to form cancer, patients exhibiting high grade PIN have a much higher risk of developing cancer in the future. The major distinction between high grade PIN and invasive carcinoma is the disruption of the basal and association of this disruption with the PIN foci. Although PIN is a precancerous stage, the PSA levels are relatively normal; thus making their detection possible only histologically. Usually, PIN is treated with selective estrogen receptor modulators, anti-androgens, angiogenic inhibitors or chemotherapy, along with increased surveillance [56].

Over 90% of the clinically diagnosed prostate cancers are acinar adenocarcinomas arising from the peripheral zone of the prostate. Enlarged hyperchromatic nucleus with prominent nucleolus, and mitotic figures are the cytological features of prostatic adenocarcinoma. The adenocarcinoma is classified based on stages and grades of the disease [57-62]. Staging a prostatic adenocarcinoma is of extreme clinical importance since this assists the physician in determining the treatment as well as estimating the prognosis. A widely accepted and used staging system is the tumor, node and metastasis (TNM) staging. Based on TNM status, as well as Gleason scores and PSA, the tumor is grouped into four broad stages. The cancer starts as a primary localized tumor in the prostate in Stage I. It cannot be identified by digital rectal exam (DRE) and is only microscopic. In Stage II, the tumor grows within the prostate but does not extend beyond the gland and by Stage III, it starts to spread to the nearby tissues like the seminal vesicles. Stage IV is the final stage in the progression and the cancer metastasizes to the farther organs and tissues. The most common metastatic sites in prostate cancer are the bone followed by the brain, lungs and lymph. The grading of prostate cancer based on the Gleason scores (2 to 10) of the histological sections relies on the most predominant pattern and the second most predominant pattern as observed by the pathologist. The two grades, 1 to 5 each, are then added to provide the Gleason score for the tumor. In general, grades 1 and 2 look very much like a normal prostate tissue and are often not classified as tumor; grade 3 exhibits single, separate, variable glands that infiltrate the benign glands, forming a cribriform pattern; grade 4 show larger nodules of cribriform and fused glands; and grade 5 appears to be sheets of tumor cells with extremely minimal differentiated (closer to normal), less likely to spread, slow growing or less aggressive tumors with little clinical significance; a score of 7 depicts moderately differentiated tumors; and 8 to 10 are poorly differentiated, aggressive tumors which may grow and spread rapidly. An additional consideration from a molecular perspective, for prostate cancer progression, is the switch from androgen (hormone) dependency to androgen independency status.

### Current Diagnosis and Treatment Strategies

Developing awareness among the population and recommending the men at and above 50 years of age to undergo DREs is the epidemiological approach to detect cancer. In addition to DRE, total PSA (tPSA) blood test is also used as a diagnostic test [63-69]. If an irregular DRE (lump or hardening of prostate) and/or elevated tPSA are detected, with or without demonstration of other symptoms or risk factors, it is the physician's call on whether a transrectal ultrasound should be performed to obtain the size and density of prostate [63, 70-72]. Usually a biopsy is also performed simultaneously to examine the tissue microscopically. Presence of denser masses and Gleason scores  $\geq 6$  are often strong indicators of cancer. On the contrary, if the biopsy is negative, a repeat biopsy is suggested when PSA increases by about 25%.

In many cases, though just an active surveillance of the prostate cancer patients is rational (primarily depending on the age at diagnosis), in others, a combination of surgical procedures (radical prostatectomy, transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP), orchidectomy, percutaneous nephrostomy, robotic-assisted prostatectomy), radiotherapy (external beam, brachytherapy, or palliative), chemotherapy (Docetaxel, Cabazitaxel, Mitoxantrone, Estramustine, Doxorubicin, Etoposide, Vinblastine, Paclitaxel, Carboplatin, Vinorelbine), hormone therapies (luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone analogs and antagonists, anti-androgens, steroids) and biological therapies like cryosurgery and vaporization are used, to treat the localized tumor [73-82]. The treatment options for metastasized disease are more limited and include pain management along with some of the aforementioned therapies, personalized vaccine therapies (Provenge) and/or slowing osteoclastogenesis (Bisphosphonates, Denosumab) if metastasized to the bone [83-89].

#### Clinical Challenges in Diagnosis

Though PSA and DRE have served very well in the past as diagnostic tools for prostate cancer, a recent report by the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force stated "the potential benefits of the tPSA based screening does not necessarily outweigh the harms caused, especially the complications and the side effects of the repeated needle biopsies upon irregular DRE and tPSA levels" in asymptotic men [82, 90]. Additionally, many people have inherently high levels of tPSA and an enlarged prostate, resulting in extensive over-diagnosis and treatments causing not only psychological stress (fear of having cancer, a false positive) but also secondary infections related to biopsies. Also, the tPSA test lacks robustness because of its poor specificity and questionable overall survival benefit. However, though it is conceived that higher PSA values indicate higher risk of prostate cancer, the cancer can also be found at low levels of PSA and hence those cancers

that are aggressive could be missed in the screening process. The more recent PCA3 test [91-94], which measures PCA3 levels in the urine after a DRE, has led to an improved accuracy in diagnosing prostate cancer at the cost of a decrease in sensitivity and specificity compared to PSA. This test also fails to predict the requirement of repeat needle biopsies, the fate of the disease progression or the short-term or long-term outcomes (including distinction between indolent and aggressive disease). Thus, there is a critical need for identifying new biomarkers which will have an improved diagnostic and predictive value, in combination with the existing tests, for detection and monitoring the progression of prostate cancer.

#### Novel candidate biomarkers for prostate cancer

Advancements in the fields of genomics and proteomics through improved methodologies like deep sequencing, microarrays, immunostaining and high throughput assays, have paved the way for biomarker discovery [95, 96]. Many potential biomarkers that have been identified include, but are not limited to, a-Methylacyl Coenzyme A Racemase, Chromogranin A, Prostatespecific Membrane Antigen, B7-H3, Sarcosine, Caveolin-1, TMPRSS2-ERG gene fusion rearrangement, DAB2 interacting protein, and DNA, RNA, miRNA and metabolites secreted in urine after DRE [97]. Given that none of these aforementioned markers have yet reached the clinics, it seems that they are either still in validation stages or failed clinical validation. Even if these molecules do not make it to the clinics as biomarkers in future, the studies would unequivocally increase our knowledge of prostate cancer biology, and hence provide insights into development of better targeting strategies [98]. Taken together, there is still a need for identification and development of biomarkers for both early detection as well as differentiation of indolent from aggressive prostate cancer.

### **Gene Regulation**

Gene regulation, an integral process in maintenance of disease-free state, is carried out at multiple interrelated and yet broadly distinct levels, in order to maintain homeostasis [99-101]. Altered gene regulatory patterns are involved in a broad spectrum of outcomes and could even potentially hold a diagnostic and/or therapeutic value, when properly understood. A classic example of this is the association of genetic risk factors with certain cancers. Understanding the mutations, amplifications, or loss or gain-of function of specific genes not only assist in cancer diagnosis and treatment but also serve as predictors of incidence, responses to therapy, and overall patient survival. In order to better understand the importance of gene regulation it is vital to appreciate the complexity of the processes that usually play a major role in one or many levels of regulation, thus keeping a check on the biological pathways and the ultimate fate of the cell, tissue and organ.

#### Mechanisms and their Overall Significance in Maintaining Cancer-free state

From a global perspective, the read outs of alterations in nucleic acids and/or proteins will determine the degree by which the cells/tissues are deviant from the normal state. The disrupted gene regulatory mechanisms include variations at the chromosomal level (DNA mutations, copy number variations, chromosomal translocations), transcriptional level (promoter accessibility, transcription factor binding), post-transcriptional level (RNA stability, alternate splicing), translational level (protein isoforms, protein-protein, protein-RNA and protein-DNA interactions), post-translational level (protein modifications, stability, localization), and epigenetic level (histone and DNA modifications) to name a few. Apart from these, the environmental factors (exosomal/endosomal shuttling from adjacent cells and tissues, autocrine and paracrine signaling, physical and mechanical stimulus) can also attribute to exhibition of gene regulation [102-107].

Together, it is sufficient to state that though these regulations may seem unrelated and independent (even inherited or just a circumstantial response), there is elaborate cross talk between them; more often, trying to bring the cell back to "normalcy". Hence, the cascade ensued, right from the initial point of variation, is critical in deciding the state of the cell - disease or normal.

Among the various events that are known to control gene expression, protein localization, stabilization/destabilization and interactions, have been widely used in the field of medicine, for both diagnosis and treatment. In the recent past, with the advent of whole genome analysis, global epidemiological studies and discovery of new classes of biological molecules, the possibilities of exploiting the post-transcriptional (microRNAs) and epigenetic (DNA methylation) regulations in the fields of prediction and/or detection of disease, along with provision of therapeutic interventions, have broadened.

#### Post-transcriptional Regulation: MicroRNA (Figure 2)

Studies conducted over the last two decades have established a new role for a class of noncoding RNAs called microRNAs (miRNAs) in the regulation of genes at the post-transcriptional level. Though the very first report of the involvement of a small RNA (22 and 61 nucleotides long) in regulating an mRNA by binding to its 3' untranslated region (3'UTR) was published in 1993, the term microRNA was only coined in 2001, when expression of multiple tiny RNAs were reported. The seminal studies conducted in the early 2000s demonstrated not only the presence but also the ability of the miRNAs to regulate the translation and/or stability of mRNAs [108-112]. Ever since, extensive genome-wide and targeted studies have been conducted to not only determine the conservation and mechanism of biogenesis of new miRNAs but also validate their roles in basic biology as well as medicine.

The endogenous miRNAs regulate gene expression by transcriptional repression or degradation of target mRNA based on the extent of complementarity with the untranslated regions (UTRs) and cellular context. The miRNAs are processed, after transcription, through the class II riboendonuclease III enzymes, Drosha and Dicer (with their binding partners, DGCR8 and TRBP, respectively) and the nuclear export protein, Exportin 5 to finally attain their mature form of 18 to 24 nucleotides [113-118]. Based on the proximity of one miRNA to another, many miRNAs could also be transcribed from the same pri-miRNA transcript [119]. Studies reveal that the only prerequisite for a miRNA-mRNA interaction is the absolute complementarity of the seed sequence of the miRNA (1 to 7 or 2 to 8 nucleotides from the 5' end of the miRNA sequence) to the mRNA. A recent study revealed that the miRNA targeting may be classified as non-canonical (lesser target downregulation) and canonical (higher target downregulation); which in turn is dependent on low or high GC content in the seed sequence, respectively [120]. Given that the miRNA sequence does not have to be a 100% complementary to the target mRNA, one miRNA could regulate multiple transcripts and many miRNAs could regulate one transcript. This has also led to the concept of competing endogenous mRNAs (ceRNAs) as miRNA sequesters rather than targets [121]. Although miRNAs were initially associated with the developmental genes, their importance in other aspects of cellular physiology and pathology have been identified over the years.

Studies demonstrating the involvement of miRNA in cancer were conducted not long after their initial discovery [122]. The role of miRNAs in oncogenesis and tumor suppression, either by down-regulating pro-apoptotic or anti-apoptotic genes, led to their classification as oncomiRs or tumor suppressor miRNAs [113, 123-126]. MicroRNA profiling has shown their extensive deregulations in various cancers and the possibility of using these deregulated miRNA signatures in detection of primary tumors in cancers of unknown primary [124, 125, 127-142]. Among all



cancers, prostate cancer has highly deregulated microRNA expression profiles. Literature review shows that microRNAs could be very useful targets or therapeutic agents depending on their endogenous role in tumor suppression or tumorigenesis. Hence, identifying the particular miRNA(s) regulating a gene differentially between normal and cancerous cells will provide a new dimension in treatment strategy development. Also, a clinical correlation between the miRNA(s) identified and the grade and stage of cancer may provide better patient prognosis. Additionally, recent studies have revealed that miRNAs could be secreted out of the cells under various conditions, in free form or in exosomes or bound to other lipids/proteins. These are also more stable than other nucleic acids in the serum. Alterations (either increase or decrease, depending on their status in normal individuals) in circulating miRNAs have a high potential to be used as serum based, non-invasive biomarkers for cancer. Once validated, such detection tests will have tremendous power in prostate cancer diagnosis, subsequently limiting the need for biopsies and hence the associated complications. Also, such tests may enable clinicians to detect and start treating certain potentially aggressive cancers they would have otherwise missed based on biopsies (because biopsies are only samples taken from specific areas of the prostate), at an earlier stage; thus preventing metastasis, the major cause of prostate cancer related deaths.

### Epigenetic Regulation: DNA Methylation (Figure 3)

Epigenetic regulations are heritable alterations that occur independent of changes in the genetic material (specifically DNA sequences). It is well known that every cell in the body contains the exact same genetic material, yet only a particular set of genes are "turned-on" at any given time and/or in any specific cell. DNA methylation is a common epigenetic regulatory mechanism that controls such gene expression patterns, thereby keeping the other genes in a "turned-off" or repressed state.

DNA methylation was first discovered as a regulatory tool in 1979. Over the following two decades, this concept was better understood with the use of methylation inhibitors 5-azacytidine, and its deoxy version, 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine [143-145]. DNA methylation is a process where in there is transfer of a methyl group, by DNA methyltransferases (DNMTs), onto the C5 position of the cytosine, to form 5-methylcytosine. The DNMTs are classified as de novo or maintenance DNMTs based on their role in methylation. While the de novo DNMTs are responsible for the initial transfer of the methyl group to a cytosine residue, the maintenance DNMTs ensure proper copying of this modification in the new strand after DNA replication. Usually, the altered cytosine residue is followed by a guanine (CpG), thus exhibiting two diagonally methylated residues on the double stranded DNA. It has been demonstrated that the CpG residues are distributed in a nonrandom fashion across the mammalian genome and about 70% of these CpGs are methylated; however, it has also been seen that these residues cluster (termed as CpG islands) in the promoter regions of some genes making these regions CpG-rich and hence inaccessible for transcriptional activation [146-151]. There are two mechanisms by which DNA methylation represses transcription; inhibition of DNA-binding proteins (transcription factors) to their respective responsive elements (DNA sequences) by methylating residues within the binding site, and binding of methyl-CpG proteins to methylated DNA in a non-sequence specific manner, thus competing with transcription factors or restructuring the DNA to the tightly-coiled "closed" chromatin structure. Depending on the region, one or both the mechanisms may ensue.

Given the critical role of DNA methylation in gene regulation, it is not inconceivable that errors in this mechanism would result in a diseased state. Cancer is one of the most common and highly studied consequences of erroneous DNA methylation [152]. Two general phenomena by which DNA methylation could be altered have been postulated [144]. Though more emphasis has



(A) Transcription of a gene with unmethylated promoter; (B) DNMTs methylate the cytosine residues with the help of certain scaffold proteins (DNMT3a and 3b during de novo methylation and DNMT1 during maintenance methylation); (C) Methylated promoter can result in transcriptional repression of the gene by one of the two methods: Inhibition of transcription factor binding (Left) or Facilitation of closed chromatin structure (Right)

been given to hypermethylation in cancer progression, recent genome wide studies show that hypomethylation holds as much importance in carcinogenesis [151, 153-158]. In general, global hypomethylation along with promoter specific hypermethylation has been observed in many cancers. The hypomethylation is associated with repetitive sequences and contributes to genomic instability and cellular transformation. On the other hand, the promoters that are hypermethylated usually correspond to tumor suppressor genes, thus leading to their repression in cancer. The other hypermethylated promoters studied are the ones involved in transcriptional activation of genes in the processes of DNA repair mechanisms, cell cycle progression, apoptosis, drug resistance and additional pathways which if active may prevent cancer progression and metastasis. Despite this general observation of methylation patterns in cancer, there is evidence supporting the hypomethylation of promoter regions of some genes, like proto-oncogenes and other genes that can promote tumor invasion and metastasis. Interestingly, in some cases, a more intricate repression of transcription is observed when DNA methylation promotes the neighboring histone deacetylation. In certain cancers like colorectal carcinomas, promoter hypermethylation could even serve as an early biomarker. In others, methylation abnormalities could act as drivers for progression [159-161]. Considering the growing importance of methylation patterns in cancer detection and treatment, extensive research has been and is being conducted to establish the methylome and epigenome for various cancers. Recent advances also implicate the role of DNA methylation in the regulation of noncoding RNAs such as microRNAs [162]. In light of identification of new genes and other regulatory elements in cancer progression, it is important to determine the alteration in methylation status of their promoters between the normal and cancer cells and tissues. Though global DNA methylation inhibitors may provide short-term anti-cancer

effects, their use and effectiveness in cancer therapy have to be considered with utmost caution, given the contradicting effects of methylation in cancer progression [153, 163, 164].

#### Gene of Interest: Migration and Invasion Enhancer 1 (MIEN1)

Migration and Invasion Enhancer gene 1 (MIEN1), alternately called C17orf37 or C35/MGC14832/ORB3/RDX12/XTP4, is a novel gene located next to Her-2/*neu* on the 17q12-21 region of the human chromosome in a tail-to-tail arrangement [165, 166]. Among other genes that are co-amplified with Her-2/*neu*, though MIEN1 shows the highest degree of positive correlation in amplification, MIEN1 is also independently expressed in metastatic prostate cancer in cases where Her-2 expression is lacking [166]. MIEN1 is expressed at higher levels in the various stages and grades of prostate cancer phenotypes, when compared to normal cells and tissues [165]. MIEN1 is also differentially expressed in breast cancer (undetectable in 38 different normal tissues except in the Leydig cells and is highly expressed when breast cancer metastasizes to the lungs and liver) and this predominant expression has led to MIEN1 being predicted as a novel breast cancer biomarker [166].

The 4 exons of the 776 nucleotide-long *MIEN1* transcribes into a 115 amino acid protein with a molecular weight of 12kDa. *MIEN1* is 505 nucleotides away from the 3' end of HER-2/*neu* oncogene in a tail-to-tail chromosomal rearrangement, on the negative strand. MIEN1 is the only known protein to possess both a prenylation and an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM), in solid tumors [167, 168]. Covalent addition of a 15-carbon farnesyl or a 20-carbon geranylgeranyl isoprenoid to a conserved cysteine residue of a "CaaX" motif containing protein by the respective prenyltransferases is classified as prenylation of the protein. Apart from preferentially promoting membrane interactions, the modified proteins also play a role in

prenvlation based protein-protein interactions [169]. The importance of prenvlation is determined by the nature of prenyltransferase substrates; in cancer specifically, the proteins that are prenylated seem to play a role in growth, differentiation, actin cytoskeletal rearrangement, cell adhesion, vesicular trafficking and signal transduction, to name a few [170]. Though targeting prenylation using inhibitors was an attractive option to prevent cancer progression, the clinical trials on bisphosphonates and prenylation inhibitors have had limited success, in part, because of a lack of information on the complexity and the extent of molecular targets (proteins) that are impacted by it, and in part by poor patient selection, thus making this approach less prudent [171]. The ITAM domain, YxxL/Ix(6-8)YxxL/I, is a conserved sequence commonly seen in cytoplasmic tail of cell surface receptor proteins in the hematopoietic cells. Ligand binding immediately phosphorylates the receptors at the tyrosine residues in their ITAM domain, thus providing a binding site for Src homology 2 containing proteins [172]. The signal transduction cascade is dependent on the molecules associated with the phosphorylated ITAMs and together they regulate the migration and invasion of the cells. Additionally, ITAM containing receptors also facilitate osteoclastogenesis [173]. It is well known that prostate cancer mediates osteoclastogenesis via receptor activator of NF-κB ligand [174]. Since MIEN1 contains the ITAM domain, it is not far-fetched to believe that MIEN1 may be an adaptor molecule facilitating osteoclastogenesis in prostate cancer.

MIEN1 is localized to the inner leaflet of the plasma membrane after its prenylation, where it aids in filopodia formation, resulting in enhanced migration of the cells [167]. MIEN1 also promotes the migration and invasion of prostate cancer cells through up-regulation of Akt dependent NF-κB downstream target genes like uPA, MMP-9 and VEGF [165]. Using a xenograft mouse model, MIEN1 overexpression was shown to increase the metastatic potential of DU-145 cells [167]. Recent confirmation of the solution structure of MIEN1 predicts that Akt
phosphorylation via MIEN1 may be dependent on the active redox-like motif in the MIEN1 structure [175]. In breast cancer cells, MIEN1 is predicted to be an oncogene that promotes breast cancer progression by inducing EMT-mediated invasion and cellular transformation [166, 168]. The knockdown of MIEN1 induced apoptosis in breast cancer cells while its high expression is correlated to poor survival [176]. A more recent study in ovarian cancer implicated the role of MIEN1, along with  $\Delta$ Np73, in ovarian cancer progression and cisplatin resistance [177].

# **Objectives of this study**

# Hypothesis and Specific Aims

Prostate Cancer is the second leading cause of cancer related death among men in the United States. Death is mostly the result of our current lacuna in diagnosing the disease at an earlier stage, thus leading to metastasis. The diagnostic tests using serum PSA and biopsies have their own disadvantages despite their current use in clinics. This has led to new biomarker discoveries, with limited success. MIEN1, a novel gene coded in the 17q12 region of the human chromosome, is known to be over-expressed in many cancers including prostate, with minimal to no expression in the normal cells and tissues, making it a plausible effective target. MIEN1 has been linked to migration and invasion, hence it is important in cancer progression (Figure 4). Despite having a clear understanding of the functional roles of MIEN1 in cancer, reasons for the aberrant expression between cancer and normal cells and tissues are still unknown. Understanding the mechanisms of the gene regulation and the regulators involved will be of importance in order to use them as potential therapeutic agent(s)/diagnostic markers for diagnosing and treating prostate cancer.

In this study, we have identified two molecular mechanisms that are deregulated with respect to MIEN1, leading to its aberrant overexpression in prostate cancer. Additionally, we have



attempted to validate one of the regulators as a non-invasive biomarker for prostate cancer. The **central hypothesis** is that *the increased expression of MIEN1 in prostate cancer is the result of lower miR-940 levels and DNA hypomethylation in MIEN1 promoter in the cells and the secreted miR-940 in the serum by the cancer cells could be a diagnostic indicator of prostate cancer*. Based on this, we have three specific aims (Figure 5):

*Specific Aim 1:* MicroRNA-940 suppresses prostate cancer migration and invasion by regulating MIEN1

*Hypothesis:* MIEN1 is under post-transcriptional regulation by miR-940.

*Specific Aim 2:* MicroRNA-940 in serum could be a potential biomarker for prostate cancer detection

Hypothesis: Secretion of miR-940 is higher by cancer cells than normal cells.

*Specific Aim 3:* DNA hypomethylation of MIEN1 promoter leads to transcriptional derepression of MIEN1 in prostate cancer

Hypothesis: MIEN1 is transcriptionally repressed by DNA methylation.



# References

1. Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z, Jemal A: Cancer statistics, 2014. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 2014, 64(1):9-29.

 Michor F, Iwasa Y, Nowak MA: Dynamics of cancer progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2004, 4(3):197-205.

3. Bindra RS, Glazer PM: Genetic instability and the tumor microenvironment: towards the concept of microenvironment-induced mutagenesis. Mutat Res 2005, 569(1-2):75-85.

4. Evan GI, Vousden KH: Proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis in cancer. Nature 2001, 411(6835):342-348.

5. Mathon NF, Lloyd AC: Cell senescence and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2001, 1(3):203-213.

6. Okegawa T, Pong RC, Li Y, Hsieh JT: The role of cell adhesion molecule in cancer progression and its application in cancer therapy. Acta Biochim Pol 2004, 51(2):445-457.

7. Guadamillas MC, Cerezo A, Del Pozo MA: Overcoming anoikis--pathways to anchorageindependent growth in cancer. J Cell Sci 2011, 124(Pt 19):3189-3197.

 8. Sharma S, Sharma MC, Sarkar C: Morphology of angiogenesis in human cancer: a conceptual overview, histoprognostic perspective and significance of neoangiogenesis. Histopathology 2005, 46(5):481-489.

9. Fidler IJ: The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: the 'seed and soil' hypothesis revisited. Nat Rev Cancer 2003, 3(6):453-458.

10. Nguyen DX, Bos PD, Massague J: Metastasis: from dissemination to organ-specific colonization. Nat Rev Cancer 2009, 9(4):274-284.

11. Reymond N, d'Agua BB, Ridley AJ: Crossing the endothelial barrier during metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer 2013, 13(12):858-870.

12. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA: Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011, 144(5):646-674.

Valastyan S, Weinberg RA: Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms.
 Cell 2011, 147(2):275-292.

14. Boyer B, Valles AM, Edme N: Induction and regulation of epithelial-mesenchymal transitions.Biochem Pharmacol 2000, 60(8):1091-1099.

Lamouille S, Xu J, Derynck R: Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition.
 Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2014, 15(3):178-196.

16. Friedl P, Wolf K: Tumour-cell invasion and migration: diversity and escape mechanisms. Nat Rev Cancer 2003, 3(5):362-374.

17. Bozzuto G, Ruggieri P, Molinari A: Molecular aspects of tumor cell migration and invasion.Ann Ist Super Sanita 2010, 46(1):66-80.

18. Geho DH, Bandle RW, Clair T, Liotta LA: Physiological mechanisms of tumor-cell invasion and migration. Physiology (Bethesda) 2005, 20:194-200.

19. Friedl P, Gilmour D: Collective cell migration in morphogenesis, regeneration and cancer. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2009, 10(7):445-457.

20. Schulze A, Harris AL: How cancer metabolism is tuned for proliferation and vulnerable to disruption. Nature 2012, 491(7424):364-373.

21. Zhang S, Yu D: Targeting Src family kinases in anti-cancer therapies: turning promise into triumph. Trends Pharmacol Sci 2012, 33(3):122-128.

22. Wan L, Pantel K, Kang Y: Tumor metastasis: moving new biological insights into the clinic. Nat Med 2013, 19(11):1450-1464.

23. Singh A, Settleman J: EMT, cancer stem cells and drug resistance: an emerging axis of evil in the war on cancer. Oncogene 2010, 29(34):4741-4751.

24. Sitohy B, Nagy JA, Dvorak HF: Anti-VEGF/VEGFR therapy for cancer: reassessing the target. Cancer Res 2012, 72(8):1909-1914.

25. Chan KS, Koh CG, Li HY: Mitosis-targeted anti-cancer therapies: where they stand. Cell Death Dis 2012, 3:e411.

26. Ellis LM, Hicklin DJ: VEGF-targeted therapy: mechanisms of anti-tumour activity. Nat Rev Cancer 2008, 8(8):579-591.

27. Pearson MA, Fabbro D: Targeting protein kinases in cancer therapy: a success? Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2004, 4(6):1113-1124.

28. http://seer.cancer.gov/csr/1975\_2011/

29. Pienta KJ, Esper PS: Risk factors for prostate cancer. Ann Intern Med 1993, 118(10):793-803.

30. Bunker CH, Patrick AL, Konety BR, Dhir R, Brufsky AM, Vivas CA, Becich MJ, Trump DL, Kuller LH: High prevalence of screening-detected prostate cancer among Afro-Caribbeans: the Tobago Prostate Cancer Survey. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2002, 11(8):726-729.

31. Whittemore AS, Wu AH, Kolonel LN, John EM, Gallagher RP, Howe GR, West DW, Teh CZ, Stamey T: Family history and prostate cancer risk in black, white, and Asian men in the United States and Canada. Am J Epidemiol 1995, 141(8):732-740.

32. Brandt A, Bermejo JL, Sundquist J, Hemminki K: Age-specific risk of incident prostate cancer and risk of death from prostate cancer defined by the number of affected family members. Eur Urol 2010, 58(2):275-280.

33. Kicinski M, Vangronsveld J, Nawrot TS: An epidemiological reappraisal of the familial aggregation of prostate cancer: a meta-analysis. PLoS One 2011, 6(10):e27130.

34. Gu M, Dong X, Zhang X, Niu W: The CAG repeat polymorphism of androgen receptor gene and prostate cancer: a meta-analysis. Mol Biol Rep 2012, 39(3):2615-2624.

35. Agalliu I, Karlins E, Kwon EM, Iwasaki LM, Diamond A, Ostrander EA, Stanford JL: Rare germline mutations in the BRCA2 gene are associated with early-onset prostate cancer. Br J Cancer 2007, 97(6):826-831.

36. Little J, Wilson B, Carter R, Walker K, Santaguida P, Tomiak E, Beyene J, Raina P: Multigene panels in prostate cancer risk assessment. Evid Rep Technol Assess (Full Rep) 2012, (209)(209):1-166.

37. Frank SB, Miranti CK: Disruption of prostate epithelial differentiation pathways and prostate cancer development. Front Oncol 2013, 3:273.

38. Irshad S, Bansal M, Castillo-Martin M, Zheng T, Aytes A, Wenske S, Le Magnen C, Guarnieri P, Sumazin P, Benson MC, Shen MM, Califano A, Abate-Shen C: A molecular signature predictive of indolent prostate cancer. Sci Transl Med 2013, 5(202):202ra122.

39. Culig Z: Distinguishing indolent from aggressive prostate cancer. Recent Results Cancer Res 2014, 202:141-147.

40. Jin R, Yi Y, Yull FE, Blackwell TS, Clark PE, Koyama T, Smith JA,Jr, Matusik RJ: NF-kappaB gene signature predicts prostate cancer progression. Cancer Res 2014, 74(10):2763-2772.
41. Wiklund F: Prostate cancer genomics: can we distinguish between indolent and fatal disease using genetic markers? Genome Med 2010, 2(7):45.

42. McNeal JE: The zonal anatomy of the prostate. Prostate 1981, 2(1):35-49.

43. Nickel JC: Inflammation and benign prostatic hyperplasia. Urol Clin North Am 2008, 35(1):109-15; vii.

44. Hasui Y, Marutsuka K, Asada Y, Ide H, Nishi S, Osada Y: Relationship between serum prostate specific antigen and histological prostatitis in patients with benign prostatic hyperplasia. Prostate 1994, 25(2):91-96.

45. Collins MM, Stafford RS, O'Leary MP, Barry MJ: Distinguishing chronic prostatitis and benign prostatic hyperplasia symptoms: results of a national survey of physician visits. Urology 1999, 53(5):921-925.

46. Traish AM, Mulgaonkar A, Giordano N: The dark side of 5alpha-reductase inhibitors' therapy: sexual dysfunction, high Gleason grade prostate cancer and depression. Korean J Urol 2014, 55(6):367-379.

47. Larcher A, Broglia L, Lughezzani G, Mistretta F, Abrate A, Lista G, Fossati N, Sangalli M, Kuefner D, Cestari A, Buffi N, Lazzeri M, Guazzoni G, Montorsi F: Urethral lift for benign prostatic hyperplasia: a comprehensive review of the literature. Curr Urol Rep 2013, 14(6):620-627.

48. Wu C, Kapoor A: Dutasteride for the treatment of benign prostatic hyperplasia. Expert Opin Pharmacother 2013, 14(10):1399-1408.

49. Kumar R, Malla P, Kumar M: Advances in the design and discovery of drugs for the treatment of prostatic hyperplasia. Expert Opin Drug Discov 2013, 8(8):1013-1027.

50. Pinheiro LC, Martins Pisco J: Treatment of benign prostatic hyperplasia. Tech Vasc Interv Radiol 2012, 15(4):256-260.

51. Pontari M, Giusto L: New developments in the diagnosis and treatment of chronic prostatitis/chronic pelvic pain syndrome. Curr Opin Urol 2013, 23(6):565-569.

52. Perletti G, Marras E, Wagenlehner FM, Magri V: Antimicrobial therapy for chronic bacterial prostatitis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013, 8:CD009071.

53. Bostwick DG, Brawer MK: Prostatic intra-epithelial neoplasia and early invasion in prostate cancer. Cancer 1987, 59(4):788-794.

54. Berman DM, Epstein JI: When is prostate cancer really cancer? Urol Clin North Am 2014, 41(2):339-346.

55. Brawer MK: Prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia: an overview. Rev Urol 2005, 7 Suppl 3:S11-8.

56. Taneja SS: Drug therapies for eradicating high-grade prostatic intraepithelial neoplasia in the prevention of prostate cancer. Rev Urol 2005, 7 Suppl 3:S19-29.

57. Epstein JI: An update of the Gleason grading system. J Urol 2010, 183(2):433-440.

58. Lotan TL, Epstein JI: Clinical implications of changing definitions within the Gleason grading system. Nat Rev Urol 2010, 7(3):136-142.

59. Lotan TL, Epstein JI: Gleason grading of prostatic adenocarcinoma with glomeruloid features on needle biopsy. Hum Pathol 2009, 40(4):471-477.

60. Al-Hussain TO, Nagar MS, Epstein JI: Gleason pattern 5 is frequently underdiagnosed on prostate needle-core biopsy. Urology 2012, 79(1):178-181.

61. Fine SW, Amin MB, Berney DM, Bjartell A, Egevad L, Epstein JI, Humphrey PA, Magi-Galluzzi C, Montironi R, Stief C: A contemporary update on pathology reporting for prostate cancer: biopsy and radical prostatectomy specimens. Eur Urol 2012, 62(1):20-39.

62. Mohler J, Bahnson RR, Boston B, Busby JE, D'Amico A, Eastham JA, Enke CA, George D, Horwitz EM, Huben RP, Kantoff P, Kawachi M, Kuettel M, Lange PH, Macvicar G, Plimack ER, Pow-Sang JM, Roach M,3rd, Rohren E, Roth BJ, Shrieve DC, Smith MR, Srinivas S, Twardowski P, Walsh PC: NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology: prostate cancer. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2010, 8(2):162-200. 63. Hjertholm P, Fenger-Gron M, Vestergaard M, Christensen MB, Borre M, Moller H, Vedsted P: Variation in general practice prostate-specific antigen testing and prostate cancer outcomes: An ecological study. Int J Cancer 2014.

64. Bryant RJ, Lilja H: Emerging PSA-based tests to improve screening. Urol Clin North Am 2014, 41(2):267-276.

65. Carter HB, Albertsen PC, Barry MJ, Etzioni R, Freedland SJ, Greene KL, Holmberg L, Kantoff P, Konety BR, Murad MH, Penson DF, Zietman AL: Early detection of prostate cancer: AUA Guideline. J Urol 2013, 190(2):419-426.

66. Ilic D, Neuberger MM, Djulbegovic M, Dahm P: Screening for prostate cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2013, 1:CD004720.

67. Miele ME: Percent free PSA as an additional measure in a prostate cancer screen. Clin Lab Sci 2001, 14(2):102-107.

68. Moran WP, Cohen SJ, Preisser JS, Wofford JL, Shelton BJ, McClatchey MW: Factors influencing use of the prostate-specific antigen screening test in primary care. Am J Manag Care 2000, 6(3):315-324.

69. Hoogendam A, Buntinx F, de Vet HC: The diagnostic value of digital rectal examination in primary care screening for prostate cancer: a meta-analysis. Fam Pract 1999, 16(6):621-626.

70. Brawer MK: The diagnosis of prostatic carcinoma. Cancer 1993, 71(3 Suppl):899-905.

71. Pinthus JH, Pacik D, Ramon J: Diagnosis of prostate cancer. Recent Results Cancer Res 2007, 175:83-99.

72. Zigeuner R, Schips L, Lipsky K, Auprich M, Salfellner M, Rehak P, Pummer K, Hubmer G: Detection of prostate cancer by TURP or open surgery in patients with previously negative transrectal prostate biopsies. Urology 2003, 62(5):883-887.

73. Bozzini G, Colin P, Nevoux P, Villers A, Mordon S, Betrouni N: Focal therapy of prostate cancer: energies and procedures. Urol Oncol 2013, 31(2):155-167.

74. Rocco B, Cozzi G, Spinelli MG, Grasso A, Varisco D, Coelho RF, Patel VR: Current status of salvage robot-assisted laparoscopic prostatectomy for radiorecurrent prostate cancer. Curr Urol Rep 2012, 13(3):195-201.

75. Nguyen HD, Allen BJ, Pow-Sang JM: Focal cryotherapy in the treatment of localized prostate cancer. Cancer Control 2013, 20(3):177-180.

76. Kasivisvanathan V, Emberton M, Ahmed HU: Focal therapy for prostate cancer: rationale and treatment opportunities. Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol) 2013, 25(8):461-473.

77. Sommer G, Bouley D, Gill H, Daniel B, Pauly KB, Diederich C: Focal ablation of prostate cancer: four roles for magnetic resonance imaging guidance. Can J Urol 2013, 20(2):6672-6681.

Porres D, Pfister D, Heidenreich A: Minimally invasive treatment for localized prostate cancer.
 Minerva Urol Nefrol 2012, 64(4):245-253.

79. Marcus DM, Canter DJ, Jani AB, Dobbs RW, Schuster DM, Carthon BC, Rossi PJ: Salvage therapy for locally recurrent prostate cancer after radiation. Can J Urol 2012, 19(6):6534-6541.

80. Hu JC, Lin DW: Current status of focal primary therapy for prostate cancer. Urol Oncol 2012, 30(6):942-943.

81. Kirby R: Optimising the management of early prostate cancer. Practitioner 2014, 258(1770):15-8, 2.

82. Knight SJ: Decision making and prostate cancer screening. Urol Clin North Am 2014, 41(2):257-266.

83. Wolff JM, Mason M: Drivers for change in the management of prostate cancer - guidelines and new treatment techniques. BJU Int 2012, 109 Suppl 6:33-41.

84. Boyer MJ, Salama JK, Lee WR: Palliative radiotherapy for prostate cancer. Oncology (Williston Park) 2014, 28(4):306-312.

85. Deng X, He G, Liu J, Luo F, Peng X, Tang S, Gao Z, Lin Q, Keller JM, Yang T, Keller ET: Recent advances in bone-targeted therapies of metastatic prostate cancer. Cancer Treat Rev 2014, 40(6):730-738.

86. Mooney D, Paluri R, Mehta A, Goyal J, Sonpavde G: Update in systemic therapy of urologic malignancies. Postgrad Med 2014, 126(1):44-54.

87. Porfyris O, Kalomoiris P: Current role of immunotherapy for the treatment of prostate cancer.J BUON 2013, 18(4):809-817.

88. Snoeks LL, Ogilvie AC, van Haarst EP, Siegert CE: New treatment options for patients with metastatic prostate cancer. Neth J Med 2013, 71(6):290-294.

Madan RA, Arlen PM: Recent advances revolutionize treatment of metastatic prostate cancer.
 Future Oncol 2013, 9(8):1133-1144.

90. Hayes JH, Barry MJ: Screening for prostate cancer with the prostate-specific antigen test: a review of current evidence. JAMA 2014, 311(11):1143-1149.

91. Bradley LA, Palomaki GE, Gutman S, Samson D, Aronson N: Comparative effectiveness review: prostate cancer antigen 3 testing for the diagnosis and management of prostate cancer. J Urol 2013, 190(2):389-398.

92. Busetto GM, De Berardinis E, Sciarra A, Panebianco V, Giovannone R, Rosato S, D'Errigo P, Di Silverio F, Gentile V, Salciccia S: Prostate Cancer Gene 3 and Multiparametric Magnetic Resonance Can Reduce Unnecessary Biopsies: Decision Curve Analysis to Evaluate Predictive Models. Urology 2013.

93. Capoluongo E, Zambon CF, Basso D, Boccia S, Rocchetti S, Leoncini E, Palumbo S, Padoan A, Albino G, Todaro A, Prayer-Galetti T, Zattoni F, Zuppi C, Plebani M: PCA3 score of 20 could improve prostate cancer detection: Results obtained on 734 Italian individuals. Clin Chim Acta 2013.

94. Evaluation of Genomic Applications in Practice and Prevention (EGAPP) Working Group\*: Recommendations from the EGAPP Working Group: does PCA3 testing for the diagnosis and management of prostate cancer improve patient health outcomes? Genet Med 2013.

95. Romero Otero J, Garcia Gomez B, Campos Juanatey F, Touijer KA: Prostate cancer biomarkers: an update. Urol Oncol 2014, 32(3):252-260.

96. Madu CO, Lu Y: Novel diagnostic biomarkers for prostate cancer. J Cancer 2010, 1:150-177.

97. Rigau M, Olivan M, Garcia M, Sequeiros T, Montes M, Colas E, Llaurado M, Planas J, Torres

I, Morote J, Cooper C, Reventos J, Clark J, Doll A: The present and future of prostate cancer urine biomarkers. Int J Mol Sci 2013, 14(6):12620-12649.

98. Detchokul S, Frauman AG: Recent developments in prostate cancer biomarker research: therapeutic implications. Br J Clin Pharmacol 2011, 71(2):157-174.

99. Valastyan S, Weinberg RA: Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell 2011, 147(2):275-292.

100. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA: Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011, 144(5):646-674.

101. Kristensen VN, Lingjaerde OC, Russnes HG, Vollan HK, Frigessi A, Borresen-Dale AL: Principles and methods of integrative genomic analyses in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2014, 14(5):299-313.

102. da Silva HB, Amaral EP, Nolasco EL, de Victo NC, Atique R, Jank CC, Anschau V, Zerbini LF, Correa RG: Dissecting Major Signaling Pathways throughout the Development of Prostate Cancer. Prostate Cancer 2013, 2013:920612.

103. Simo-Riudalbas L, Esteller M: Cancer genomics identifies disrupted epigenetic genes. Hum Genet 2014, 133(6):713-725.

104. Shaknovich R: Gene expression and epigenetic deregulation. Adv Exp Med Biol 2013, 792:133-150.

105. Weichenhan D, Plass C: The evolving epigenome. Hum Mol Genet 2013, 22(R1):R1-6.

106. Schoenborn JR, Nelson P, Fang M: Genomic profiling defines subtypes of prostate cancer with the potential for therapeutic stratification. Clin Cancer Res 2013, 19(15):4058-4066.

107. Cheetham SW, Gruhl F, Mattick JS, Dinger ME: Long noncoding RNAs and the genetics of cancer. Br J Cancer 2013, 108(12):2419-2425.

108. Carthew RW, Sontheimer EJ: Origins and Mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. Cell 2009, 136(4):642-655.

109. Bartel DP: MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 2004, 116(2):281-297.

110. Ruvkun G: Molecular biology. Glimpses of a tiny RNA world. Science 2001, 294(5543):797-799.

111. Pasquinelli AE, Reinhart BJ, Slack F, Martindale MQ, Kuroda MI, Maller B, Hayward DC, Ball EE, Degnan B, Muller P, Spring J, Srinivasan A, Fishman M, Finnerty J, Corbo J, Levine M, Leahy P, Davidson E, Ruvkun G: Conservation of the sequence and temporal expression of let-7 heterochronic regulatory RNA. Nature 2000, 408(6808):86-89.

112. Reinhart BJ, Slack FJ, Basson M, Pasquinelli AE, Bettinger JC, Rougvie AE, Horvitz HR, Ruvkun G: The 21-nucleotide let-7 RNA regulates developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. Nature 2000, 403(6772):901-906.

113. Bagnyukova TV, Pogribny IP, Chekhun VF: MicroRNAs in normal and cancer cells: a new class of gene expression regulators. Exp Oncol 2006, 28(4):263-269.

114. Bartel DP: MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. Cell 2004, 116(2):281-297.

115. Grimson A, Farh KK, Johnston WK, Garrett-Engele P, Lim LP, Bartel DP: MicroRNA targeting specificity in mammals: determinants beyond seed pairing. Mol Cell 2007, 27(1):91-105.

116. He L, Hannon GJ: MicroRNAs: small RNAs with a big role in gene regulation. Nat Rev Genet 2004, 5(7):522-531.

117. Kim VN: MicroRNA biogenesis: coordinated cropping and dicing. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2005, 6(5):376-385.

118. le Sage C, Agami R: Immense promises for tiny molecules: uncovering miRNA functions.Cell Cycle 2006, 5(13):1415-1421.

119. Sarnow P, Jopling CL, Norman KL, Schutz S, Wehner KA: MicroRNAs: expression, avoidance and subversion by vertebrate viruses. Nat Rev Microbiol 2006, 4(9):651-659.

120. Wang X: Composition of seed sequence is a major determinant of microRNA targeting patterns. Bioinformatics 2014, 30(10):1377-1383.

121. Salmena L, Poliseno L, Tay Y, Kats L, Pandolfi PP: A ceRNA hypothesis: the Rosetta Stone of a hidden RNA language? Cell 2011, 146(3):353-358.

122. Jansson MD, Lund AH: MicroRNA and cancer. Mol Oncol 2012, 6(6):590-610.

123. Cho WC: OncomiRs: the discovery and progress of microRNAs in cancers. Mol Cancer 2007,6:60.

124. Calin GA, Croce CM: MicroRNA signatures in human cancers. Nat Rev Cancer 2006, 6(11):857-866.

125. Coppola V, De Maria R, Bonci D: MicroRNAs and prostate cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 2010, 17(1):F1-17.

126. Zhang B, Pan X, Cobb GP, Anderson TA: microRNAs as oncogenes and tumor suppressors. Dev Biol 2007, 302(1):1-12.

127. Ambs S, Prueitt RL, Yi M, Hudson RS, Howe TM, Petrocca F, Wallace TA, Liu CG, Volinia S, Calin GA, Yfantis HG, Stephens RM, Croce CM: Genomic profiling of microRNA and messenger RNA reveals deregulated microRNA expression in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 2008, 68(15):6162-6170.

128. Dijkstra S, Mulders PF, Schalken JA: Clinical use of novel urine and blood based prostate cancer biomarkers: A review. Clin Biochem 2013.

129. Fiorentino M, Capizzi E, Loda M: Blood and tissue biomarkers in prostate cancer: state of the art. Urol Clin North Am 2010, 37(1):131-41, Table of Contents.

130. Ferracin M, Veronese A, Negrini M: Micromarkers: miRNAs in cancer diagnosis and prognosis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2010, 10(3):297-308.

131. Feng J, Huang C, Diao X, Fan M, Wang P, Xiao Y, Zhong X, Wu R: Screening Biomarkers of Prostate Cancer by Integrating microRNA and mRNA Microarrays. Genet Test Mol Biomarkers 2013, 17(11):807-813.

132. Kim WT, Kim WJ: MicroRNAs in prostate cancer. Prostate Int 2013, 1(1):3-9.

133. Mahn R, Heukamp LC, Rogenhofer S, von Ruecker A, Muller SC, Ellinger J: Circulating microRNAs (miRNA) in Serum of Patients With Prostate Cancer. Urology 2011, 77(5):1265.e9-1265.e16.

134. Mo MH, Chen L, Fu Y, Wang W, Fu SW: Cell-free Circulating miRNA Biomarkers in Cancer. J Cancer 2012, 3:432-448.

135. Porkka KP, Pfeiffer MJ, Waltering KK, Vessella RL, Tammela TL, Visakorpi T: MicroRNA expression profiling in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 2007, 67(13):6130-6135.

136. Osaki M, Takeshita F, Ochiya T: MicroRNAs as biomarkers and therapeutic drugs in human cancer. Biomarkers 2008, 13(7):658-670.

137. Sapre N, Selth LA: Circulating MicroRNAs as Biomarkers of Prostate Cancer: The State of Play. Prostate Cancer 2013, 2013:539680.

138. Scholer N, Langer C, Dohner H, Buske C, Kuchenbauer F: Serum microRNAs as a novel class of biomarkers: a comprehensive review of the literature. Exp Hematol 2010, 38(12):1126-1130.

139. Shah AA, Leidinger P, Blin N, Meese E: miRNA: small molecules as potential novel biomarkers in cancer. Curr Med Chem 2010, 17(36):4427-4432.

140. Sita-Lumsden A, Fletcher CE, Dart DA, Brooke GN, Waxman J, Bevan CL: Circulating nucleic acids as biomarkers of prostate cancer. Biomark Med 2013, 7(6):867-877.

141. Song R, Ro S, Yan W: In situ hybridization detection of microRNAs. Methods Mol Biol 2010, 629:287-294.

142. Wittmann J, Jack HM: Serum microRNAs as powerful cancer biomarkers. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010, 1806(2):200-207.

143. Suzuki MM, Bird A: DNA methylation landscapes: provocative insights from epigenomics. Nat Rev Genet 2008, 9(6):465-476.

144. Robertson KD, Jones PA: DNA methylation: past, present and future directions. Carcinogenesis 2000, 21(3):461-467.

145. Jones PA, Taylor SM: Cellular differentiation, cytidine analogs and DNA methylation. Cell 1980, 20(1):85-93.

146. Meissner A, Gnirke A, Bell GW, Ramsahoye B, Lander ES, Jaenisch R: Reduced representation bisulfite sequencing for comparative high-resolution DNA methylation analysis. Nucleic Acids Res 2005, 33(18):5868-5877.

147. Bird A: DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes Dev 2002, 16(1):6-21.

148. Baylin SB: DNA methylation and gene silencing in cancer. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 2005, 2 Suppl 1:S4-11.

149. Andres G, Ashour N, Sanchez-Chapado M, Ropero S, Angulo JC: The study of DNA methylation in urological cancer: present and future. Actas Urol Esp 2013, 37(6):368-375.

150. Cho NY, Kim BH, Choi M, Yoo EJ, Moon KC, Cho YM, Kim D, Kang GH: Hypermethylation of CpG island loci and hypomethylation of LINE-1 and Alu repeats in prostate adenocarcinoma and their relationship to clinicopathological features. J Pathol 2007, 211(3):269-277.

151. Ehrlich M: DNA hypomethylation in cancer cells. Epigenomics 2009, 1(2):239-259.

152. Momparler RL, Bovenzi V: DNA methylation and cancer. J Cell Physiol 2000, 183(2):145-154.

153. Ehrlich M: DNA methylation in cancer: too much, but also too little. Oncogene 2002, 21(35):5400-5413.

154. Estecio MR, Gallegos J, Dekmezian M, Lu Y, Liang S, Issa JP: SINE retrotransposons cause epigenetic reprogramming of adjacent gene promoters. Mol Cancer Res 2012, 10(10):1332-1342.
155. Feinberg AP, Vogelstein B: Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. Nature 1983, 301(5895):89-92.

156. Goering W, Kloth M, Schulz WA: DNA methylation changes in prostate cancer. Methods Mol Biol 2012, 863:47-66.

157. Majumdar S, Buckles E, Estrada J, Koochekpour S: Aberrant DNA methylation and prostate cancer. Curr Genomics 2011, 12(7):486-505.

158. Dunn BK: Hypomethylation: one side of a larger picture. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2003, 983:28-42.

159. Das PM, Singal R: DNA methylation and cancer. J Clin Oncol 2004, 22(22):4632-4642.

160. Yegnasubramanian S, Haffner MC, Zhang Y, Gurel B, Cornish TC, Wu Z, Irizarry RA, Morgan J, Hicks J, DeWeese TL, Isaacs WB, Bova GS, De Marzo AM, Nelson WG: DNA hypomethylation arises later in prostate cancer progression than CpG island hypermethylation and contributes to metastatic tumor heterogeneity. Cancer Res 2008, 68(21):8954-8967.

161. Aryee MJ, Liu W, Engelmann JC, Nuhn P, Gurel M, Haffner MC, Esopi D, Irizarry RA, Getzenberg RH, Nelson WG, Luo J, Xu J, Isaacs WB, Bova GS, Yegnasubramanian S: DNA methylation alterations exhibit intraindividual stability and interindividual heterogeneity in prostate cancer metastases. Sci Transl Med 2013, 5(169):169ra10.

162. Kulis M, Esteller M: DNA methylation and cancer. Adv Genet 2010, 70:27-56.

163. Gros C, Fahy J, Halby L, Dufau I, Erdmann A, Gregoire JM, Ausseil F, Vispe S, Arimondo
PB: DNA methylation inhibitors in cancer: recent and future approaches. Biochimie 2012, 94(11):2280-2296.

164. Issa JP: DNA methylation as a therapeutic target in cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2007, 13(6):1634-1637.

165. Dasgupta S, Wasson LM, Rauniyar N, Prokai L, Borejdo J, Vishwanatha JK: Novel gene C17orf37 in 17q12 amplicon promotes migration and invasion of prostate cancer cells. Oncogene 2009, 28(32):2860-2872.

166. Evans EE, Henn AD, Jonason A, Paris MJ, Schiffhauer LM, Borrello MA, Smith ES, Sahasrabudhe DM, Zauderer M: C35 (C17orf37) is a novel tumor biomarker abundantly expressed in breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 2006, 5(11):2919-2930.

167. Dasgupta S, Cushman I, Kpetemey M, Casey PJ, Vishwanatha JK: Prenylated C17ORF37 induces filopodia formation to promote cell migration and metastasis. J Biol Chem 2011, 289(9):25935-25946.

168. Katz E, Dubois-Marshall S, Sims AH, Faratian D, Li J, Smith ES, Quinn JA, Edward M, Meehan RR, Evans EE, Langdon SP, Harrison DJ: A gene on the HER2 amplicon, C35, is an oncogene in breast cancer whose actions are prevented by inhibition of Syk. Br J Cancer 2010, 103(3):401-410.

169. Zhang FL, Casey PJ: Protein prenylation: molecular mechanisms and functional consequences. Annu Rev Biochem 1996, 65:241-269.

170. Roskoski R,Jr: Protein prenylation: a pivotal posttranslational process. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2003, 303(1):1-7.

171. Berndt N, Hamilton AD, Sebti SM: Targeting protein prenylation for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2011, 11(11):775-791.

172. Isakov N: Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motif (ITAM), a unique module linking antigen and Fc receptors to their signaling cascades. J Leukoc Biol 1997, 61(1):6-16.

173. Humphrey MB, Lanier LL, Nakamura MC: Role of ITAM-containing adapter proteins and their receptors in the immune system and bone. Immunol Rev 2005, 208:50-65.

174. Inoue H, Nishimura K, Oka D, Nakai Y, Shiba M, Tokizane T, Arai Y, Nakayama M, Shimizu K, Takaha N, Nonomura N, Okuyama A: Prostate cancer mediates osteoclastogenesis through two different pathways. Cancer Lett 2005, 223(1):121-128.

175. Hsu CH, Shen TL, Chang CF, Chang YY, Huang LY: Solution structure of the oncogenic MIEN1 protein reveals a thioredoxin-like fold with a redox-active motif. PLoS One 2012, 7(12):e52292.

176. Liu QQ, Yin K, Zhu S, Zhang L, Wen PE, Li CL, Zhang DB, Liu M, Yan G: Inhibition of C35 gene expression by small interfering RNA induces apoptosis of breast cancer cells. Biosci Trends 2010, 4(5):254-259.

177. Leung TH, Wong SC, Chan KK, Chan DW, Cheung AN, Ngan HY: The interaction between C35 and DeltaNp73 promotes chemo-resistance in ovarian cancer cells. Br J Cancer 2013, 109(4):965-975.

# **CHAPTER II**

# MICRORNA-940 SUPPRESSES PROSTATE CANCER MIGRATION AND INVASION BY REGULATING MIEN1

Smrithi Rajendiran, Anil V. Parwani, Richard J. Hare, Subhamoy Dasgupta, Rhonda K. Roby, and Jamboor K. Vishwanatha

# Abstract

# Background

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are crucial molecules that regulate gene expression and hence pathways that are key to prostate cancer progression. These non-coding RNAs are highly deregulated in prostate cancer thus facilitating progression of the disease. Among the many genes that have gained importance in this disease, Migration and invasion enhancer 1 (MIEN1), a novel gene located next to HER2/*neu* in the 17q12 amplicon of the human chromosome, has been shown to enhance prostate cancer cell migration and invasion, two key processes in cancer progression. MIEN1 is differentially expressed between normal and cancer cells and tissues. Understanding the regulation of MIEN1 by microRNA may enable development of better targeting strategies.

## Methods

The miRNAs that could target MIEN1 were predicted by *in silico* algorithms and microarray analysis. The validation for miRNA expression was performed by qPCR and Northern blotting in cells and by *in situ* hybridization in tissues. MIEN1 and levels of other molecules upon miRNA regulation was determined by Western blotting, qPCR, and immunofluorescence. The functional effects of miRNA on cells were determined by wound healing cell migration, Boyden chamber cell invasion, clonal and colony formation assays. For knockdown or overexpression of the miRNA or overexpression of MIEN1 3'UTR, cells were transfected with the oligomiRs and plasmids, respectively.

## <u>Results</u>

A novel miRNA, hsa-miR-940 (miR-940), identified and validated to be highly expressed in immortalized normal cells compared to cancer cells, is a regulator of MIEN1. Analysis of human prostate tumors and their matched normal tissues confirmed that miR-940 is highly expressed in the normal tissues compared to its low to negligible expression in the tumors. While MIEN1 is a direct target of miR-940, miR-940 alters MIEN1 RNA, in a quantity as well as cell dependent context, along with altering its downstream effectors. The miR-940 inhibited migratory and invasive potential of cells, attenuated their anchorage-independent growth ability, and increased E-cadherin expression, implicating its role in mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition (MET).

#### <u>Conclusions</u>

These results, for the first time, implicate miR-940, a regulator of MIEN1, as a potential novel therapeutic agent that could be used for prostate cancer treatment.

# Introduction

Metastatic progression of prostate cancer is a major cause of death among men in the United States [1]. Though cancer metastasis is a highly complex multi-step process facilitated by several key events and molecular players, the most effective way known to prevent this progression is by identifying and targeting the various genes involved in the process(es) [2, 3]. Gene regulation is tightly controlled in the normal cells, thereby retaining the homeostatic expression of the appropriate genes for the functioning of the organism. Deregulation of these mechanisms in cancer causes the disrupted expression of the genes, which in turn furthers the cancer progression. MicroRNAs are a class of endogenous, small non-coding RNAs, 18 to 22 nucleotides long in their mature form, which can regulate a set of target genes and result in translational repression or mRNA degradation depending on the extent of complementarity and cellular context [4, 5]. Recent studies have shown extensive dysregulation of miRNAs in prostate cancer [6-8]. Many miRNAs have been implicated as tumor suppressors or oncomiRs depending on their target(s) and/or the global effects they have towards cancer progression [9-12]. Though studies have been performed with respect to certain miRNAs and their specific targets in prostate cancer [13, 14], not much is known about novel miRNAs targeting the players of cancer progression that can be used as diagnostic markers for early detection, or detection of a possible recurrence or resistance, or therapeutic agents to slow the progression. Identification of these novel miRNAs and their target gene(s), and the pathways they affect during cancer progression, will provide new insights into using them for diagnosis or determination of specific therapy regimens.

Migration and invasion enhancer 1 (*MIEN1*), alternately called C17orf37, C35, RDX12, XPT4, ORB3 or MGC14832, is located in the 17q12-21 region of the human chromosome next to HER2/*neu* in a tail-to-tail arrangement. MIEN1 is abundantly expressed in different stages and

grades of prostate cancer phenotypes when compared to normal cells and tissues [15]. MIEN1 has also been predicted as a novel breast cancer biomarker with increased expression in patients with metastatic progression to lung and liver, suggesting its importance in cancer metastasis [16]. MIEN1 plays a role in prostate cancer migration and invasion through enhancement of filopodia formation by facilitating actin cytoskeletal rearrangement and by up-regulating the Akt dependent NF-kB target genes [15, 17]. This was further confirmed by the recent determination of the solution structure of MIEN1 which predicts that Akt phosphorylation via MIEN1 may be dependent on the active redox-like motif in the MIEN1 structure [18]. MIEN1 is also post-translationally modified by prenylation, via GGTase-I, at its C-terminus CVIL motif. Deletion of the motif not only led to the disruption of MIEN1 membrane localization and reduced invasive and migratory potential but also decreased metastasis to the lungs [17]. Although abrogation of prenylation is a possible targeting strategy, it cannot be effectively used since it has been proven that many proteins involved in the regular functioning of the cell are prenylated, rendering this a very important modification. Hence, inhibition of prenylation could negatively impact multiple cellular processes [19]. On the contrary, since MIEN1 is differentially expressed between normal and cancer cells and tissues, deciphering the regulatory mechanism(s) that explain the aberrant expression of MIEN1 in cancer will enable targeting MIEN1 using mechanisms that are endogenously prevalent thus forming an intervention for prostate cancer progression.

In this study, we have identified a novel miRNA, hsa-miR-940 (miR-940), which targets and regulates MIEN1 expression. Our study indicates that miR-940 expression inversely correlates with tumor progression in clinical prostate cancer and the loss of miR-940 in cancer causes an increased expression of MIEN1 which in turn enables prostate cancer progression. Ectopic expression of miR-940 resulted in not only decreased MIEN1 and its downstream effector molecules, but also reduced the migratory and invasive potential of the cells. Though the overall proliferation was unaltered, the ectopic expression of miR-940 reduced the anchorage-independent growth of cells, increased E-cadherin and decreased slug expression, suggesting facilitation of mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition (MET). Our results demonstrate that miR-940 may be a useful diagnostic marker as well as a therapeutic agent for prostate cancer.

# Results

## MIEN1 is post-transcriptionally regulated by microRNAs.

In various androgen dependent and independent prostate cancer cells, both MIEN1 mRNA and protein are highly expressed compared to the immortalized normal cells of the prostate [15]. Interestingly, in PC-3 cells, which are androgen independent, though MIEN1 mRNA was expressed, the protein was absent. Hence, we predicted an active role of post-transcriptional regulation of MIEN1. Downregulation of microRNA processing restriction endonucleases, Drosha and/or Dicer [5] using RNAi resulted in a significant transcriptional up-regulation of MIEN1 in HEK-293T cells, which do not express MIEN1 mRNA or protein (Supplementary Figure 1A). In PC-3 cells, the knockdown of the miRNA maturation enzymes resulted in an increase in MIEN1 protein expression by ~4-fold (Supplementary Figure 1B). We next performed a microarray analysis to determine the miRNAs that were differentially expressed in immortalized normal cells (PWR-1E) and cancer cells (DU-145). Subsequently, using BLAST and in silico algorithm-based predictions, we identified three microRNAs, hsa-miR-324-3p, hsa-miR-221, and hsa-miR-940, that were differentially expressed between DU-145 and PWR-1E cells and could potentially target MIEN1 3'UTR (Supplementary Figure 2A and 2B) [20, 21]. Using qPCR, the expression levels of these microRNAs were quantitated as fold change normalized to U6 snRNA in the different cell

lines. A significantly higher expression of miR-940 was observed in the non-malignant cells, PWR-1E (~3-fold) and HPV-18C-1 (~7.5-fold), compared to DU-145 and LNCaP, while, PC-3 showed ~1.5-fold higher expression of miR-940 (Figure 1A). The expression of miR-221 and miR-324-3p were neither consistently higher in the immortalized cells compared to the cancer cells, nor were they significantly different, together indicating that miR-940 may be the most relevant regulator of MIEN1 among the three miRNAs. Next, we performed northern blotting to confirm the expression levels of the 21nt miR-940 with a biotin-labeled probe. Consistent with the pattern observed by PCR, the expression of miR-940 in HPV-18C-1 was significantly higher (Figure 1B). To validate the regulation of MIEN1 by miRNA(s), we ectopically overexpressed the miRNA mimics or inhibitors in the various cell lines. We observed a decrease in the expression of MIEN1 protein by ~3- and ~2-fold in DU-145 (Figure 2A, left) and LNCaP (Figure 2A, right) cells, respectively, when transfected with miR-940 mimic. Conversely, inhibiting the endogenous miR-940 in PWR-1E (Figure 2B, left) and PC-3 (Figure 2B, right) using anti-miR-940 increased the MIEN1 protein by ~2- and ~4-fold, respectively. Since miR-221, was significantly higher in PC-3 compared to DU-145, we also ectopically expressed miR-221 mimic in DU-145, together with miR-940, or by itself, and observed a decrease in the MIEN1 protein (Figure 2A, left). But, when we inhibited miR-221 alone in PC-3, we did not see any increase in MIEN1 (Figure 2B, right), implying miR-940 to be a more potent regulator of MIEN1. Together, these results demonstrate that miR-940 is differentially expressed between normal and cancer cells and that it targets and regulates MIEN1 expression. Hence, from here on, we only examined the relevance and role of miR-940 in key processes of prostate cancer progression.





# Figure 1

miR-940 expression. (A) qPCR shows expression of the three identified microRNAs: hsa-miR-324-3p, hsa-miR-940 and hsa-miR-221 normalized to U6 snRNA in immortalized prostate derived cell lines, PWR-1E and HPV-18C-1 and different prostate cancer cells, LNCaP, DU-145 and PC-3. (B) Northern Blot depicting the expression of hsa-miR-940 in immortalized prostate cell line HPV-18C-1 and prostate cancer cells LNCaP, PC-3 and DU-145. \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ ; \*\* $P \le 0.01$ ; \* $P \le 0.05$ .

Figure 2



# Figure 2

**MIEN1 expression upon transfection of miRNA mimic(s) or inhibitor(s) in different cell lines.** (**A-B**) Western blot reveals levels of MIEN1 in the cell lines transfected with miR-221 (221), miR-940 (940) or the combination (221+940) while untransfected (Untd), scrambled miR (NT) or transfection reagent (TR) transfected cells are controls in (**A**) DU-145 (left), LNCaP (right) and (**B**) PWR-1E (left), PC-3 (right). GAPDH was used for normalization.

# Loss of microRNA, hsa-miR-940, is an indicator of prostate cancer.

The expression levels of miR-940 were next examined in a clinical sample cohort of prostate cancer patient tissues by in situ hybridization with miR-940 or scrambled miRNA probe as described in the methods. The tissues were independently scored and graded (based on the corresponding H&E performed) by two pathologists; only those that matched were used to draw any conclusions. Using a tissue microarray (69 cores) with predominant pattern scoring categorized as Gleason score 3 or 4 in a prostate progression cohort, we observed that the miR-940 levels were not significantly different between the groups; though the staining intensities were consistently low ( $\leq 3$  staining intensity) in over ~80% of the tissues (Supplementary Figure 3). In two specific patients who had undergone surgical resection via radical prostatectomy, we observed that miR-940 expression was high in normal glands and benign prostatic hyperplasia with the expression being lower in infiltrating prostate cancer cells (Figure 3A and 3B). In the small pilot cohort of 15 samples, we observed that the miR-940 expression was higher in the matched normal sections in contrast to the low expression in the tumor cells (represented in Figure 3C). Correspondingly, the expression of MIEN1 was relatively higher in the cancer sections compared to the normal (represented in Figure 3C). We observed that the miR-940 staining intensity was high (4 and 5) in 12 of the normal tissues, while only 2 out of 15 tumor sections showed staining intensity of 4. Complementarily, 3 of the 15 normal tissues showed a staining intensity of 3 as opposed to tumors exhibiting lower intensities (1, 2, and 3) in 13 of the cases (Figure 3D). Together, our results indicate that even in a clinical setting (supported by the *in vitro* data), miR-940 expression is consistently higher in the normal tissues as opposed to the tumor cells.

Figure 3



# Figure 3

**miR-940 expression in human prostate cancer and normal tissues.** (A-B) In situ hybridization of the scrambled miR (miR-Scr) or miR-940 and H&E staining in normal/benign glands compared to the infiltrating tumor. (C) H&E staining (i), miR-940 (ii), and MIEN1 (iii) in cancer (top) and matched normal (bottom) tissues with miR-Scr (iv) and IgG control (v) representing the negative controls. (D) ~87% (n = 13) tumor shows low (intensity  $\leq$ 3) expression of miR-940 compared to ~20% (n = 3) of the matched normal tissue with low (intensity  $\leq$ 3) miR-940 expression; conversely, ~13% (n = 2) of the tumor expressed more (>3) miR-940 compared to higher expression (>3) in ~80% (n = 12) of the matched normal (n = 15).

# <u>MIEN1 is a direct target of miR-940.</u>

Next, we wanted to determine if the MIEN1 mRNA stability was altered directly by miR-940. DU-145 cells were transfected with either miR-940 or the control miRNA and treated with Actinomycin-D (Act-D). The half-life of MIEN1 mRNA was observed to be ~6 hours with almost no detectable mRNA in 12 hours after treatment with Act-D in miR-940 transfected cells compared to the control transfected cells (Figure 4A), thus indicating that miR-940 decreases MIEN1 mRNA levels significantly.

We then examined if miR-940 directly binds to the MIEN1 3'UTR using a luciferase plasmid cloned with MIEN1 3'UTR. Binding of the miRNA directly to the 3'UTR of MIEN1 is expected to inhibit the luciferase luminescence compared to the luminescence when the miRNA is unable to bind to the empty luciferase vector control. When MIEN1 3'UTR containing luciferase plasmid (MIEN1) was co-transfected with miR-940 in DU-145 (Figure 4B), there was ~2-fold reduction in luminescence as opposed to luminescence from empty luciferase plasmid (Vec) and miR-940 co-transfections. Additionally, co-transfection of the miR-NT with either the Vec or the MIEN1 plasmid did not show any significant changes in the luminescence in DU-145 (Figure 4C). Similar results were observed in LNCaP (Figure 4D and E). Further, in PC-3 cells which express some endogenous miR-940, ectopic over-expression of miR-940 or the miR-NT with the MIEN1 plasmid showed significantly lesser luminescence (~1.5-fold) compared to Vec co-transfections (Figure 4F and G), thus providing direct evidence of miR-940 – MIEN1 mRNA interaction.




### Figure 4

miR-940 directly binds to MIEN1. (A) MIEN1 mRNA level expressed as fraction of the initial value (T0) plotted over time, upon 10 µg/ml Actinomycin-D treatment following transfection with the Pre-miR-NT or Pre-miR-940 for 48 hours in DU-145 (N=3). (B-G) Luciferase Reporter Assay showing relative luminescence upon co-transfection of miR-940 (B, D, F) or Pre-miR-NT (C, E, G) with either empty luciferase vector (Vec) or MIEN1 3'UTR luciferase vector (MIEN1) in DU-145 (B, C), LNCaP (D, E) or PC-3 (F, G) respectively. \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ ; \* $P \le 0.05$ .

#### miR-940 affects target genes in a cellular context dependent manner.

Since it is known that silencing MIEN1 decreases NF- $\kappa$ B mediated downstream effectors MMP-9, uPA and VEGF [15], we examined if ectopic over-expression of miR-940 had the same effect on downstream effectors of MIEN1. Upon over-expression of miR-940 in DU-145, a decrease was observed in MMP-9, uPA and VEGF, along with pNF- $\kappa$ B S536 (an indicator of nuclear NF- $\kappa$ B that is responsible for the transcription of target genes) at the protein level (Figure 5A) compared to the control. Reductions from ~2- to 3-fold in MMP-9, uPA and VEGF transcripts in DU-145 (Figure 5B) further confirmed the inhibition of the NF- $\kappa$ B mediated transcriptional activity. Conversely, the knock-down of endogenous miR-940 in PWR-1E increased transcript levels of MMP-9, uPA and VEGF by ~1.5- to 2-fold (Figure 5C).

Interestingly, the effects observed with PC-3 were quite unique. It is well known that the miRNA regulation can result in either mRNA degradation or translational repression of the target [22, 23]. Though PC-3 has an increased level of MIEN1 protein upon treatment with anti-miR-940 (Figure 2B, right), there was no increase in the mRNA levels of MIEN1 (Figure 5D). Further, ectopic overexpression of miR-940 in PC-3 resulted in a decrease in MIEN1 and its downstream targets, MMP-9, uPA and VEGF compared to the control at the mRNA level (Figure 5E), indicating that the mechanism by which miR-940 affects MIEN1 mRNA is dependent on the amount of miRNA present, which in turn is dependent on the cell type being considered and thus the general cellular context.

Figure 5



Figure 5

miR-940 targets MIEN1 and affects MMP-9, uPA and VEGF expression in a cellular context-dependent manner. (A-B) Expression of the downstream targets of MIEN1 upon transfection of Pre-miR-NT or Pre-miR-940 in DU-145 at both the translational and transcriptional levels as shown by western blotting (A) and qPCR (B) respectively. (C-E) qPCR showing the expression of MIEN1 and the effectors upon transfection with Anti-miR-940 in PWR-1E (C), with Anti-miR-940 in PC-3 (D) and with Pre-miR-940 in PC-3 (E). \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ ; \*\* $P \le 0.01$ ; \* $P \le 0.05$ .

# miR-940 attenuates the migration and invasion of prostate cancer cells along with inhibiting their anchorage-independent growth potential.

MicroRNAs have multiple targets; hence, the overall effects of a particular microRNA on global cellular functions may vary depending on the regulation of the various targets and their combined implications [24, 25]. Migration and invasion are key processes that facilitate cancer progression and MIEN1 is known to increase these processes [2, 15]. Since, MIEN1 is one of the direct targets of miR-940, we sought to determine if the ectopic over-expression of miR-940 could attenuate these processes, independent of the effect that miR-940 may have on other transcripts. A scratch wound healing migration assay showed that lesser migration ( $\sim 0.6$ -fold) was observed in DU-145 cells treated with miR-940 compared to the non-targeting control 24 hours after the initial scratch (Figure 6A and B). Knockdown of the miR-940 using anti-miR-940 in PC-3 resulted in ~1.8-fold increase in its migratory potential (Figure 6C). To investigate whether miR-940 affects the cell viability, MTT assays were performed with ectopic expression of miR-940 mimic in DU-145 and anti-miR-940 in PC-3 cells. Though transfection with anti-miR-940 in PC-3 cells showed a statistically significant decrease in cell viability after 48 hours (Supplementary Figure 4A) this was only a 15% change and the effect was abrogated after 72 hours. No significant differences were observed in the cell viability after 48 or 72 hours of transfection in DU-145 (Supplementary Figure 4B), proving that miR-940 has no dramatic effect on cell viability. Furthermore, cell cycle analysis revealed no significant differences between DU-145 cells transfected with miR-NT or miR-940 mimics (Supplementary Figure 4C). The invasive potential of the cells was determined using miR-940 mimic or inhibitor transfected DU-145 or PC-3 cells through the transwell matrigel invasion assay system. The ectopic expression of miR-940 decreased the invasiveness of DU-145 ~8-fold (Figure 6D), while the invasiveness of PC-3 was ~3.5-fold higher upon inhibition of endogenous





#### Figure 6

miR-940 affects the cellular migratory and invasive potential. (A-B) Migration of DU-145 upon transfection with either Pre-miR-NT or Pre-miR-940 depicted by a wound healing assay (A) and quantified as a percentage of the wound area closed (B) after 24 hours. (C) Quantification of the migratory potential of PC-3 cells upon transfection with Anti-miR-NT or Anti-miR-940, 24 hours after making a wound. (D-E) Representation and quantification of the invasive potential of DU-145 (D) and PC-3 (E) cells as determined by the Boyden chamber matrigel invasion assay when transfected by miRNA mimic and inhibitor respectively. \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ ; \* $P \le 0.01$ ; \* $P \le 0.05$ .

miR-940 by anti-miR-940 (Figure 6E). Taken together, these results show that miR-940 inhibits both the migratory and invasive potential of the cells without affecting cell viability.

The ability of the cancer cells to adhere and grow by anchorage-dependent and -independent mechanisms is very important to determine their clonogenic ability and hence their potency to evade cell death and finally metastasize [26]. We observed that the DU-145 cells transfected with miR-940 formed smaller, smooth edged colonies compared to bigger, disseminated colonies formed by the control miR transfected cells, after 12 days (Figure 7A, left and Supplementary Figure 5A) under anchorage-dependent conditions. The total number of individual colonies remained unchanged between the treatments (Figure 7A, right). Conversely, the soft agar colony formation assay demonstrated that the anchorage-independent growth potential of the miR-940 transfected cells was highly hindered (~8-fold) compared to the control transfected cells after 12 days (Figure 7B). Dissemination of the cells is an indicator of the cells undergoing epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT), a phenomenon crucial to the initial detachment of the cells from the tumor site, leading to the invasion and migration of cells, and finally resulting in progression of cancer [27]. The considerable morphological difference observed in terms of compactness of the colonies between cells transfected with miR-940 and miR-NT suggested loss of the ability of the miR-940 transfected cells to undergo EMT. To further confirm the possibility of the involvement of miR-940 in hindering EMT, we performed immunostaining for E-cadherin, a cell adhesion marker that is down-regulated if the cells undergo the process of EMT, and Vimentin, a mesenchymal marker. Our results show an increase in E-cadherin in miR-940 transfected cells compared to control cells, while total Vimentin levels remained relatively unaltered with just the disruption of membrane localization (Figure 7C and D). Additionally, the mRNA expression of

Figure 7



#### Figure 7

miR-940 alters the anchorage-dependent and -independent growth of DU-145 cells. (A) Morphology (left) and number (right) of colonies formed by Pre-miR-NT or Pre-miR-940 transfected DU-145 cells after 12 days on tissue culture treated adherent plates. (B) Soft agar colony formation assay shows the colonies in the agar (left) and their quantification (right) after 12 days. (C-D) Immunofluorescence (representative image from two independent experiments, and 3 fields in each experiment) (C) and western blotting (D) show the expression and localization of various proteins upon over-expression of Pre-miR-940 compared to Pre-miR-NT. \*\* $P \le 0.01$ .

Slug, a transcriptional regulator of E-cadherin, decreased in miR-940 transfected cells compared to the control (Supplementary Figure 5B). In PC-3 cells, transfection of the miR inhibitor caused a decrease in E-cadherin transcript levels (Supplementary Figure 5C). Together, this suggests the possible involvement of miR-940 in MET, the reverse process of EMT.

#### Discussion

MIEN1, a novel gene in the 17q12 region of the human chromosome, is differentially expressed between cancer and normal cells and tissues [16]. Previous studies indicate that MIEN1 plays an important role in prostate cancer progression [15, 17]. In this study, we show that MIEN1 undergoes post–transcriptional regulation by miR-940. Our data show that miR-940 decreases the migratory and invasive potential of prostate cancer cells along with facilitation of MET. Also, decreased expression of miR-940 in prostate cancer specimens proves the clinical relevance of this miRNA, leading to our belief that miR-940 is a potential diagnostic marker and therapeutic agent.

The use of miRNAs for therapy and/or diagnosis of cancer is currently under consideration due to the accumulating evidence demonstrating their extensive deregulation in many cancers, including prostate cancer [7, 28-30]. MiRNA mediated regulation of a target gene depends on multiple parameters including: 1) properties of miRNA responsive elements, such as the degree of complementarity and accessibility; 2) number of miRNAs that could target a single transcript; 3) expression of competitive endogenous mRNAs for a miRNA in a specific cellular context; 4) stimulus for the miRNA transcription/splicing and hence expression and stability; and, 5) other factors influencing the target mRNA stability and expression [22-25]. Careful examination of the degree to which a gene is regulated by a miRNA and the overall effects of the miRNA mimic or inhibitor, are essential to determine the global role of the miRNA in any cellular context. The distinct difference in the expression of MIEN1 and lack of protein despite mRNA expression in PC-3 cells directly implied involvement of post-transcriptional regulation. Our experiments confirmed that MIEN1 is indeed regulated by miRNA and led to the identification and validation of miRNA miR-940. Alterations in mRNA half-life in the presence of the miRNA elucidated the effect of miR-940 on MIEN1 mRNA stability. Furthermore, using luciferase assays, we ascertained that miR-940 binds directly to the 3'UTR of MIEN1 to cause its suppression.

MIEN1 is minimally expressed in several normal tissues compared to its overexpression in cancer [16]. Its proximity to the HER2/neu locus on chromosome 17 explains its frequent amplification (in 79% of breast cancers) with HER2 amplicon [31]. A recent study using a set of eight genes, including MIEN1, revealed a moderate response to adjuvant Trastuzumab therapy even in HER2 negative breast cancer, confirming the importance of this gene in responses to neoadjuvant therapies [32]. Katz et al. have shown that the overall survival of breast cancer patients is low in cases where MIEN1 is highly expressed while lower expression indicates better prognosis [33]. It is well known that prostate cancer-related deaths are due to metastasis rather than the presence of a primary tumor alone. Metastasis is a complex process involving multiple intermediate steps, from detachment of the cells at the primary site to formation of secondary tumor. The tumor cells evade the resistances faced at every step by different mechanisms [2, 3]. Our previous study has shown that cells overexpressing MIEN1 have a higher metastatic potential, though it does not mean quicker onset or initiation of the tumor [17]. We have also previously shown that MIEN1 increases phosphorylation of Akt causing the translocation of NF-κB to the nucleus and then transcriptionally activating downstream effectors like MMP-9, uPA and VEGF [15]. These proteases and angiogenic factors are known to cleave extracellular matrix, hence facilitating migratory and invasive potential of the cells. Taken together, these studies confirm that MIEN1 plays an important role in the progression of cancer rather than in the initiation of the tumor. Here, we show that upon ectopic reintroduction of miR-940, the mRNA as well as protein levels of the effector molecules decrease in DU-145. Conversely, down-regulation of the miRNA using inhibitors increases the effector molecules in PWR-1E. Hence, miR-940, indirectly through MIEN1, is capable of decreasing expression levels of specific proteins that facilitate migration and invasion.

It is known that miRNAs can affect expression by causing mRNA degradation through complex formation with RNA-induced silencing complex or by repressing the translation of the mRNA, thus inhibiting formation of the protein [22]. The degree of complementarity and the competitive endogenous mRNAs determine the fate of the miRNA-mRNA complex [24]. Here, we see that miR-940 expression is highest in the immortalized PWR-1E cells, followed by PC-3 cells and lowest in DU-145. In addition to this expression pattern, our data prove that inhibition of miR-940 has different effects on MIEN1 mRNA and protein levels in the various cell lines. This implies that the inhibition of MIEN1 using miR-940 affects MIEN1 in a manner dependent on not only the cellular context (other competitive endogenous mRNA in the specific cells) but also on the endogenous miRNA levels. While in PWR-1E, the endogenous miR-940 potentially degraded MIEN1 mRNA; the over-expression of anti-miR-940 resulted in attenuation of MIEN1 mRNA degradation, thus causing an increase in both MIEN1 mRNA and protein levels. Conversely, the loss of the endogenous miR-940 in DU-145 possibly led to the over-expression of both MIEN1 mRNA and protein; and hence ectopic over-expression of the miR-940, as we have observed, caused MIEN1 mRNA degradation resulting in significant depletion of both transcript and protein levels. However, in PC-3, where MIEN1 mRNA is expressed but protein is low, inhibition of miR-940 with anti-miR-940 resulted in no further increase of MIEN1 mRNA but only increased MIEN1

protein. Additionally, the inhibition of endogenous MIEN1 mRNA with ectopic miR-940 in PC-3 decreased MIEN1 transcript. Together, this indicates that the endogenous miR-940 was causing translational repression of the MIEN1 mRNA rather than degradation in PC-3. Thus, these results show that while miR-940 causes MIEN1 mRNA degradation in DU-145 (ectopic and conceivably endogenous expression) and PWR-1E (endogenous), it causes translational repression of MIEN1 in PC-3 cells (endogenous). The unique ability of this miRNA to perform both mRNA degradation as well as translational repression of the same target depending on the levels of the miRNA and the cellular context seems like a novel finding.

MicroRNAs could target multiple transcripts, thus eliciting a response which is dependent on the combined effects on its targets [24]. A recent study implied that miR-940 could be one of the regulators of alpha-1 antitrypsin [34]. Loss of this serine proteinase inhibitor results in increased risk of lung and liver cancers while its elevated serum levels are associated with prostate cancer [35], supporting our hypothesis that the miR-940 is lost in cancer cells and tissues. In our study, we performed experiments to determine the effects miR-940 would have on migration and invasion, thus delineating the mechanism by which miR-940 could affect cancer progression, based on its regulation of MIEN1, a validated player in the regulation of prostate cancer migration and invasion. We observed a decrease in both the migratory and invasive potential of the cells upon ectopic expression of the miRNA and the converse was seen when the miRNA was inhibited. Hence, we are the first to report that miR-940 inhibits prostate cancer migration and invasion via MIEN1 and other probable targets. The ability of cells to form disseminated colonies without attaching to the substratum is very important to determine the tumorigenicity of the cells [26, 27, 36]. Previous reports indicate that MIEN1 enhances EMT in breast cancer [33]. Our study demonstrates that miR-940 completely inhibits this ability of prostate cancer cells along with

promoting MET by increasing the E-cadherin expression. Additionally, the decrease in slug, an indicator of cells losing their mesenchymal trait [37], was also observed in corroboration with the increased E-cadherin. Since EMT is a very complex yet important process in prostate cancer progression [38-40], further investigation to identify the exact mechanism by which miR-940 facilitates this transition is required. It is also important to determine the different global pathways and the proteins that may be altered by miR-940 that culminates in miR-940 mediated inhibition of prostate cancer progression. Since miR-940 is a very novel miRNA whose function has never been validated or reported in any pathway before, in our study we used a set of common genes predicted to be targets of miR-940 by multiple algorithms. The extensive gene list was then categorized into known and validated pathways using the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway mapping and annotation table available in the Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery 6.7 (DAVID 6.7) [41, 42]. The preliminary examination of the results (obtained from DAVID) was then represented as a function of the number of genes involved within the pathway that could be down-regulated by miR-940 (Supplementary Table 1A), and further classified based on the significance of the overall pathway alteration (Supplementary Table 1B). Interestingly, the pathway with most number of genes affected was a global pathway in cancer. Also, many other pathways predicted within the threshold set indicated the regulation of other pathways considered important in cancer. Thus, miR-940 may be eliciting the responses we have observed via other targets in addition to MIEN1 and this needs further validation.

This study is the first to identify miR-940 as a novel regulator of MIEN1, a molecule involved in prostate cancer progression. With our *in vitro* studies, we established the role of miR-940 in several key processes of metastasis; including migration, invasion, anchorage-independent

growth and EMT. Additionally, with the clinical investigations in a small sample cohort, we demonstrated that miR-940 expression is low in tumor, contrary to MIEN1 expression pattern. Together, this could be an important regulator-target combination to study and use as prognostic indicators for prostate cancer.

#### **Materials and Methods**

Cell lines, cell culture, siRNA, miRNA and transfection - Human prostate carcinoma cells DU-145 (ATCC HTB-81), PC-3 (ATCC CRL-1435), and LNCaP (ATCC CRL-1740) were maintained in RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Life Technologies). Immortalized non-tumorigenic prostate epithelial cell line HPV-18C-1 (a kind gift from Dr. Jhong S. Rhim, Frederick Cancer Research and Development Center, National Cancer Institute, Frederick, MD) and PWR-1E (ATCC CRL-11611) were maintained in Keratinocyte-SFM (Life Technologies) supplemented with bovine pituitary extract (25 µg/ml) and recombinant epidermal growth factor (0.15 ng/ml). Cells were cultured at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The cell lines were authenticated according to "Authentication of Human Cell Lines: Standardization of STR Profiling" using GenePrint® 10 System (Promega); all cell lines and their passages exhibited >80% match to the initial cell line STR profile provided by ATCC [45]. The smart pool siRNAs were obtained from Dharmacon (Thermo Fisher Scientific), while the precursor and inhibitor miRNA oligos (Pre- and Anti-miR) were purchased from Ambion (Life Technologies). The final concentration of the miRNA oligos used for transfection was determined by preliminary concentration-dependent studies and remained constant for all the experiments. Plasmid transfections were performed using Lipofectamine 2000 while Lipofectamine RNAiMAX was used for RNAi transfections, performed according to the manufacturer's protocols (Life Technologies).

*Antibodies and reagents* - The following antibodies and reagents were used: Mouse monoclonal and mouse polyclonal MIEN1 (Abnova; antibody specificity tested and proven in previous studies[15, 17]), rabbit polyclonal MIEN1 (Life Technologies; antibody specificity tested in previous studies[15]), mouse monoclonal GAPDH (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit monoclonal pNF-κB p65 S536 and rabbit polyclonal MMP-9 (Cell Signaling Technology), mouse monoclonal VEGF and uPA (R&D Systems), mouse monoclonal Phalloidin (Life Technologies), mouse monoclonal E-cadherin (BD Biosciences), Vimentin (supernatant developed in mouse and tested against human antigen, Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank), anti-mouse and anti-rabbit IgG (Promega), sheep anti-DIG-AP antibody and NBT-BCIP ready-to-use tablets (Roche), sheep serum (Jackson ImmunoResearch), rabbit IgG, BSA, levamisole hydrochloride, Tris-HCl (pH 7.4), nuclease free water, SSC buffer, Xylene, Tween-20, Nuclear Fast Red, Hematoxylin and Eosin (Sigma-Aldrich) and Permount and PBS (Thermo Fisher Scientific).

*Bioinformatics and microarray analysis* - *In silico* analyses were performed to determine the putative miRNAs that could target MIEN1. The software programs used included miRANDA [20], PicTar [46], miRBase [47] and TargetScan [21], all of which used the 3'UTR as the target region to determine miRNA recognition elements and provided scores to determine predictive values. For microarray based hybridization, DU-145, LNCaP and PWR-1E cells were trypsinized, spun down, washed with sterile PBS and frozen immediately at -80°C. The samples were de-identified and shipped to LC Sciences (Houston, TX) for microarray hybridization. In brief, total RNA was isolated from the cells and enriched for small RNA (<300nt). Subsequently, the small RNAs were 3' extended with polyA tail and an oligonucleotide tag was ligated to it for fluorescent dye staining

(Cy3). The samples were then hybridized to the probe set on the plate (probes consisted of sequences complementary to miRNA from miRBase as well as the specially requested custom

probes). After hybridization, the miRNA expression was detected by fluorescence labeling using tag-specific dye. Images collected were analyzed using Array-Pro image analysis software. Data analysis involved subtraction of the background along with normalization. ANOVA and paired t-test results were provided for further interpretation and study.

<u>*qPCR*</u> - Total RNA was isolated from the cell lines using TRIzol (Life Technologies) and quantified. Equal amount of RNA was used for the one-step or two-step qPCR performed using the Superscript III SYBR Green qRT-PCR kits, according to manufacturer's instructions (Life Technologies). For miRNA, PCR was performed using NCode VILO miRNA cDNA Synthesis and EXPRESS SYBR GreenER miRNA qRT-PCR Kits (Life Technologies), according to the manufacturer's protocol. The primers (sequences provided in the Supplementary materials and methods; Additional file 7) were designed using Primer 3 [48] and synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). PCR was performed using Mastercycler ep gradient S thermal cycler (Eppendorf).

<u>Western blotting</u> - Western blotting was performed according to standard protocols. Briefly, total protein was isolated using NP-40 lysis buffer and estimated using the standard Micro BCA Protein Assay Kit (Pierce Biotechnology). NuPAGE® Novex® 4-12% Bis-Tris Gels were used and the samples were transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes using an iBlot (Life Technologies). Membranes were blocked in 5% non-fat dry milk or 1% BSA prior to antibody subjection. The chemiluminescent reaction was captured by the AlphaImager (ProteinSimple) and bands were analyzed using ImageJ software [49].

<u>Northern blotting</u> - Northern blotting was performed using miRNA Northern Blot Assay Kit and custom ordered biotin-labeled miR-940 and U6 control probes (Signosis) with one microgram of

total RNA from each cell line, according to manufacturer's instructions. This experiment was performed only once.

<u>RNA stability assay</u> - Cells were transfected with the precursor oligomiRs and 48 hours after transfection, treated with 10 µg/ml Act-D (Sigma-Aldrich). RNA was isolated at several time points and quantified. Equal amounts of RNA were used to run qPCR to determine MIEN1 levels. <u>Luciferase reporter assay</u> - Cells were transfected with 3'UTR constructs (Origene) - 3'UTR-Vector (Vec) or 3'UTR-MIEN1 (MIEN1) and miR-940 or miR-NT in duplicate. Luciferase assay was performed using the Luciferase Assay System (Promega) according to manufacturer's instructions and luminescence read using Synergy2 Alpha Microplate Reader (BioTek). Five independent experiments were performed and averaged to obtain the relative luminescence.

<u>*Migration assay*</u> - For migration assay, a scratch was made to a monolayer of transfected cells using a pipet tip, 48 hours after transfection. Fresh media was added immediately to remove the floating cells and image the scratch and surrounding cells at T0 (immediately after scratching). Images were captured at specific time points from at least ten independent fields to determine the wound closure. Migration was calculated as a percentage of the area covered by the cells compared to the original wound area.

<u>Invasion assay</u> - Invasion assay was performed with transwell invasion assay inserts and 24-well plates (BD Biosciences) according to manufacturer's protocol. In brief, cells were transfected with the miRNA oligomiRs and the inserts were coated with Matrigel (BD Biosciences). Cells were trypsinized 48 hours after transfection and 500  $\mu$ l of the cell suspension (concentration of 5 X 10<sup>4</sup> cells/ml) was plated in duplicate in Matrigel-coated and non-coated transwell inserts with 750  $\mu$ l of fetal bovine serum as a chemoattractant in the bottom well. The lower side of the transwell membranes were fixed and stained with 0.05% crystal violet 24 hours after plating. Fold change

in invasion was calculated as a ratio of cells invading the Matrigel matrix-coated insert membrane to the cells migrating through the uncoated membrane. The non-targeting miRNA transfected setup was considered as 1 and the fold change was calculated accordingly.

<u>Anchorage-dependent and -independent growth assays</u> - For the anchorage-dependent clonal assay, cells were treated with precursor miR-NT/940 for 48 hours and seeded (2500 cells per well) on polystyrene coated 6-well plates. After 12 days, the colonies were fixed and stained with 0.05% crystal violet or subjected to immunofluorescence. Only individual colonies (>50 cells per colony) were considered to obtain the average number of colonies for each treatment.

For anchorage-independent colony formation assay, cells were treated with precursor miR-NT/940 for 48 hours before re-plating (5000 cells per ml per well) on soft agar (cells in 2X media:agar = 1:1). Colonies were stained with 0.05% crystal violet and counted after 12 days of incubation in soft agar.

<u>Immunofluorescence</u> - Cells were plated as described in anchorage-dependent assay on coverslips, fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde, permeabilized with 100% methanol, blocked with 1% BSA and stained for the specific proteins.

In situ hybridization and immunohistochemistry - Archived paraffin-embedded prostate tumor with matched normal and tumor infiltrating normal gland tissue sections from multiple patients were used. The anatomic pathologists independently read the slides and graded the Hematoxylin & Eosin (H&E) stained sections to provide Gleason scores (1-5; based on predominant primary pattern) and hybridized sections to determine miR-940 intensity scores (1-5; 1 being basal to very low to 5 being high intensity; a chromogenic assay based on DIG labeled probes detected by alkaline phosphatase conjugated anti-DIG and NBT-BCIP substrate). The Exiqon (Denmark) miRCURY LNA<sup>™</sup> microRNA ISH Optimization Kit (FFPE) was used to standardize and perform *in situ* hybridization, using scrambled miRNA and the 5'- and 3'-DIG double labeled miR-940 probes. The extent of Proteinase-K treatment, the hybridization time and temperature, and incubation with the substrate were all standardized for the probes. Correspondingly, MIEN1 and isotype-specific rabbit IgG antibodies were used for immunohistochemistry that was performed on the serial sections according to standard protocols. The images were captured as described previously [50].

<u>Statistical analyses</u> - The results were represented as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of three independent experiments, unless mentioned otherwise. The p-value was calculated according to Student's t-test using GraphPad P-value calculator and considered significant if *p-value* was at least  $\leq 0.05$ .

### **Supplementary Materials and Methods**

Primer list

MIEN1 FP-5'*CAGTGCTGTGGAGCAGT3*', MIEN1 RP-5'*GACGGCTGTTGGTGATCTTT3*'; GAPDH FP-5'*GAGCGAGATCCCTCCAA3*', GAPDH RP-5'*ACTGTGGTCATGAGTCCTTC3*'; MMP-9 FP-5'*TTGACAGCGACAAGAAGTGG3*', MMP-9 RP-5'*GCCATTCACGTCGTCCTTAT3*'; uPA FP-5'*TGCGTCCTGGTCGTGAGCGA3*', uPA RP-5'*CTACAGCGCTGACACGCTTG3*'; VEGF FP-5'*CCTGGTGGACATCTTCCAGGAGTA3*', VEGF RP-5'*CTCACCGCCTCGGCTTGTCACA3*'; E-cadherin FP-5'*AGGATGGTGTAAGCGATGGC3*'; Slug FP-5'*AATATGTGAGCCTGGGCG3*', Slug RP-5'*CTCTGTTGCAGTGAGGGCAAG*'

*MTT assay* - DU-145 and PC-3 cells were transfected with precursor and inhibitor oligomiRs respectively. The cells were trysinized, counted and plated in complete media on a 96-well plate, 24 hours after transfection. Percent viability was measured 48 and 72 hours after reseeding by 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2yl]-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay. The absorbance was measured by Synergy2 plate reader (BioTek) at 570 nm wavelength.

<u>Flow cytometry</u> - DU-145 cells were transfected with miRNA mimic and subjected to cell cycle analysis using Propidium Iodide in a Beckman Coulter Cytomics FC 500 Flow Cytometer. In brief, transfected cells were trypsinized, washed with PBS, counted and resuspended to a concentration of 1.5X106cells/ml. Cells were fixed in cold ethanol at 4°C, overnight. After washing with PBS and centrifuging the suspension, the pellet was resuspended in PI with RNaseA and incubated at 4°C for about 3hours in the dark before analysis.

*Bioinformatic Analysis* - For identification of pathways that could be affected by miR-940, a common list of genes that were predicted by four independent algorithms, miRanda [20], TargetScan [21], DIANAmT [51] and miRWalk [52], was generated. This list was then analyzed using Database for Annotation, Visualization and Integrated Discovery 6.7 (DAVID 6.7) to classify genes according to the pathways they were involved in based on the Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) pathway mapping function [41, 42]. Pathways containing 20 or more genes from the common list were first tabulated. This list was then rearranged to obtain a hierarchy of pathways with significant Fisher Exact P-values (< 0.05).



Post-transcriptional regulation of MIEN1. (A) Drosha, Dicer and MIEN1 expression levels upon knockdown of miRNA maturation enzymes, Drosha and/or Dicer compared to control siRNA (NT) in HEK293T as shown by qPCR. (B) Fold change in MIEN1 protein levels upon knockdown of miRNA maturation enzymes, Drosha and/or Dicer compared to control siRNA (NT) in PC-3. \*\* $P \le 0.01$ 

Α

	mi RNA	p - Val ue	Log <sub>2</sub> ( <u>PWR-1E</u> DU-145)	5' MIEN1 3'UTR 3'               3' miRNA 5'	Prediction Tool	
	hsa- miR- 324- 3p	4.65 e-01	0.60	GAUUCCGUGGCCUUGGGGGCAGG II IIIIII GGUCGUCGUGGACCCCGUCA TCGAGTCGCGCCTCGGGGGCACAG II IIIIII GGUCGUCGUGGACCCCGUCA	miRanda, TargetScan, Micro- Inspector	
	hsa- miR- 221	9.64 e-03	0.64	AACCCAG-GGCAATGT CAGCT	miRanda	
-	hsa- miR- 940	3.63 e-02	0.90	GCUGGGAGCUCCCCCUGCCUC IIIIII IIIII CCCCUCGCCCCGGGACGGAA	TargetScan miRanda	
B GUG GG IIIIII CAC CC C	G GUUG       A GU -		00 9900 1111 9990 	CCCA - GG GGAGCGGGGG CCU G                CCUCGCCCC GGG C C -A	-AG C CC C I II I G GG G GAA AA	GUG I G I G I G I G I G I G AGU
~						

С

		Mature	miR-940	
hsa	GUGAGGUGUGGGCCCGGCCCCAGGAGCGGGGCCUGGGCAGCCCGUGUGUGAGGAAGGA	GGCAGGGC	CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	GGGCCUGACCCCAC
ggo	ACCAGUGUCUGUGAGGUGUGGGCCCGGCCCCAGGAGCGGGGCCUGGGCAGCCCGUGUGUGAGGAAGGA	GGCAGGGC	CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	SGGCCUGACCCCACUGCUUC
mm	GREECCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	GGCAGGGC	CCCCCCCCCCC	GGGCCUGACCCCAC
ptr	REVERIES CONSTRUCTION CONSTRUCTURA CONSTRUCT	GGCAGGGC	CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	SGGCCUGACCCCAC
bta	ereverences to be a construction of the second se	eec <u>r</u> eeec	CCCCGCUCC <u>G</u> C	GGGCCUGACCCCA

**Potential miRNA regulators of MIEN1.** (**A**) miRNA identified by miRNA microarray, *in silico* algorithms and BLAST showing putative binding sites in the 3'UTR of MIEN1. (**B**) hsa-miR-940 precursor miRNA – stem-loop-stem structure. (**C**) Conservation of miR-940 between different species.



**miR-940 expression pattern in prostate tumors.** Graphical representation of the miR-940 expression (staining intensities) based on scoring of *in situ* hybridization of a tissue microarray with prostate tumors of predominant pattern Gleason scores 3 or 4.



miR-940 does not alter the cell viability. (A-B) MTT assay to determine % Viability in (A) PC-3 upon transfection of Anti-miR-940 and (B) DU-145 upon transfection of Pre-miR-940. (C) Cell cycle analysis showing the percentage of the cell population in the Pre-miR-NT and Pre-miR-940 transfected DU-145 cells. \*\* $P \le 0.01$ .



miR-940 attenuates EMT and promotes MET. (A) Morphology of colonies formed by Pre-miR-NT or Pre-miR-940 transfected DU-145 cells on adherent plates. (B) Slug mRNA expression in DU-145 cells transfected with Pre-miR-940 or Pre-miR-NT. (C) E-cadherin transcript levels when PC-3 cells were transfected with Anti-miR-940 or Anti-miR-NT. \*\* $P \le 0.01$ ; \* $P \le 0.05$ .

# Supplementary Table 1

Α

Term	EASE P-value	<u>Count</u>	⁰∕₀	Fisher Exact P-value
Pathways in cancer	0.0180	71	2.6	0.0130
MAPK signaling pathway	0.0097	61	2.2	0.0065
Endocytosis	0.0001	52	1.9	0.0001
Cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction	0.2400	50	1.8	0.1900
Focal adhesion	0.0160	47	1.7	0.0100
Regulation of actin cytoskeleton	0.1300	44	1.6	0.0960
Neuroactive ligand-receptor interaction	0.6100	43	1.6	0.5500
Insulin signaling pathway	0.0007	39	1.4	0.0003
Chemokine signaling pathway	0.1200	39	1.4	0.0900
Wnt signaling pathway	0.0270	36	1.3	0.0170
Jak-STAT signaling pathway	0.0390	36	1.3	0.0250
Calcium signaling pathway	0.1700	36	1.3	0.1200
Axon guidance	0.0041	35	1.3	0.0022
Purine metabolism	0.0510	35	1.3	0.0330
Huntington's disease	0.2600	35	1.3	0.2100
Lysosome	0.0180	30	1.1	0.0100
Apoptosis	0.0003	29	1.1	0.0001
Neurotrophin signaling pathway	0.0930	28	1	0.0610
Alzheimer's disease	0.5800	28	1	0.5000
Chronic myeloid leukemia	0.0001	27	1	0.0000
Leukocyte transendothelial migration	0.0870	27	1	0.0570
Tight junction	0.2500	27	1	0.1900
Cell adhesion molecules (CAMs)	0.3000	26	0.9	0.2300
GnRH signaling pathway	0.0340	25	0.9	0.0190
Vascular smooth muscle contraction	0.1200	25	0.9	0.0830
Melanogenesis	0.0640	24	0.9	0.0380
T cell receptor signaling pathway	0.1400	24	0.9	0.0910
Colorectal cancer	0.0200	23	0.8	0.0100
Natural killer cell mediated cytotoxicity	0.5800	23	0.8	0.4900
Adherens junction	0.0150	22	0.8	0.0072
ErbB signaling pathway	0.0520	22	0.8	0.0300
Prostate cancer	0.0640	22	0.8	0.0380
Dilated cardiomyopathy	0.0860	22	0.8	0.0530
Small cell lung cancer	0.0650	21	0.8	0.0370
TGF-beta signaling pathway	0.0870	21	0.8	0.0530
Fc gamma R-mediated phagocytosis	0.1700	21	0.8	0.1100
Ubiquitin mediated proteolysis	0.8000	21	0.8	0.7300
Pancreatic cancer	0.0270	20	0.7	0.0140
Hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM)	0.1200	20	0.7	0.0720
Pyrimidine metabolism	0.2500	20	0.7	0.1700
Toll-like receptor signaling pathway	0.3400	20	0.7	0.2500

в

Term	<u>EASE</u> <u>P-value</u>	Count	%	Fisher Exact P-value
Endocytosis	0.0001	52	1.9	0.0001
Chronic myeloid leukemia	0.0001	27	1	0.0000
Apoptosis	0.0003	29	1.1	0.0001
Insulin signaling pathway	0.0007	39	1.4	0.0003
Axon guidance	0.0041	35	1.3	0.0022
MAPK signaling pathway	0.0097	61	2.2	0.0065
Adherens junction	0.0150	22	0.8	0.0072
Focal adhesion	0.0160	47	1.7	0.0100
Pathways in cancer	0.0180	71	2.6	0.0130
Lysosome	0.0180	30	1.1	0.0100
Colorectal cancer	0.0200	23	0.8	0.0100
Wnt signaling pathway	0.0270	36	1.3	0.0170
Pancreatic cancer	0.0270	20	0.7	0.0140
GnRH signaling pathway	0.0340	25	0.9	0.0190
Jak-STAT signaling pathway	0.0390	36	1.3	0.0250
Purine metabolism	0.0510	35	1.3	0.0330
ErbB signaling pathway	0.0520	22	0.8	0.0300
Melanogenesis	0.0640	24	0.9	0.0380
Prostate cancer	0.0640	22	0.8	0.0380
Small cell lung cancer	0.0650	21	0.8	0.0370

# Supplementary Table 1

**Predicted pathways altered by miR-940.** (**A-B**) Pathways potentially affected by common genes predicted by multiple algorithms as identified by KEGG pathways generated in DAVID based on the number of genes present in the pathway (**A**) and the P-value of the pathways with highest number of genes (**B**).
## References

 Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A: Cancer statistics, 2013. CA Cancer J Clin 2013, 63(1):11-30.

 Hanahan D, Weinberg RA: Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011, 144(5):646-674.

3. Valastyan S, Weinberg RA: Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell 2011, 147(2):275-292.

4. Bagnyukova TV, Pogribny IP, Chekhun VF: MicroRNAs in normal and cancer cells: a new class of gene expression regulators. Exp Oncol 2006, 28(4):263-269.

5. Winter J, Jung S, Keller S, Gregory RI, Diederichs S: Many roads to maturity: microRNA biogenesis pathways and their regulation. Nat Cell Biol 2009, 11(3):228-234.

6. Ozen M, Creighton CJ, Ozdemir M, Ittmann M: Widespread deregulation of microRNA expression in human prostate cancer. Oncogene 2008, 27(12):1788-1793.

7. Coppola V, De Maria R, Bonci D: MicroRNAs and prostate cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 2010, 17(1):F1-17.

8. Porkka KP, Pfeiffer MJ, Waltering KK, Vessella RL, Tammela TL, Visakorpi T: MicroRNA expression profiling in prostate cancer. Cancer Res 2007, 67(13):6130-6135.

9. Zhang B, Pan X, Cobb GP, Anderson TA: microRNAs as oncogenes and tumor suppressors. Dev Biol 2007, 302(1):1-12.

10. Calin GA, Croce CM: MicroRNA signatures in human cancers. Nat Rev Cancer 2006, 6(11):857-866.

11. Nadiminty N, Tummala R, Lou W, Zhu Y, Zhang J, Chen X, eVere White RW, Kung HJ, Evans CP, Gao AC: MicroRNA let-7c suppresses androgen receptor expression and activity via regulation of Myc expression in prostate cancer cells. J Biol Chem 2012, 287(2):1527-1537.

12. Ting HJ, Messing J, Yasmin-Karim S, Lee YF: Identification of microRNA-98 as a therapeutic target inhibiting prostate cancer growth and a biomarker induced by vitamin D. J Biol Chem 2013, 288(1):1-9.

13. Erdmann K, Kaulke K, Thomae C, Huebner D, Sergon M, Froehner M, Wirth MP, Fuessel S: Elevated expression of prostate cancer-associated genes is linked to down-regulation of microRNAs. BMC Cancer 2014, 14:82-2407-14-82.

14. Ottman R, Nguyen C, Lorch R, Chakrabarti R: MicroRNA expressions associated with progression of prostate cancer cells to antiandrogen therapy resistance. Mol Cancer 2014, 13:1-4598-13-1.

15. Dasgupta S, Wasson LM, Rauniyar N, Prokai L, Borejdo J, Vishwanatha JK: Novel gene C17orf37 in 17q12 amplicon promotes migration and invasion of prostate cancer cells. Oncogene 2009, 28(32):2860-2872.

16. Evans EE, Henn AD, Jonason A, Paris MJ, Schiffhauer LM, Borrello MA, Smith ES, Sahasrabudhe DM, Zauderer M: C35 (C17orf37) is a novel tumor biomarker abundantly expressed in breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 2006, 5(11):2919-2930.

17. Dasgupta S, Cushman I, Kpetemey M, Casey PJ, Vishwanatha JK: Prenylated C17ORF37 induces filopodia formation to promote cell migration and metastasis. J Biol Chem 2011, 289(9):25935-25946.

18. Hsu CH, Shen TL, Chang CF, Chang YY, Huang LY: Solution structure of the oncogenic MIEN1 protein reveals a thioredoxin-like fold with a redox-active motif. PLoS One 2012, 7(12):e52292.

19. Berndt N, Hamilton AD, Sebti SM: Targeting protein prenylation for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2011, 11(11):775-791.

20. Betel D, Wilson M, Gabow A, Marks DS, Sander C: The microRNA.org resource: targets and expression. Nucleic Acids Res 2008, 36(Database issue):D149-53.

21. Lewis BP, Burge CB, Bartel DP: Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. Cell 2005, 120(1):15-20.

22. Valencia-Sanchez MA, Liu J, Hannon GJ, Parker R: Control of translation and mRNA degradation by miRNAs and siRNAs. Genes Dev 2006, 20(5):515-524.

23. Fabian MR, Sonenberg N, Filipowicz W: Regulation of mRNA translation and stability by microRNAs. Annu Rev Biochem 2010, 79:351-379.

24. Salmena L, Poliseno L, Tay Y, Kats L, Pandolfi PP: A ceRNA hypothesis: the Rosetta Stone of a hidden RNA language? Cell 2011, 146(3):353-358.

25. Tay Y, Rinn J, Pandolfi PP: The multilayered complexity of ceRNA crosstalk and competition. Nature 2014, 505(7483):344-352.

26. Guadamillas MC, Cerezo A, Del Pozo MA: Overcoming anoikis--pathways to anchorageindependent growth in cancer. J Cell Sci 2011, 124(Pt 19):3189-3197.

27. Tsai JH, Yang J: Epithelial-mesenchymal plasticity in carcinoma metastasis. Genes Dev 2013,27(20):2192-2206.

28. Madu CO, Lu Y: Novel diagnostic biomarkers for prostate cancer. J Cancer 2010, 1:150-177.

29. Iorio MV, Croce CM: MicroRNA dysregulation in cancer: diagnostics, monitoring and therapeutics. A comprehensive review. EMBO Mol Med 2012, 4(3):143-159.

30. Ferracin M, Veronese A, Negrini M: Micromarkers: miRNAs in cancer diagnosis and prognosis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2010, 10(3):297-308.

31. Staaf J, Jonsson G, Ringner M, Vallon-Christersson J, Grabau D, Arason A, Gunnarsson H, Agnarsson BA, Malmstrom PO, Johannsson OT, Loman N, Barkardottir RB, Borg A: High-resolution genomic and expression analyses of copy number alterations in HER2-amplified breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2010, 12(3):R25.

32. Pogue-Geile KL, Kim C, Jeong JH, Tanaka N, Bandos H, Gavin PG, Fumagalli D, Goldstein LC, Sneige N, Burandt E, Taniyama Y, Bohn OL, Lee A, Kim SI, Reilly ML, Remillard MY, Blackmon NL, Kim SR, Horne ZD, Rastogi P, Fehrenbacher L, Romond EH, Swain SM, Mamounas EP, Wickerham DL, Geyer CE, Jr, Costantino JP, Wolmark N, Paik S: Predicting Degree of Benefit From Adjuvant Trastuzumab in NSABP Trial B-31. J Natl Cancer Inst 2013, 105(23):1782-1788.

33. Katz E, Dubois-Marshall S, Sims AH, Faratian D, Li J, Smith ES, Quinn JA, Edward M, Meehan RR, Evans EE, Langdon SP, Harrison DJ: A gene on the HER2 amplicon, C35, is an oncogene in breast cancer whose actions are prevented by inhibition of Syk. Br J Cancer 2010, 103(3):401-410.

34. Hassan T, Smith SG, Gaughan K, Oglesby IK, O'Neill S, McElvaney NG, Greene CM: Isolation and identification of cell-specific microRNAs targeting a messenger RNA using a biotinylated anti-sense oligonucleotide capture affinity technique. Nucleic Acids Res 2013, 41(6):e71.

98

35. El-Akawi ZJ, Abu-Awad AM, Sharara AM, Khader Y: The importance of alpha-1 antitrypsin (alpha1-AT) and neopterin serum levels in the evaluation of non-small cell lung and prostate cancer patients. Neuro Endocrinol Lett 2010, 31(1):113-116.

36. Lamouille S, Xu J, Derynck R: Molecular mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2014, 15(3):178-196.

37. Barrallo-Gimeno A, Nieto MA: The Snail genes as inducers of cell movement and survival: implications in development and cancer. Development 2005, 132(14):3151-3161.

38. Samatov TR, Tonevitsky AG, Schumacher U: Epithelial-mesenchymal transition: focus on metastatic cascade, alternative splicing, non-coding RNAs and modulating compounds. Mol Cancer 2013, 12(1):107-4598-12-107.

39. Nauseef JT, Henry MD: Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in prostate cancer: paradigm or puzzle? Nat Rev Urol 2011, 8(8):428-439.

40. Singh A, Settleman J: EMT, cancer stem cells and drug resistance: an emerging axis of evil in the war on cancer. Oncogene 2010, 29(34):4741-4751.

41. Huang da W, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA: Bioinformatics enrichment tools: paths toward the comprehensive functional analysis of large gene lists. Nucleic Acids Res 2009, 37(1):1-13.

42. Huang da W, Sherman BT, Lempicki RA: Systematic and integrative analysis of large gene lists using DAVID bioinformatics resources. Nat Protoc 2009, 4(1):44-57.

43. Mitchell PS, Parkin RK, Kroh EM, Fritz BR, Wyman SK, Pogosova-Agadjanyan EL, Peterson A, Noteboom J, O'Briant KC, Allen A, Lin DW, Urban N, Drescher CW, Knudsen BS, Stirewalt DL, Gentleman R, Vessella RL, Nelson PS, Martin DB, Tewari M: Circulating microRNAs as stable blood-based markers for cancer detection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008, 105(30):10513-10518.

44. Sita-Lumsden A, Dart DA, Waxman J, Bevan CL: Circulating microRNAs as potential new biomarkers for prostate cancer. Br J Cancer 2013, 108(10):1925-1930.

45. ATCC SDO: Authentication of Human Cell Lines: Standardization of STR Profiling. In ATCC SDO document ASN-0002 edition. Edited by Anonymous Manassas, VA: ANSI/ATCC; 2011.

46. Krek A, Grun D, Poy MN, Wolf R, Rosenberg L, Epstein EJ, MacMenamin P, da Piedade I, Gunsalus KC, Stoffel M, Rajewsky N: Combinatorial microRNA target predictions. Nat Genet 2005, 37(5):495-500.

47. Griffiths-Jones S, Grocock RJ, van Dongen S, Bateman A, Enright AJ: miRBase: microRNA sequences, targets and gene nomenclature. Nucleic Acids Res 2006, 34(Database issue):D140-4.
48. Koressaar T, Remm M: Enhancements and modifications of primer design program Primer3.

Bioinformatics 2007, 23(10):1289-1291.

49. Schneider CA, Rasband WS, Eliceiri KW: NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. Nat Methods 2012, 9(7):671-675.

50. Lee JM, Yang J, Newell P, Singh S, Parwani A, Friedman SL, Nejak-Bowen KN, Monga SP: beta-Catenin signaling in hepatocellular cancer: Implications in inflammation, fibrosis, and proliferation. Cancer Lett 2014, 343(1):90-97.

51. Paraskevopoulou MD, Georgakilas G, Kostoulas N, Vlachos IS, Vergoulis T, Reczko M, Filippidis C, Dalamagas T, Hatzigeorgiou AG: DIANA-microT web server v5.0: service integration into miRNA functional analysis workflows. Nucleic Acids Res 2013, 41(Web Server issue):W169-73.

52. Dweep H, Sticht C, Pandey P, Gretz N: miRWalk--database: prediction of possible miRNA binding sites by "walking" the genes of three genomes. J Biomed Inform 2011, 44(5):839-847.

## **CHAPTER III**

## NOVEL MIRNA-940 IS A POTENTIAL SERUM BIOMARKER

Smrithi Rajendiran, Sayantan Maji, Christopher Olivares, Ahmed Haddad,

Allen Van Horn, Yair Lotan and Jamboor K. Vishwanatha

## Abstract

#### Background

Prostate cancer is one of the leading causes of deaths despite an astounding 98% survival rate for localized tumors. This is primarily due to the current methods being insufficient in differentiating indolent from aggressive tumors and the lack of specificity and sensitivity in the detection techniques used in clinics. Though PSA test has been used for a while and is reasonably accurate, there are major caveats. Also, biopsies, the confirmatory diagnostic test for prostate cancer have some associated shortcomings. Together, there is a need for new diagnostic tool development. MicroRNAs are stable circulatory molecules that can be detected in serum.

#### Methods

Here, we investigated the expression of circulatory miR-940, a novel miRNA known to play a role in prostate cancer progression, by qPCR, from cell culture supernatants (PWR-1E and DU-145 exosomes) and in serum from 25 normal, 32 cancer (untreated, Gleason Score (GS)  $\geq$  7 in 26 and GS = 6 in 6 patients), and 31 cancer (treated, surgical and/or radiation and/or hormonal therapy) patients.

#### <u>Results</u>

We found that miR-940 was significantly higher in cancer cell supernatant as well as serum from cancer patients. Though the odds ratio of using this miRNA as a biomarker was better than what was exhibited by PSA, the area under the curve (AUC) from the receiver operating characteristic (ROC curve) did not show a significantly higher diagnostic accuracy of this test compared to PSA. The serum miR-940 was better able to distinguish clinically significant tumors (GS  $\geq$  7) from the low grade tumors (GS = 6). Additionally, miR-940 expression was observed to be very significantly higher in patients who were treated, in the past or during the period when the serum was collected, compared to both the normal as well as untreated cancer patients, leading to the question of miR-940 expression regulation by the treatments.

#### Conclusion

The use of miR-940 as a biomarker for prostate cancer has potential due to the ability of miR-940 expression to distinguish between tumors over GS 6 compared to the GS 6 tumors. Since the area under the curve from the receiver operating characteristic curve is not significantly higher for miR-940 compared to PSA, this test does not have a better diagnostic accuracy than PSA. Larger number of samples need to be evaluated to determine the true diagnostic accuracy of miR-940 in prostate cancer detection.

## Introduction

Prostate cancer is one of the leading causes of cancer related death among men in the US [1]. Though many prostate cancers are slow growing, some forms are very aggressive and metastatic, resulting in death. Men over the age of 50 are recommended to undergo digital rectal exam (DRE) and serum total prostate specific antigen (tPSA) screening. While active surveillance

is recommended in some cases, repeat biopsies, surgery and other treatments are currently followed in others who demonstrate irregularities in the DRE or tPSA levels. Unfortunately, some people inherently have high levels of tPSA and enlarged prostate, resulting in extensive overdiagnosis and treatments [2]. Additionally, a recent report by U.S. Preventive Services Task Force recommended against tPSA based screening. Though PCA3 urine test is under consideration as a better prognostic marker, there is insufficient evidence of extensive improvements in sensitivity and specificity compared to tPSA [3-5]. Also, though the test currently marginally improves the diagnostic accuracy of prostate cancer, it does not predict short-term or long-term outcomes or the need for biopsies [3, 6-12]. Further, it does not necessarily help distinguish aggressive from indolent disease [13].

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are a class of small RNA that regulate gene expression posttranscriptionally [14-18]. Various studies report miRNAs to be highly deregulated in prostate cancer [19-23]. Additionally, recent studies have revealed that miRNA are highly stable in the serum, providing scope for using these circulating miRNA as detection agents in diagnosis of cancer [24-31]. The miRNA signatures are also implicated in determination of the primary site in tumors of unknown origin. Use of the miRNAs as blood based markers has tremendous potential when used in combination with the existing PSA screening techniques for the status of the disease – cancer or not [20, 32-36].

We have recently identified miR-940, expressed on chromosome 16 in humans, as a novel miRNA that impedes prostate cancer progression in an *in vitro* system. Here, we have tried to determine if circulatory miR-940 could allow early detection of prostate cancer and distinguish between the high grade (GS  $\geq$  7) and low grade (GS = 6) tumors. Our results demonstrate miR-940 as a biomarker that can distinguish between normal and cancer states. To a degree, the miR-

940 even distinguishes between low grade and high grade tumors, but owing to the small sample cohorts in the various groups, the statistical significance we observed is not appreciably better than the existing test (PSA) characteristics [37]. Finally, the expression of miR-940 was significantly higher in the serum of patients who had, in the past or during the time of sample collection, undergone treatment implicating other possible roles of miR-940 after treatment.

#### Results

#### miR-940 is highly secreted by the cancer cells in vitro.

Based on our previous study, miR-940, a novel miRNA differentially expressed in prostate cancer was chosen to be tested as a biomarker for diagnosis of prostate cancer. To determine if miR-940 was a secretory miRNA, we evaluated the expression of both the mature and the precursor miR-940 levels in the cell culture supernatant. The exosomes from cells that had been serum starved for 24 to 48 hours was collected as described in the methods. The qPCR analysis for miR-940 from exosomes revealed that miR-940 was highly expressed in the exosomes derived from the cancer cells, DU-145, compared to the immortalized normal cells, PWR-1E (Figure 1A). We then quantified the ratio of the miR-940 with the levels of miR-940 within the same cells. We observed that the miR-940 secreted into the serum was significantly higher when the ratio was calculated (Figure 1B). This inverse expression pattern of miR-940 within and outside the cells suggested that miR-940 could be secreted out of the cells during cancer progression, in order to prevent the function of miR-940 mediated suppression of cancer progression.

#### Circulatory miR-940 is high in cancer patients' serum.

The expression of miR-940 was next assessed in a cohort of clinical serum samples. MiR-940 levels were significantly (P-value = 0.0012) higher in serum obtained from cancer patients who

Figure 1



## Figure 1

**miR-940 expression in cell culture supernatant.** (**A**) Total RNA collected from the exosomes isolated from serum starved DU-145 and PWR-1E cell culture supernatants (as described in the materials and methods) was used to determine miR-940 levels compared to RNU6-2 control by qPCR. (**B**) Exosomes were first isolated from the serum starved cell culture supernatants and RNA was extracted from the exosomes as described in the methods. RNA was simultaneously isolated from the cells and by qPCR the levels of miR-940 within and outside the cells was obtained. The ratio of miR-940 (secreted out through exosomes) to the miR-940 within the cells is represented. The experiment was repeated two independent times.  $*P \le 0.05$ .





	Cancer	Normal
Sample, N	32	25
Mean ± SEM	2.094 ± 0.1889	1.240 ± 0.1476

С

Variables in the Equation

								95% C.I.for EXP(B)	
		В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Step 1 <sup>a</sup>	PSA	.147	.065	5.117	1	.024	1.159	1.020	1.317
	Foldchange	.975	.428	5.179	1	.023	2.651	1.145	6.137
	Constant	-2.378	.826	8.290	1	.004	.093		

a. Variable(s) entered on step 1: PSA, Foldchange.

## Figure 2

**Serum miR-940 is significantly higher in cancer compared to normal serum.** (A) Serum miR-940 levels were detected by qPCR after their isolation using Ambion miRVana PARIS kit from untreated cancer serum and healthy normal control serum as described in the methods. The box and whisker plot shows the median (central line) and the outliers (dots beyond the whiskers. The table provides the mean (±s.e.m.) for each group. (B) ROC curve depicts the sensitivity (true positive: cancer in reality and according to test variable; miR-940 fold change) and specificity (100% - false positive: 100% - normal in reality with fold change in miR-940 predicting cancer) of the use of secreted miR-940 as an independent test to determine cancer versus normal states. (C) Binary logistic regression analysis comparing secreted miR-940 measured by qPCR and PSA reported by the clinic depicts the significance of each of the covariates (fold change in miR-940 and PSA) along with the odds ratio and their 95% confidence intervals in determining the disease state. had not undergone any treatment compared to the normal serum (Figure 2A). While the mean( $\pm$ s.e.m.) for the two groups were 2.094( $\pm$ 0.1889) and 1.24( $\pm$ 0.1476), the ROC curve determining the sensitivity and specificity of the test showed the area under the curve to be 0.7519 (Figure 2B). To determine how well this test performed in comparison to PSA, the current standard for prostate cancer detection, we performed binary logistic regression analysis with PSA and miR-940 fold change as covariates (Figure 2C). Our results indicate that this test is slightly better than PSA, exhibiting a significance of 0.023 and odds ratio of 2.651 with a 95% confidence interval of 1.145 to 6.137.

# <u>Serum miR-940 has a better diagnostic accuracy when determining moderately and poorly</u> <u>differentiated tumors compared to normal.</u>

We classified the tumor serum further into moderately and poorly differentiated (GS  $\ge$  7) and well differentiated (GS = 6) tumors, based on the pathological Gleason scoring rendered to the tumors after surgery. The miR-940 levels in serum from moderately and poorly differentiated tumors was very significantly different from their levels in normal serum (Figure 3A). Though there was an overall increase in miR-940 in GS  $\ge$  7 tumor samples compared to GS 6 tumors, this was statistically insignificant. The area under the curve for the ROC curve increased to 0.7985, from the previously observed 0.7516, when we eliminated the clinically insignificant tumor cohort and tested the diagnostic accuracy of this miRNA (Figure 3B). Correspondingly, the significance and odds ratio also improved (Figure 3C).

## miR-940 levels are elevated dramatically after treatment for prostate cancer.

The last patient cohort that we examined in this pilot study included serum from cancer patients who had previously undergone some form of treatment, including one or more of the following: prostatectomy, radiation, brachytherapy, and hormone therapy; or were at present under treatment.





	GS>7	Normal	GS=6
Sample, N	26	25	6
Mean ± SEM	2.267 ± 0.2177	1.240 ± 0.1476	1.343 ± 0.1156

С

Variables in the Equation

								95% C.I.for EXP(B)	
		В	S.E.	Wald	df	Sig.	Exp(B)	Lower	Upper
Step 1 <sup>a</sup>	PSA	.160	.068	5.494	1	.019	1.173	1.027	1.341
	Foldchange	1.187	.472	6.328	1	.012	3.276	1.300	8.257
	Constant	-3.177	.996	10.176	1	.001	.042		

a. Variable(s) entered on step 1: PSA, Foldchange.

## Figure 3

Secreted miR-940 levels from serum is significantly higher in patients with clinically significant tumors. (A) Serum miR-940 were detected by qPCR after their isolation using Ambion miRVana PARIS kit from patients presenting with tumors of various pathological scores. The secreted miR-940 levels from patients who had primary tumors of GS 7, 8, 9 and 10 were grouped together as one category, separating the clinically significant tumor patients' serum (GS  $\geq$  7, sample size = 25) from the insignificant tumor patients' serum (GS = 6, sample size = 6). A comparison was then drawn between these two groups using Student's t-test. These two groups were also separately compared with the miR-940 levels from the normal healthy controls (Student's t-test). The horizontal line for each group in the graph indicates the mean expression level (normalized to RNU6-2) within each group. The table provides the mean (±s.e.m.) for each group. (B) ROC curve depicts the sensitivity (true positive: cancer in reality and according to test variable; miR-940 fold change) and specificity (100% - false positive: 100% - normal in reality with fold change in miR-940 predicting cancer) of the use of secreted miR-940 as an independent test to determine clinically significant cancers (GS  $\geq$  7) versus normal states (healthy controls). (C) Binary logistic regression analysis comparing secreted miR-940 measured by qPCR and PSA reported by the clinic depicts the significance of each of the covariates (fold change in miR-940 and PSA) along with the odds ratio and their 95% confidence intervals in determining the disease state (clinically significant tumors,  $GS \ge 7$  versus healthy normal controls).

Figure 4



## Figure 4

miR-940 levels in serum obtained from patients previously treated or undergoing treatment is significantly elevated. The expression of miR-940 was computed by qPCR and normalized to RNU6-2. The horizontal line for each group in the graph indicates the mean expression level (normalized to RNU6-2) within each group. The one-way ANOVA showed significant differences between the groups (*P-value* < 0.0001), since our goal was to draw pairwise comparisons between the three groups, we performed post-hoc pairwise comparisons. These comparisons were made between the untreated cancer samples (N=32) and treated cancer samples (N=31) and normal healthy controls (N=25) and the treated samples (N=31) as the depicted in the plot. \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ . This group was used to determine the effects of the treatments on miR-940 circulation levels. As seen in figure 4, almost any kind of treatment elevated the miR-940 in serum.

#### Discussion

This study presents the possible use of a novel miRNA, miR-940, as a diagnostic biomarker for prostate cancer. We have shown in a small cohort of samples that miR-940 levels are high in serum from cancer patients compared to healthy controls; making this a potential biomarker. Also, the diagnostic accuracy of miR-940 in predicting a moderately or poorly differentiated cancer is marginally better than PSA (0.799 for miR-940 versus 0.782 for PSA) [37].

Our previous study has shown miR-940 to be highly expressed in normal cells and tissues compared to cancer counterparts. The expression of miR-940 in the serum is contradictory to this intracellular pattern as observed in a study conducted in breast cancer where 28 miRNAs were opposing in terms of their expression patterns between the tissue and the serum [38]. This may be attributed to the many ways miRNAs are trafficked between cells or exported out of the cells, if their intracellular targets potentiate cancer progression or to facilitate cell-cell communication [39-43]. We believe that miR-940 is exported out of the cancer cells to prevent its regulation of MIEN1, and other proteins predicted as targets inside the cell, thus exhibiting an increased level in the serum from cancer patients.

An interesting finding, however, is that the miR-940 levels in circulation radically increased in the serum from patients who have been treated or are currently undergoing treatment. This could be due to a variety of reasons: the miRNA expression may be increased as a compensatory mechanism for its loss in cancer cells and the excess may be passed into circulation; or the miRNA could be under the regulation of factors that are part of the treatment regimen, for

example, androgen; or the miRNA may be synthesized in the adjacent normal environment and be shuttled. Alternatively, the excess of miR-940 in the serum after treatment may be used as a read out for treatment response; higher miR-940 levels being indicative of lesser chance of recurrence or metastasis [39, 43]. Since these are speculations made based on a very small cohort of samples, it warrants further investigation, including longitudinal short-term and long-term follow-up studies.

The current standard for prostate cancer detection includes DRE with PSA, followed by biopsies, for confirmation of the clinical diagnosis. With the relatively low diagnostic accuracy of PSA, and secondary infections associated with biopsy, there has been a clinical deadlock in prostate cancer diagnosis. To overcome this predicament, extensive research is underway to find reliable non-invasive markers which will not only increase the precision of diagnosis but also reduce patient discomfort. Considering that our study strongly alludes to miR-940 being one such molecule, larger scale validations are warranted.

### **Materials and Methods**

<u>*Cell lines and cell culture*</u> - Human prostate carcinoma cells DU-145 (ATCC HTB-81), and LNCaP (ATCC CRL-1740) were maintained in RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Life Technologies). Immortalized non-tumorigenic prostate epithelial cell line PWR-1E (ATCC CRL-11611) was maintained in Keratinocyte-SFM (Life Technologies) supplemented with bovine pituitary extract (25  $\mu$ g/ml) and recombinant epidermal growth factor (0.15 ng/ml). Cells were cultured at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

*Exosome isolation from cell culture supernatant* - Exosomes from cell culture supernatant were isolated as described previously [45, 46]. Briefly, the cells were grown in serum free medium for

at least 24-48 hours. The conditioned medium was transferred to conical tubes and centrifuged at 300 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C to pellet the cells. Next, the supernatant was transferred to ultracentrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 16500 x g for 20 minutes at 4°C to further remove cells and cell debris. The supernatant was passed through a  $0.2\mu m$  filter to remove particles larger than 200nm. Next, the filtered supernatant was transferred to new ultracentrifuge tubes and centrifuged at 120000 x g for 70 minutes at 4°C to pellet the exosomes. The supernatant was discarded and resuspended in TRIzol and processed for RNA isolation.

Patients and serum samples - Serum samples (N=32) from prostate cancer patients who had not undergone any treatment at the time of sample collection was obtained by Dr. Yair Lotan (UT Southwestern, Dallas, TX) between 2001 and 2010. Of this pool, the pathological Gleason Score was  $\geq$  7 in 26 patients and 6 in 6 patients. Normal serum samples (N=25) was collected by Dr. Jamboor Vishwanatha's group, through a collaboration with Harris Methodist Hospital at Fort Worth, TX, during prostate cancer screening. Serum samples (N=31) from prostate cancer patients who had or are still undergoing some treatments (surgery and/or radiation and/or hormonal therapy) was collected by Dr. Allen Van Horn (Southewest Urology Associates, Duncanville, TX) between 2011 and 2012. The cohorts selected for primary analysis were the untreated prostate cancer patient samples (N=32; further divided into GS  $\geq$ 7 and GS =6) and the normal serum (N=25). The third group of samples collected after treatment were used to determine if treatment altered the trend of miR-940 expression. The collection process was the standard blood draw procedure, performed by a well-trained phlebotomist at the respective sites. Subjects were consented to the study and no personal health was revealed. In short, venous blood was collected from each patient and centrifuged. The supernatants recovered and aliquoted and stored at -80 °C

until further use. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Boards at the respective sites.

<u>*RNA* isolation and qPCR</u> - Total RNA was isolated from the exosomes collected using TRIzol (Life Technologies) according to the standard protocol. Total RNA from the serum was isolated according to the manufacturer's instructions using the miRVANA PARIS kit (Life Technologies). Equal amount of quantified RNA was used for the first step of cDNA synthesis using NCode VILO miRNA cDNA Synthesis Kit (Life Technologies). For the expression of the miRNA, first the miRNA specific forward primers (mature and precursor) and normalization control specific forward primers were designed using Primer 3 [47] and NCBI BLAST softwares [48] and synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies), the qPCR for the miRNA and controls were carried out, according to the manufacturer's protocol on a Mastercycler ep gradient S realplex<sup>2</sup> thermal cycler (Eppendorf). Normalization of samples was carried out with respect to RNU6-2 expression. The average of the  $\Delta$ Ct values of all the normal samples was used to obtain the  $\Delta\Delta$ Ct was then used to determine the fold change (the normalized expression values).

<u>Statistical analyses</u> – ROC curve was generated based on the sensitivity and the specificity of the different data points by the GraphPad Prism software in order to obtain the maximized area under the curve. The box and whisker plots and scatter plots were generated and *p-value* was calculated according to Student's t-test or one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's Post-hoc test between the groups of interest using GraphPad Prism 5.0. The outliers have been denoted as points outside the whiskers. To perform binary logistic regression analysis, IBM SPSS version 21 was used. The

PSA and fold change in miR-940 were used as covariates to generate the odds ratio, 95% confidence interval for odds ratio and the significance.

#### References

1. Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z, Jemal A: Cancer statistics, 2014. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 2014, 64(1):9-29.

2. Bhavsar T, McCue P, Birbe R: Molecular diagnosis of prostate cancer: are we up to age? Semin Oncol 2013, 40(3):259-275.

3. Ferro M, Bruzzese D, Perdona S, Marino A, Mazzarella C, Perruolo G, D'Esposito V, Cosimato V, Buonerba C, Di Lorenzo G, Musi G, De Cobelli O, Chun FK, Terracciano D: Prostate Health Index (Phi) and Prostate Cancer Antigen 3 (PCA3) significantly improve prostate cancer detection at initial biopsy in a total PSA range of 2-10 ng/ml. PLoS One 2013, 8(7):e67687.

4. Loeb S, Partin AW: Review of the literature: PCA3 for prostate cancer risk assessment and prognostication. Rev Urol 2011, 13(4):e191-5.

5. Pavlov KA, Shkoporov AN, Khokhlova EV, Korchagina AA, Sidorenkov AV, Grigor'ev ME, Pushkar' DI, Chekhonin VP: Development of a diagnostic test system for early non-invasive detection of prostate cancer based on PCA3 mRNA levels in urine sediment using quantitative reverse tanscription polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR). Vestn Ross Akad Med Nauk 2013, (5)(5):45-51.

6. Bradley LA, Palomaki GE, Gutman S, Samson D, Aronson N: Comparative effectiveness review: prostate cancer antigen 3 testing for the diagnosis and management of prostate cancer. J Urol 2013, 190(2):389-398.

7. Busetto GM, De Berardinis E, Sciarra A, Panebianco V, Giovannone R, Rosato S, D'Errigo P, Di Silverio F, Gentile V, Salciccia S: Prostate Cancer Gene 3 and Multiparametric Magnetic Resonance Can Reduce Unnecessary Biopsies: Decision Curve Analysis to Evaluate Predictive Models. Urology 2013.

8. De Luca S, Passera R, Bollito E, Milillo A, Scarpa RM, Papotti M, Coda R, Randone DF: Biopsy and radical prostatectomy pathological patterns influence Prostate cancer gene 3 (PCA3) score. Anticancer Res 2013, 33(10):4657-4662.

9. Evaluation of Genomic Applications in Practice and Prevention (EGAPP) Working Group\*: Recommendations from the EGAPP Working Group: does PCA3 testing for the diagnosis and management of prostate cancer improve patient health outcomes? Genet Med 2013.

10. Rodon N, Trias I, Verdu M, Roman R, Dominguez A, Calvo M, Banus JM, Ballesta AM, Maestro ML, Puig X: Diagnostic and Predictive Value of Urine PCA3 Gene Expression for the Clinical Management of Patients with Altered Prostatic Specific Antigen. Actas Urol Esp 2013.

11. Rubio-Briones J, Casanova J, Dumont R, Rubio L, Fernandez-Serra A, Casanova-Salas I, Dominguez-Escrig J, Ramirez-Backhaus M, Collado A, Gomez-Ferrer A, Iborra I, Monros JL, Ricos JV, Solsona E, Salas D, Martinez F, Lopez-Guerrero JA: Optimizing prostate cancer screening; prospective randomized controlled study of the role of PSA and PCA3 testing in a sequential manner in an opportunistic screening program. Actas Urol Esp 2013.

12. Tombal B, Ameye F, de la Taille A, de Reijke T, Gontero P, Haese A, Kil P, Perrin P, Remzi M, Schroder J, Speakman M, Volpe A, Meesen B, Stoevelaar H: Biopsy and treatment decisions in the initial management of prostate cancer and the role of PCA3; a systematic analysis of expert opinion. World J Urol 2012, 30(2):251-256.

Ruffion A, Devonec M, Champetier D, Decaussin-Petrucci M, Rodriguez-Lafrasse C, Paparel
 P, Perrin P, Vlaeminck-Guillem V: PCA3 and PCA3-based nomograms improve diagnostic
 accuracy in patients undergoing first prostate biopsy. Int J Mol Sci 2013, 14(9):17767-17780.

14. Bagnyukova TV, Pogribny IP, Chekhun VF: MicroRNAs in normal and cancer cells: a new class of gene expression regulators. Exp Oncol 2006, 28(4):263-269.

15. Barbarotto E, Schmittgen TD, Calin GA: MicroRNAs and cancer: profile, profile, profile. Int J Cancer 2008, 122(5):969-977.

16. Barbato C, Arisi I, Frizzo ME, Brandi R, Da Sacco L, Masotti A: Computational challenges in miRNA target predictions: to be or not to be a true target? J Biomed Biotechnol 2009, 2009:803069.

17. Cho WC: OncomiRs: the discovery and progress of microRNAs in cancers. Mol Cancer 2007,6:60.

18. He L, Hannon GJ: MicroRNAs: small RNAs with a big role in gene regulation. Nat Rev Genet 2004, 5(7):522-531.

 Calin GA, Croce CM: MicroRNA signatures in human cancers. Nat Rev Cancer 2006, 6(11):857-866.

20. Carlsson J, Helenius G, Karlsson MG, Andren O, Klinga-Levan K, Olsson B: Differences in microRNA expression during tumor development in the transition and peripheral zones of the prostate. BMC Cancer 2013, 13:362-2407-13-362.

21. Coppola V, De Maria R, Bonci D: MicroRNAs and prostate cancer. Endocr Relat Cancer 2010, 17(1):F1-17.

22. Kim WT, Kim WJ: MicroRNAs in prostate cancer. Prostate Int 2013, 1(1):3-9.

23. Liu DF, Wu JT, Wang JM, Liu QZ, Gao ZL, Liu YX: MicroRNA expression profile analysis reveals diagnostic biomarker for human prostate cancer. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2012, 13(7):3313-3317.

24. Brase JC, Wuttig D, Kuner R, Sultmann H: Serum microRNAs as non-invasive biomarkers for cancer. Mol Cancer 2010, 9:306.

25. Cortez MA, Bueso-Ramos C, Ferdin J, Lopez-Berestein G, Sood AK, Calin GA, Medscape: MicroRNAs in body fluids-the mix of hormones and biomarkers. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2011.

26. Dijkstra S, Mulders PF, Schalken JA: Clinical use of novel urine and blood based prostate cancer biomarkers: A review. Clin Biochem 2013.

27. Kuner R, Brase JC, Sultmann H, Wuttig D: microRNA biomarkers in body fluids of prostate cancer patients. Methods 2013, 59(1):132-137.

28. Liang H, Gong F, Zhang S, Zhang CY, Zen K, Chen X: The origin, function, and diagnostic potential of extracellular microRNAs in human body fluids. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA 2013.

29. Madhavan D, Cuk K, Burwinkel B, Yang R: Cancer diagnosis and prognosis decoded by blood-based circulating microRNA signatures. Front Genet 2013, 4:116.

30. Madu CO, Lu Y: Novel diagnostic biomarkers for prostate cancer. J Cancer 2010, 1:150-177.

Mo MH, Chen L, Fu Y, Wang W, Fu SW: Cell-free Circulating miRNA Biomarkers in Cancer.
 J Cancer 2012, 3:432-448.

32. Etheridge A, Lee I, Hood L, Galas D, Wang K: Extracellular microRNA: a new source of biomarkers. Mutat Res 2011, 717(1-2):85-90.

33. Ferracin M, Veronese A, Negrini M: Micromarkers: miRNAs in cancer diagnosis and prognosis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2010, 10(3):297-308.

34. Osaki M, Takeshita F, Ochiya T: MicroRNAs as biomarkers and therapeutic drugs in human cancer. Biomarkers 2008, 13(7):658-670.

35. Sapre N, Selth LA: Circulating MicroRNAs as Biomarkers of Prostate Cancer: The State of Play. Prostate Cancer 2013, 2013:539680.

36. Wittmann J, Jack HM: Serum microRNAs as powerful cancer biomarkers. Biochim Biophys Acta 2010, 1806(2):200-207.

37. Thompson IM, Ankerst DP, Chi C, Lucia MS, Goodman PJ, Crowley JJ, Parnes HL, Coltman CA,Jr: Operating characteristics of prostate-specific antigen in men with an initial PSA level of 3.0 ng/ml or lower. JAMA 2005, 294(1):66-70.

38. 1. Zhu J, Zheng Z, Wang J, Sun J, Wang P, Cheng X, Fu L, Zhang L, Wang Z, Li Z: Different miRNA expression profiles between human breast cancer tumors and serum. Front Genet 2014, 5:149.

39. Chen X, Liang H, Zhang J, Zen K, Zhang CY: Secreted microRNAs: a new form of intercellular communication. Trends Cell Biol 2012, 22(3):125-132.

40. Kosaka N, Iguchi H, Yoshioka Y, Takeshita F, Matsuki Y, Ochiya T: Secretory mechanisms and intercellular transfer of microRNAs in living cells. J Biol Chem 2010, 285(23):17442-17452.
41. Turchinovich A, Weiz L, Burwinkel B: Extracellular miRNAs: the mystery of their origin and function. Trends Biochem Sci 2012, 37(11):460-465.

42. Wang K, Zhang S, Weber J, Baxter D, Galas DJ: Export of microRNAs and microRNAprotective protein by mammalian cells. Nucleic Acids Res 2010, 38(20):7248-7259.

43. Robbins PD, Morelli AE: Regulation of immune responses by extracellular vesicles. Nat Rev Immunol 2014, 14(3):195-208. 44. Akao Y, Khoo F, Kumazaki M, Shinohara H, Miki K, Yamada N: Extracellular disposal of tumor-suppressor miRs-145 and -34a via microvesicles and 5-FU resistance of human colon cancer cells. Int J Mol Sci 2014, 15(1):1392-1401.

45. Lasser C, Eldh M, Lotvall J: Isolation and characterization of RNA-containing exosomes. J Vis Exp 2012, (59):e3037. doi(59):e3037.

46. Thery C, Amigorena S, Raposo G, Clayton A: Isolation and characterization of exosomes from cell culture supernatants and biological fluids. Curr Protoc Cell Biol 2006, Chapter 3:Unit 3.22.

47. Koressaar T, Remm M: Enhancements and modifications of primer design program Primer3.Bioinformatics 2007, 23(10):1289-1291.

48. Mount DW: Using the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (BLAST). CSH Protoc 2007, 2007:pdb.

## **CHAPTER IV**

# MIEN1 IS TIGHTLY REGULATED BY SINE ALU METHYLATION IN ITS PROMOTER

Smrithi Rajendiran, Timothy Van Treuren and Jamboor K. Vishwanatha

## Abstract

#### Background

Migration and invasion enhancer 1 (MIEN1), a gene located next to HER2/*neu* in the 17q12 amplicon of the human chromosome, is a relatively novel gene that has gained importance in prostate cancer progression by enhancing prostate cancer cell migration and invasion. MIEN1 is differentially expressed between normal and cancer cells and tissues, making it an effective target for therapy. DNA methylation, an important epigenetic regulation, is one of the most widely altered mechanisms in prostate cancer. Evidence for the use of methylation inhibitors in cancer treatment is not substantially justified due to the contradictory effects these agents may have on independent genes which may turn into oncogenic drivers, instead of just increasing tumor suppressive genes. Hence, a better understanding of the epigenetic regulation of the molecules involved in prostate cancer progression is essential; framing the basis to study the DNA methylation patterns in the promoter region of MIEN1.

#### Methods

Bisulfite pyrosequencing was used to ascertain the role of DNA methylation in MIEN1 transcriptional activation. Validation of methylation inhibition on MIEN1 transcript and protein levels were performed using both nucleoside analogs and non-nucleoside inhibitors, 5-Aza-2'- deoxycitidine and Procainamide, respectively. Further, individual DNA methyltransferases were knocked down using RNA interference technologies to determine effects on MIEN1 transcript and protein. Finally, dual luciferase reporter assays and *in silico* analysis were performed to identify the region for transcriptional factor binding.

## **Results**

MIEN1 promoter contains a short interspersed nuclear Alu element (SINE Alu) repeat sequence. Inhibition of methylation resulted in an increase in both MIEN1 RNA and protein in the normal cells. A sequence immediately upstream of the transcription start site has a site for binding of putative transcription factors, USF. Thus, hypomethylation of the SINE Alu, along with potential binding of USF, facilitates the transcriptional activation of MIEN1 in cancer.

## Conclusions

MIEN1 promoter has a SINE Alu region that is hypermethylated in normal cells leading to repression of the gene. In cancer, the hypomethylation of a part of this repeat results in MIEN1 expression.

#### Introduction

Epigenetic regulation of genes involve non-genetic modifications of DNA and/or histones. Such regulation leads to the transcriptional activation or repression, thereby maintaining an accurate spatial-temporal expression pattern, culminating in cellular homeostasis [1]. Subsequently, the deregulation of the epigenetic mechanisms result in aberrant gene expression. DNA methylation, an important epigenetic modification, is often deregulated in various cancers [2-4]. Usually, a global hypomethylation of repeat sequences including interspersed non-coding region, accompanied by gene-specific DNA hypermethylation in the promoters of the tumor suppressor genes are detected in many cancers [4-7]. With the developments in the field of genomics, including next generation sequencing, many genes that are altered in various cancers have been identified. A vast majority of the genes that have been down regulated among this list correlate to genes exhibiting hypermethylated promoters, thus corroborating the previous observations. These studies, along with some others in the past, allude to the potential use of the methylation pattern signatures as biomarkers for early detection of cancer [8-12].

Prostate cancer, next only to lung cancer in terms of cancer related deaths, is estimated to account for 29,480 deaths in 2014 [13]. Mortality in prostate cancer is the result of metastasis of the cancer, a complex process involving several players. Many genes that are involved in apoptosis, cell cycle regulation, and hormone regulation, apart from genes that act as tumor suppressors by inhibiting cell proliferation, invasion and metastasis, have been shown to be hypermethylated in prostate cancer [3, 7, 10, 11, 14, 15]. Though most of the focus has been in terms of DNA hypermethylation, it is important to also consider the hypomethylation patterns – which directly or through repeat elements drives the expression of oncogenes resulting in genomic instability, during tumor progression [4, 6, 12, 16-19]. Thus, generalized demethylation may not be the most effective approach to consider when trying to treat cancer. Hence, a clearer understanding of the different genes involved in the tumor progression will open new avenues in developing more effective methylation based targeting strategies.

Studies previously conducted by us and a few other groups have identified Migration and invasion enhancer 1 (MIEN1) as an important gene involved in cancer progression [20, 21]. MIEN1 is located in the 17q12 region of the human chromosome, a loci of extreme importance in various cancers, including breast and ovarian, due to the presence of HER2/*neu* [22, 23]. This region has also been shown to be important with respect to castration resistant prostate cancers, the more aggressive form to prostate cancer with poor prognosis. While increased MIEN1 facilitates tumor progression, its expression is low to negligible in various normal cells and tissues, making MIEN1 and attractive biomarker and target.

In the present study, we determined the DNA methylation mediated epigenetic regulation of MIEN1. Our study shows that the MIEN1 promoter has a SINE Alu region that is hypomethylated in cancer, resulting in an increased expression of MIEN1 in cancer [5, 24]. Inhibition of methylation in the immortalized normal epithelial cells by various methods including knocking down of the DNA methyltransferases led to an increase in MIEN1 transcript and protein. Additionally, scanning the promoter revealed a binding site for a transcription factor that could potentially bind and regulate the MIEN1 expression in conjunction with the methylated SINE Alu. Thus, we believe that MIEN1 promoter methylation is very important in repressing the gene, an observation to be considered when using general inhibitors of methylation for prostate cancer therapy.

#### Results

#### MIEN1 putative promoter has DNA methylation responsive elements.

Based on UCSC and NCBI, the sequence of MIEN1 putative promoter region was obtained. Upon scanning, we observed that this region contained numerous CpG dyads, islands and a short

interspersed nuclear (SINE) Alu element repeat. A portion of the SINE Alu region, a pretranscription start site region and a translation start site region (Figure 1A) were then examined in detail by bisulfite sequencing (Supplementary Figure 1A) in immortalized normal prostate epithelial cells (PWR-1E), and androgen dependent (LNCaP) and independent (DU-145 and PC-3) cancer cells. Since SINE Alu repeats constitute 11% of the human genomic sequence, first, a bisulfite primer set (BSP, Supplementary Table 1) was used to extract the entire region of interest to us. Subsequently, the pyrosequencing of the three-100bp regions were performed using the sequence specific primers (SEQ, Supplementary Table 1) to determine the % methylation at each of the CpG sites within the region. The sequencing data showed that the % methylation was less that 30% at any given CpG site in both the pre-transcription start site as well as the translation start site regions across all the cell lines (Supplementary Figure 1B and 1C). On the contrary, the methylation pattern between the normal and cancer cells was variant in about half of the CpG sites located within the sequenced SINE Alu region (Figure 1B). Within this differential region, PWR-1E exhibited 100% methylation in all the 5 sites, while 2 sites in LNCaP were 100% and 80% methylated. In contrast, DU-145 and PC-3 demonstrated methylation in only 2 sites totally. Together, these results demonstrate that the methylation of SINE Alu region in the MIEN1 putative promoter is definitely lost in cancer compared to normal cells, supporting the known phenomena of global hypomethylation in cancer.

#### <u>MIEN1 expression is altered upon pharmacological inhibition of DNA methylation.</u>

Since MIEN1 promoter has a SINE Alu repeat which was hypermethylated in normal cells but hypomethylated in cancer cells, a pattern corresponding to the high expression of MIEN1 in cancer compared to normal cells, we next determined the effects of DNA demethylation on MIEN1 expression. The most effective and commonly used global inhibitor of DNA methylation is 5-Aza-

#### Figure 1

## A

#### -1057

ccagagetgeaaaatgggaataatgaCGccagecececagtgagaggetggatgagaagggatgCGcagaaactgttggggggecacagageetgAAGA GCATCTACTGTTTTCCAGTGCAGGCAAGAAGCAGCTGCAAAAGACTGGAAAAAGCAGTTTAGAGC TTTGGGATCAGAAACACTTGTGTATGTAACTACAGGGTGGTTCCAAATGCCATCAGCAcCGggCGtgg tggeteaCGectgtaateccageaetttgggaggecaaggeaggeagateatttgaggteaggagttCGagaccagtetggCGaacatggtgaaaceetgte tetactaaaaacaaacaaacaaacaaacaaaAACTGggccaggCGCGgtggetcatgtctgtaattecagcactttaggaggcCGaggetggtggatc acctgaggtcaagagttCGagaccagcctgaccaacatgatgaaaccctgtctctactaagaatacaaaattaacCGggtgCGgtggcaCGCGcctgta gtcccagctactCGggaagctgaggcagaagaatCGcttgaaccCGggaggcagaggttgcagtgaacCGagatCGCGccattgcactccagcctg ggcaacaagagCGaaactcCGtctcaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaaGCCATCGGCATGTTAGCGAGAAAATGTCAACTAT TTCATGCATCAGCCACACCCACCCCCATCCCCAGGATGCTTGCCCCACCACTTTCTCTTTTGTA AACTGAAAAGCGCTTTGCAGTCTAAGATAGTCCATTAGAGTAAATGAAGCCATGAAGTCCAGCGG ACACCCGGGAGTGGGGAGTGGGGGAAGCCCCGGCACTCCCGGGAGACCCGGGCCAGGGAAGGAGGGTCT GGAC<u>CG</u>GACCCAGCCCCTGCC<u>CG</u>GGGAG<u>CG</u>AGCTC<u>CG</u>GAGCTGCCCTA<u>CG</u>AGGTCAAAA<mark>CG</mark>TAG CAGTGG<u>CC</u>GAGACC<u>CC</u>CAGGGGGG<mark>CC</mark>CC<mark>CG</mark>AA<mark>CC</mark>CCACCCT<u>CC</u>GCCCCCCCCCCCCAGAGGCC CAGTGGGGTCCGCATCGTGGTGGAGTACTGGTGAGCGGCCCCGGCTGGAGGACCCGCACCCTGGT CCCGCGGGCCGGACGGAGGTGGGTCCACGGGAGGCCCCACCCCGAATCCCCAGCCCAGCCCCA AGGAG +299

Transcription Start Site Translation Start Site SINE Alu Region (SEQ 1) Pre-Transcriptional Start Site Region (SEQ 2) Translation Start Site Region (SEQ 3)

## B

SINE Alu Region (SEQ 1)	CpG methylation (100% - black; ≥80% - grey; <80% - white)								
Relative to TSS	-552	-546	-538	-536	-516	494	484	-460	454
PWR-1E									
LNCaP									
DU-145									
PC-3									

## Figure 1

**MIEN1 promoter.** (**A**) MIEN1 promoter sequence from UCSC: CpG dyads and islands are underlined and in red; the SINE Alu repeat is represented in lower case. (**B**) Bisulfite sequencing based % methylation at the CpG sites within the SINE Alu region with respect to the technical control of DNA treated with SssI methyltransferase (100% methylation).
2'-deoxycitidine (5-Aza-2'dC). PWR-1E and DU-145 (which have doubling times of ~ 35 and 26 hours respectively) cells were exposed to varying concentrations of 5-Aza-2'-dC for 72 hours. The RNA and protein were extracted and subjected to qPCR and western blotting to determine the expression of MIEN1 transcript and protein. Our results clearly show an increase in MIEN1 RNA (Figure 2A) and protein (Figure 2B) in PWR-1E cells treated with 5-Aza-2'dC compared to the vehicle treatment. Interestingly, the RNA (Figure 2A) and protein (Figure 2C) levels remained unaltered in DU-145 cells upon the treatment. When we shortened the 5-Aza-2'-dC treatment to 48 hours, such that the cells would only undergo one replication cycle before collecting the RNA and protein, we observed the same patterns; an increase in MIEN1 expression in PWR-1E (Supplementary Figure 2A and 2B) and no change in DU-145 (Supplementary Figure 2A and 2C) cells. The expression of MIEN1 remained constant in PC-3 cells also (Supplementary Figure 2D). Next, to determine if the effects observed were a result of hindering maintenance DNA methyltransferase, DNMT1, we treated PWR-1E and DU-145 cells with the pharmacological inhibitor of DNMT1, procainamide (PCN), at a range of concentrations. MIEN1 expression was significantly induced at the transcriptional and protein levels after 96 hours of procainamide treatment in PWR-1E cells, which inherently express low to negligible MIEN1 (Figure 3A and 3B). As seen earlier with the 5-Aza-2'dC treatment, no induction of MIEN1 was observed in DU-145 cells upon treatment with any concentration of procainamide (Figure 3C and 3D). Additionally, procainamide treatment of PC-3 cells also showed no changes in MIEN1 expression levels (Supplementary Figure 2E and 2F). A closer look at the fold changes revealed that the MIEN1 mRNA was about 3- to 5-fold higher than the control upon 5-Aza-2'dC treatment (depending on the concentrations used), but with procainamide treatment, the maximum increase was ~2-fold, thus indicating the role of both maintenance as well as de novo methyltransferases in

Figure 2



#### Figure 2

**MIEN1 expression upon treatment with the nucleoside analog, 5-Aza-2'-deoxycitidine.** (A) qPCR showing the MIEN1 expression normalized to GAPDH (internal control) upon different concentrations of 5-Aza-2'-dC treatment in PWR-1E and DU-145 cells. (**B-C**) Western Blotting showing the MIEN1 expression upon 5-Aza-2'-dC treatment in (**B**) PWR-1E and (**C**) DU-145 cells; GAPDH was used for normalization.

The *P-values* were computed using Student's t-test between the control and the indicated concentrations of 5-Aza-2'dC treatments. \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ , \* $P \le 0.05$ .





#### Figure 3

**MIEN1 expression upon treatment with the non-nucleoside inhibitor, Procainamide.** MIEN1 expression normalized to GAPDH (internal control) upon different concentrations of Procainamide treatment in (**A-B**) PWR-1E and (**C-D**) DU-145 cells, as depicted by (**A, C**) qPCR and (**B, D**) Western blotting.

The *P*-values were computed using Student's t-test between the control and the various concentrations of procainamide.  $**P \le 0.01$ .

the methylation of the MIEN1 promoter region.

# <u>A combinatorial inhibition of DNMTs is necessary for the complete demethylation of MIEN1</u> promoter, leading to MIEN1 expression.

The use of pharmacological inhibitors is often accompanied by side effects and extreme cellular toxicity, not to mention the chances of mutation. Hence, we next used RNA interference technology to determine the effects of each individual DNMT on MIEN1 expression. The PWR-1E cells were transfected with siRNA against DNMT1, DNMT3a, DNMT3b or a combination (DNMT1, DNMT3a and DNMT3b). GFP targeting siRNA was used a non-targeting control. The qPCR analysis showed MIEN1 expression to be slightly elevated upon DNMT1 and DNMT3a knockdown (~1.5-fold), though this was not significant (Figure 4A). On the other hand, silencing all the three DNMTs significantly increased MIEN1 mRNA (Figure 4A). The efficiency of the knockdown of DNMTs was determined by qPCR of the DNMTs at the same time that MIEN1 expression was tested (Supplementary Figure 3). To validate if the increase in mRNA did indeed result in an increase in the MIEN1 protein, total protein was isolated after PWR-1E cells were transfected with siRNA against the DNMTs. DNMT3b was not knocked down since no increase in MIEN1 mRNA was observed upon DNMT3b knockdown. Our results showed an increase in MIEN1 upon knocking down the DNMTs (Figure 4B), though the combined knockdown did not have any additive effect, unlike what was seen at the mRNA level. In DU-145, the knockdown of the DNMTs led to no alteration in MIEN1 mRNA, as anticipated (Figure 4C). Taken together, these results imply that MIEN1 is indeed under the influence of methylation (DNMT1, DNMT3a and DNMT3b). In normal cells, the SINE Alu region in the MIEN1 promoter is methylated thus keeping the transcription of this gene under check; but in cancer, the hypomethylation results in transcription of the gene.





#### Figure 4

MIEN1 expression upon knockdown of DNA methyltransferases in PWR-1E. (A-B) MIEN1 expression upon different DNMT knockdown in PWR-1E cells as shown by (A) qPCR and (B) Western Blotting. (C) qPCR showing the MIEN1 expression in DU-145 cells after silencing DNMTs.

The *P*-values were computed using One-way ANOVA to compare all the groups and then followed by Tukey's Post Hoc comparison to obtain the pairwise significances between the treatments. \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ ; \*\* $P \le 0.01$ .

#### Activity of MIEN1 promoter is influenced by SINE Alu.

To determine the MIEN1 promoter activity, we cloned the different fragments upstream of pGL3-Luciferase vector as described in the methods. Since our results show that methylation reduces the transcription of MIEN1, we constructed fragments of the putative promoter with and without the SINE Alu repeat (Figure 5A and 5B). The reporter assay confirmed our previous findings; the plasmids containing the SINE Alu region (-674/+99, -581/+99) exhibited significantly lower promoter activity compared to plasmids lacking the SINE Alu (-314/+99) in DU-145 (Figure 5C) and PWR-1E (Supplementary Figure 4) cells.

Next, we wanted to determine if the -460 and -454 sites in the SINE Alu region played a role in suppressing the promoter activity, since these sites were 100% methylated in DU-145 cells, according to the bisulfite sequencing (Figure 1B). We transfected DU-145 cells with the various plasmids (Figure 6A) and evaluated the luciferase activity. Our results showed that though the loss of -460 and -454 sites significantly increased the luminescence compared to the cells transfected with the plasmid containing the SINE Alu region, this increase was not significantly different from the loss of the complete SINE Alu (Figure 6B).

It is known that an interplay between various cellular mechanisms and gene repression by methylation exists. We sought to identify elements in the proximity of the transcription start site that could assist the epigenetic regulation by the SINE Alu (Figure 6A). TFSEARCH analysis of the sequence, with stringent parameters, predicted binding sites for Myeloid Zinc Finger 1 (MZF1) and upstream stimulatory factor (USF) (Figure 6C). The luciferase reporter assay showed no significant difference in the activity when the site for MZF1 was deleted; but then loss of the region containing the USF binding site (between -127 and -3) very significantly abrogated the transcriptional activity (Figure 6B).

Figure 5



#### Figure 5

Activity of MIEN1 promoter is influenced by SINE Alu. (A) Schematic representation of the regions tested for methylation status. (B) Cloning of MIEN1 putative promoter regions in pGL3-basic vector. (C) Promoter activity of different MIEN1 promoter constructs, after transfection, read out as relative (Firefly/*Renilla* ratio) luminescence signals.

The *P*-values were computed using Student's t-test between the constructs containing the SINE Alu repeat (-674/+99, -581/+99) and the construct without the SINE Alu (-314/+99). \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ ; \*\* $P \le 0.01$ .





-600 CTGACCAACA TGATGAAACC CTGTCTCTAC TAAGAATACA AAATTAACCG
 -550 GGTGCGGTGG CACGCGCCTG TAGTCCCAGC TACTCGGGAA GCTGAGGCAG
 -500 AAGAATCGCT TGAACCCGGG AGGCAGAGGT TGCAGTGAAC CGAGATCGCG
 -450 CCATTGCACT CCAGCCTGGG CAACAAGAGC GAAACTCCGT CTCAAAAAAA
 -400 AAAAAAAAAA AAATGCCATC GGCATGTTAG CGAGAAAATG TCAACTATTT
 -350 CATGCATCAG CCACACCCAC CCCCATCCCC AGGATGCTTG CCCCACCACT
 -300 TTCTCTTTCT TTTGTAAACT GAAAAGCGCT TTGCAGTCTA AGATAGTCCA
 MZF1

-250 TTAGAGTAAA TGAAGCCATG AAGTCCAGCG GACACCGGGA GTGGGGAGTG
 -200 GGGAAGCCCG GCACTCCGGG AGACCGGGCC AGGGAAGGAG GGTCTGGACC
 -150 GGACCCAGCC CCTGCCCGGG GAGCGAGCTC CGGAGCTGCC CTACGAGGTC
 -100 AAAACGTAGC AGTGGCGGAG ACCCGCAGGG GGCGCCCGAA CGCCACCCTC

-50 GGCCCCTCCC CGCTCCAGAG GCCCCGCCCC GT +1 GTCACACCCG GAAGCAGGGG CCCGAGCGGA GCCGGCCGCG ATGAGCGGGG +51 AGCCGGGGCA GACGTCCGTA GCGCCCCCTC CCGAGGAGGT CGAGCCGGG

#### Figure 6

**Regulatory elements in the MIEN1 promoter.** (A) Cloning of various regions upstream of MIEN1 transcription start site into pGL3-basic vector. (B) Relative luminescence (Firefly/*Renilla* ratio) obtained upon transfecting cells with the different pGL3 constructs. (C) The -600 to +99 region that contained the SINE Alu region and the proximal putative promoter of MIEN1 based on the known transcription start site (NCBI, UCSC) was used as the template, with a threshold set higher than default, in TFSEARCH software to obtain the putative transcription factor binding motifs in the region.

The *P*-values were computed using One-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's Post Hoc test for pairwise comparisons. For promoter activity, the difference between every two consecutive constructs was considered relevant. \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ .

#### Discussion

Cancer progression is a very complex process involving deregulation at various levels [25]. Prostate cancer is one of the few cancers where patients have a high survival chance, if the cancer is diagnosed at an early stage. Despite this advancement, the mortality associated with this cancer is very high. Prostate cancer related death is the result of metastasis [13]. The complexity of the metastatic cascade including the extensive cross-talk [26] that occurs has made treating this aggressive cancer a challenging task. Since cancer is the culmination of alterations at the chromosomal, DNA, RNA and protein levels, logically, the attempts to treat cancer should first involve gaining a better understanding of the altered gene regulatory mechanisms and the molecules that play a role in the process(es) of cancer progression.

MIEN1, a novel gene in the 17q12 region of the human chromosome, plays an important role in prostate cancer progression by enhancing the migration and invasion of cells [21]. This is achieved by activation of the Akt/NF- $\kappa$ B pathway, thereby mediating an increase in certain proteases (MMP-9 and uPA) and angiogenic factors (VEGF), and by altering the actin cytoskeleton structures, namely filopodia, to propel cellular movement [21, 27, 28]. Studies have revealed that MIEN1 expression has poor prognosis for breast cancer [20, 29], and that its interaction with  $\Delta$ Np73 promotes cisplatin resistance in ovarian cancer [30]. MIEN1 was also implicated to be a "driver" gene in breast and ovarian cancers where HER2/*neu* amplification is evident [22]. In prostate cancer, MIEN1 overexpression led to increased metastatic colonization of the cancer cells [27]. Given that MIEN1 is highly expressed in cancers (breast, prostate, ovarian, oral) compared to normal cells and tissues [20, 21, 30], and that it plays an important role in cancer progression, it was essential to find the mechanism of its regulation in order to use it as a target. MicroRNA mediated regulation of MIEN1 by hsa-miR-940 (submitted), explained how the MIEN1 mRNA in cells could be prevented from translating into the functional protein. This did not provide any concrete evidence of whether the transcriptional activation machinery for MIEN1 was inherently higher in cancer compared to normal cells.

Epigenetic modifications are key in regulating transcription of genes [2, 9]. Epigenetic modifications include alteration to the histone and/or DNA. DNA methylation is highly deregulated in many cancers [7, 14, 19]. Overall, the belief is that DNA hypermethylation in promoters of specific tumor-suppression related genes causes their repression in cancer. This is accompanied by global hypomethylation of repeat elements causing genomic instability [4, 10]. Even though most of the focus in the past has been with respect to gene-centric hypermethylation, there are increasing reports supporting the importance of hypomethylation in cancer [3, 11, 12, 12, 16-19, 31-34]. Some studies even show that the differences between normal and cancer are more pronounced in terms of hypomethylation status as the cancer progresses and this distinction is at its peak in castration resistant prostate cancers [12, 35]. With the current technology to perform genome wide studies, attempts to identify new biomarkers, for early diagnosis, based on the methylation pattern variance between cancer and normal cells are underway [3, 8, 10, 11, 34, 36]. As a treatment modality, inhibiting global methylation rather than a gene-centric demethylation, has been tried under the premise that such treatments will reactivate the tumor suppressors [2, 7, 18, 37, 38]. Nevertheless, due to the non-specific de-repression mechanism, along with tumor suppressor and cell cycle regulation associated genes, these agents may, in the long run, enhance global hypomethylation which may involve activating tumor promoting genes, resulting in amplification of genomic instability [4, 17]. A perfect example to this scenario is the increase observed in urokinase plasminogen activator because of its demethylation, leading to a more invasive prostate cancer phenotype [31, 33]. Hence, the success of methylation based therapies

reside in identification of the methylation status of target genes that are not only indicative but also integral to cancer progression, and then perform gene specific methylation or demethylation.

In this study, the sequence analysis of the putative MIEN1 promoter region in immortalized normal epithelial cells and prostate cancer cells revealed a constant pattern of hypomethylation of the SINE Alu segment in cancer cells. This is in agreement with the existing literature that SINE Alu regions are very commonly hypomethylated in cancers. The SINE Alu elements belong to class of gene regulatory elements called retrotransposons [24, 39] which have been shown to become less mobile upon genetic regulation [6, 40]. A genome wide study conducted showed that the SINEs enriched in cancers tend to be close to the transcriptional start sites of genes that are hardly methylated in cancer [5, 6], implying the presence of this region less than 550 bases from the transcription start site of MIEN1 to be strong indicator of lower methylation of MIEN1. Also, of the three predicted regions, only the SINE Alu region seemed to show any distinction in terms of methylation between the cancer and normal cells, suggesting the importance of such repeat elements in gene regulation in cancer.

The use of 5-Aza-2'dC as an epigenetic modulator in solid tumors has many associated complications including induction of mutations, lack of stability and cytotoxicity to normal cells, including the neutrophils [2]. Yet, from a molecular biology stand-point, this is the most potent demethylating agent [41], affecting methylation by all the DNA methyltransferases, justifying its use to determine the methylation based regulation of a gene. The immortalized normal epithelial cells exhibited an increase in MIEN1 upon treatment with 5-Aza-2'dC, but no concomitant increase in cancer cells was observed, implying the existence of complete demethylation in cancer instead of a hemimethylated state. Though the toxic effects of the nucleoside analogs was overcome with the use of non-nucleoside inhibitors of methylation, these molecules were in

general much less effective than the former in inhibiting global methylation [42-44]. Procainamide, a specific DNMT1 inhibitor, has been widely studied under this category of drugs [44] primarily due to its existing approval to treat cardiovascular diseases [45]. In this study, though procainamide treatment increased MIEN1 transcript, a more pronounced effect, comparable to 5-Aza-2'dC mediated increase, was achieved only upon silencing all the DNMTs. In contrast, the MIEN1 protein levels were not remarkably different between inhibition of only DNMT1 (by procainamide or siDNMT1) or all the DNMTs, implying the interplay of other factors in RNA and/or protein stabilization when individual DNMTs are targeted.

The presence of SINE repeats in a region near a protein coding gene (usually, gene promoter) has been shown to alter the gene transcription by providing binding access to promoter and enhancer elements for the gene activation, thus leading to oncogenic signaling, during cancer progression [5, 6]. TFSEARCH showed a binding site for USF in the MIEN1 putative promoter, from site -18 to -13 relative to the transcription start site [46]. USF is known to bind to E-box consensus sequence CACGTG and result in overall increase in transcription [47, 48]. This is accomplished by USF first recruiting histone modifying enzymes, leading to H3K4 methylation and histone acetylation at multiple sites, which then acts as a barrier for H3K9 methylation, thereby preventing chromatin condensation and heterochromatin spreading [49]. Reports show that genes bound by USF have a higher chance of possessing a SINE repeat [5]. In terms of Alu elements of the SINE family specifically though, there is an equal likelihood of USF binding to a CpG rich or a non-CpG containing promoter. Also, the fraction of bound to unbound sites is almost equal in either case [5]. While methylation of the E-box element reduces USF binding, USF binding in gene promoters insulates SINE repeat based gene inactivation better than unbound E-box site [5, 47]. Hence, further studies are not only needed to confirm the USF binding in the MIEN1 promoter

(which could lead to aberrant gene activation in cancer), but also to determine the differences in methylation status of the CpG in the E-box and binding of USF between normal and cancer cells. Also, the clinical correlation of this methylation pattern is warranted in order to consider epigenetic targeting of MIEN1.

In conclusion, this study is the first to identify methylation as an important modulator of MIEN1 in prostate cancer progression. With our *in vitro* studies, we established that the SINE Alu in the MIEN1 putative promoter region is hypermethylated in normal cells. The methylation of the MIEN1 putative promoter is dependent on both *de novo* as well as maintenance methyltransferases. Loss of this methylation could potentially open the chromatin structure and make the MIEN1 promoter accessible for transcriptional activation, thereby increasing processes of metastasis, including migration, invasion and EMT. Together, this is an important finding contributing to the knowledge of methylation based regulation of tumor promoting genes in prostate cancer.

#### **Materials and Methods**

<u>*Cell lines and cell culture*</u> - Human prostate carcinoma cells DU-145 (ATCC HTB-81), and PC-3 (ATCC CRL-1435) were maintained in RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Life Technologies). Immortalized non-tumorigenic prostate epithelial cell line PWR-1E (ATCC CRL-11611) was maintained in Keratinocyte-SFM (Life Technologies) supplemented with bovine pituitary extract (25  $\mu$ g/ml) and recombinant epidermal growth factor (0.15 ng/ml). Cells were cultured at 37°C with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

<u>Genomic DNA isolation, bisulfite modification and sequencing</u> - Genomic DNA from PWR-1E, LNCaP, DU-145 and PC-3 cells was isolated using the Genomic DNA isolation kit (Sigma) according to manufacturer's protocol. Bisulfite treatment and sequencing were carried out at University of Nebraska Medical Center. Bisulfite treatment was carried out using 1000 ng of the genomic DNA and the EZ DNA Methylation-Direct kit (Zymo Research, Orange, CA), to deaminate the unmethylated cytosine residues to uracil and leave methylated cytosine residues unchanged. To perform PCR reactions, 32 ng of bisulfite-modified DNA was used as template. The PCR reactions were performed in a total volume of 25 µl for 35 cycles using Roche Diagnostic Corporation (Indianapolis, IN) FastStart Taq DNA Polymerase (1.0U), MgCl2 solution (3.5 mM), dNTP's (0.2 mM), sense primer (0.24  $\mu$ M), antisense primer (0.18  $\mu$ M) (Supplementary Table 1), with denaturation at 95 °C for 30 seconds, annealing temperature for 45 seconds at annealing temperature indicated in Supplementary Table 1, and extension at 72 °C for 1 minute. A bisulfite sequencing (BSP) primer set was used to PCR and capture the sequence that contained the region to be analyzed. This was necessary to identify this specific region that contained a repetitive SINE Alu element. This PCR product was used as the template for the internal pyrosequencing primer sets SEQ1, SEQ2 and SEQ3 (Supplementary Table 1). All PCR products were electrophoresed on 0.8% agarose gel, stained with ethidium bromide, and visualized for appropriate and pure product before proceeding with all analyses using a Bio-Rad Laboratories (Hercules, CA) Gel-Doc UV illuminator. Methylation percentage of each CpG were determined using a Qiagen (Valencia, CA) Pyromark Q24 pyrosequencer and sequencing primer indicated in Supplementary Table 1, according to manufacturer's recommendations. This experiment was performed once.

<u>Chemicals and treatments</u> - 5-Aza-2'dC and Procainamide were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich and dissolved in DMSO and water respectively. The 1mM 5-Aza-2'dC and freshly prepared 1M Procainamide stock solutions were further diluted in the media (Keratinocyte-SFM or RPMI 1640) to obtain the appropriate final concentrations, as indicated for each treatment. The media with the chemical was carefully added to cells which were seeded one day before and placed in the incubator for the duration of the experiment. Whenever the duration of the treatment was over 48 hours, fresh media with the same concentrations of the chemicals was added to the cells without removing the existing media.

RNA isolation and qPCR - Total RNA was isolated using TRIzol (Life Technologies) and quantified. Equal amount of RNA was used for the one-step qPCR performed using the Superscript III SYBR Green qRT-PCR kits, according to manufacturer's instructions (Life Technologies) on a Mastercycler ep gradient S realplex<sup>2</sup> thermal cycler (Eppendorf). The primers were designed using Primer 3 [50]and synthesized by Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, IA). The sequences of the primers used are: MIEN1 FP-5'cagtgctgtggagcagt3', MIEN1 RP-5'gacggctgttggtgatcttt3'; GAPDH FP-5'gagcgagatccctccaa3', GAPDH RP-5'actgtggtcatgagtccttc3'; DNMT1 FP-5'tacctggacgaccctgacctc3', DNMT1 RP-5'cgttggcatcaaagatggaca3'; DNMT3a FP-5'tattgatgagcgcacaagagagc3', DNMT3a RP-5'gggtgttccagggtaacattgag3'; DNMT3b FP-5'ggcaagttctccgaggtctctg3', and DNMT3b RP-5'tggtacatggcttttcgatagga3'.

<u>Antibodies and Western Blotting</u> - The following primary and secondary antibodies were used: Mouse monoclonal MIEN1 (Abnova), mouse monoclonal GAPDH (Santa Cruz Biotechnology), rabbit DNMT1 and DNMT3a (Cell Signaling Technology), and anti-mouse-HRP conjugated and anti-rabbit-HRP conjugated IgG (Promega). Western blotting was performed according to standard protocols. Briefly, once the total protein was isolated using NP-40 lysis buffer, the concentration was estimated using the standard Micro BCA Protein Assay Kit (Pierce Biotechnology). Equal quantity of protein for each sample was run in NuPAGE® Novex® 4-12% Bis-Tris Gels prior to transferring onto nitrocellulose membranes using an iBlot (Life Technologies). The membranes were blocked in 5% non-fat dry milk and subjected to primary and secondary antibodies before the chemiluminescent reaction was captured by the AlphaImager (ProteinSimple).

<u>*Transfections*</u> - The smart pool siRNAs against GFP, DNMT1, DNMT3a and DNMT3b were obtained from Dharmacon (Thermo Fisher Scientific) and used at the final concentration of 100nM. The siRNA transfections for RNA interference were performed using Lipofectamine RNAiMAX according to the manufacturer's protocols (Life Technologies). The plasmids (described below) were transfected using Lipofectamine LTX and Plus reagent according to the manufacturer's instructions (Life Technologies).

Plasmids and Luciferase Assay - The Firefly-luciferase plasmid, pGL3-basic, a kind gift from Dr. Myoung Kim (UNT Health Science Center, Fort Worth, TX) was used to construct the different reporter plasmids to measure MIEN1 promoter activity. A series of DNA fragments comprising of -674 (KpnI-5'-ctgggccaggcgcggtacctcatgtctgtaattc-3'), the nucleotides -581 (KpnI-5'gcctgaccaacatgatggtaccctgtctctactaaga-3'), -468 (KpnI-5'-cgggaggcagaggtaccagtgaaccgagat-3'), -454 (MluI-5'-gtgaaccgagaacgcgtcattgcactccag-3'), -314 (NheI-5'-catccccaggatgctagccccaccacttt-3'), -215 (KpnI-5'-gaagtccagcgggtaccgggagtgG-3'), -127(NheI-5'-cggggagctagctccggagct-3') or -3(MluI-5'-tgcccgcggtacgcgtcacac-3') to +99 (XhoI-5'-cccggctcgagctcctcgggag-3'), relative to the know transcription start site of MIEN1, were PCR amplified and cloned at the KpnI/XhoI or NheI/XhoI or MluI/XhoI sites, upstream of the luciferase gene in pGL3-basic vector. After the sequences were verified (Seqwright), luciferase assay was performed with the plasmids using the dual luciferase assay kit (Promega), according to the manufacturer's instructions and luminescence was measured by a Synergy2 Alpha Microplate Reader (BioTek). In short, the cells were transiently transfected with the firefly pGL3-constructs and *Renilla* pRL-CMV (a kind gift from

Dr. Porunellor Mathew at UNT Health Science Center, Fort Worth, TX) plasmids. Approximately 72 hours after transfection, cells were lysed and both the firefly and *Renilla* luciferase activities from the extracts were detected. The relative luminescence was calculated as a ratio of firefly to *Renilla* luminescence (normalization of firefly with respect to *Renilla* luminescence to account for inter-sample variability). The relative luminescence obtained for -314 to +99 pGL3 construct was designated as 100% and the % relative luminescence was correspondingly calculated for the other plasmids. Each construct was transfected at least five independent times and the relative luminescence for each sample was the average of at least three readings.

<u>Statistical analyses</u> - The results were represented as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M of three independent experiments, unless indicated otherwise. The *p*-value was calculated according to Student's t-test, or one-way ANOVA with Tukey's Post Hoc test, based on the comparisons made, using GraphPad P-value calculator. *P*-value  $\leq$  0.05 was considered significant.

# **A**

#### -1057

ttagagttgtaaaatgggaataatggCGttagttttttagtgagaggttggatgagaagggatgCGtagaaattgttggggggtatagagtttgAAGAGTATTaaataaaAAATTGggttaggCGCGgtggtttatgtttgtaattttagtattttaggaggtCGaggttggtggattatttgaggttaagagttCGagattagttgattaatatgatgaaattttgtttttattaagaatataaaattaatCGggtggtaCGCGtttgtagttttagttattCGggaagttgaggtagaagaatCGaaTGTTATCGGTATGTTAGCGAGAAAATGTTAATTATTTTATGTATTAGTTATATTTATTTTATTTTT AGGATGTTTGTTATTATTATTTTTTTTTTTTTTTGTAAAATGAAAAGCGTTTTGTAGTTTAAGATAGTT TATTAGAGTAAATGAAGTTATGAAGTTTAG<mark>CG</mark>GATAT<mark>CG</mark>GGAGTGGGGGAAGTGGGGAAGTT<mark>CG</mark>GTA TTT<u>CG</u>GGAGATCGGGTTAGGGAAGGAGGGTTTGGATCGGATTTAGTTTTGTTCGGGGGAGCGAGT TT<u>CC</u>GAGTTGTTTTA<mark>CG</mark>AGGTTAAAA<mark>CG</mark>TAGTAGTGG<mark>CG</mark>GAGATT<mark>CG</mark>TAGGGGGG<mark>CG</mark>TTCGAACGT TATTTTCGGTTTTTTTTCCGTTTAGAGGTTTCGTTTCCGTGTCGCCGGTTCGCGTTATATTC GAAGTAGGG<mark>GTT<mark>CG</mark>AG<mark>CG</mark>GAGT<u>CG</u>GT<mark>CGCG</mark>ATG</mark>AG<mark>CG</mark>GGGAGT<u>CG</u>GGGTAGA<u>CG</u>TT<u>CG</u>TAG<u>CG</u> TTTTTTTT<mark>CG</mark>AGGAGGT<mark>CG</mark>AGT<u>CG</u>GGTAGTGGGGTT<mark>CG</mark>TAT<u>CG</u>TGGAGTATTGGTGAGCGGTT TCGGTTGGAGGATTCGTTTTGGTTTCGCCGGGTCGGAGGTGGGTTTACGGGAGGTTTAT TTTCGAATTTTAGTTTAGTTTTATTTTTTGATTTTTTAGTGAATTTTGCGGGTTTCGAGGCGAT TTGGAGTTGGTTAGTGTTGTGAAGGAG +299

#### B

Pre-transcription Start Site Region (SEQ 2)	CpG methylation (> 15 – black; ≥ 10% - grey; < 10% - white)										
Relative to TSS	-151	-134	-127	-120	-107	-96	-85	-77	-68	-64	-60
PWR-1E											
LNCaP											
DU-145											
PC-3											

#### С

Translation Start Site Region (SEQ 3)	CpG methylation (> 15−black; ≥ 10% - grey; < 10% - white)														
<b>Relative to TSS</b>	23	27	33	37	39	46	54	63	67	72	82	91	96	110	115
PWR-1E															
LNCaP															
DU-145															
PC-3															

**MIEN1 promoter.** (**A**) Sequence that will be obtained upon bisulfite treatment if all the CpGs in the regions of interest are methylated. The three regions of interest here are represented in yellow (SINE Alu), green (Pre-transcription start site) and blue (Translation start site). The primers used are indicated in other colors as in Supplementary Table 1. (**B**) Bisulfite sequencing based % methylation at the CpG sites within the pre-transcription start site region. (**C**) Bisulfite sequencing based % methylation at the CpG sites within the translation start site region.



**MIEN1 expression upon treatment with pharmacological inhibitors.** (**A-D**) Nucleoside analog, 5-Aza-2'-deoxycitidine treatment: (**A**) qPCR showing the MIEN1 expression in PWR-1E and DU-145 cells, (**B-C**) Western Blotting showing the MIEN1 expression in (**B**) PWR-1E and (**C**) DU-145 cells, (**D**) qPCR showing the MIEN1 expression in PC-3 cells. (**E-F**) Treatment with the non-nucleoside inhibitor, Procainamide showing MIEN1 expression in PC-3 cells, as depicted by (**E**) qPCR and (**F**) Western blotting. GAPDH was used for normalization.





siDNMT Combo

**qPCR for DNMTs.** DNMT1, DNMT3a and DNMT3b expression in PWR-1E upon knockdown of DNA methyltransferases, DNMT1, DNMT3a, DNMT3b or the combination of DNMT1, 3a and 3b compared with the respective control non-targeting knockdown.

The *P-values* were computed using one-way ANOVA between the groups for each mRNA measured (mRNA: DNMT1, DNMT3a or DNMT3b; groups: siNT, siDNMT1, siDNMT3a, siDNMT3b and siDNMT Combo), followed by the Post Hoc test to obtain the pairwise significances between the groups. \*\*\* $P \le 0.001$ ; \*\* $P \le 0.01$ ; \* $P \le 0.05$ .



Activity of MIEN1 promoter is influenced by SINE Alu. (Left) pGL3 plasmids cloned with the different MIEN1 putative promoter regions. (**Right**) Promoter activity of different MIEN1 promoter constructs, after transfection in PWR-1E, read out as relative (Firefly/*Renilla* ratio) luminescence signals.

The *P*-values were computed using Student's t-test between two consecutive constructs.  $*P \le 0.05$ .

## Supplementary Table 1

	Sequence		Anneal
	Sequence	(bp)	(°C)
BSP Sense primer (5' to 3')	GGTTGGTGGATTATTTGAGGTTAAGAG	025	(2
BSP Anti-sense primer (5' to 3')	СТТСАСААСАСТААССААСТССАААТАА	935	03
SEQ 1 Sense primer (5' to 3')	GAAATTTTGTTTTTATTAAGAATATAA	164	58
SEQ 1 Anti-sense primer (5' to 3')	ТСТТАТТАСССАААСТААААТАСААТА	104	- 30
SEQ 1 Sequencing Primer (5' to 3')	TTTTTATTAAGAATATAAAATT		
SEQ 2 Sense primer (5' to 3')	GGAGATYGGGTTAGGGAAGGAGGGTTT	1(1	
SEQ 2 Anti-sense primer (5' to 3')	AAACRAAACCTCTAAAAACRAAAAAAAAAA	101	02
SEQ 2 Sequencing Primer (5' to 3')	GGTTAGGGAAGGAGGGTTTG		
SEQ 2 Sense primer (5' to 3')	GTTYGYGTTATATTYGGAAGTAGGG	150	()
SEQ 2 Anti-sense primer (5' to 3')	CAACCRAAACCRCTCACCAATACTCCAC	152	02
SEQ 2 Sequencing Primer (5' to 3')	TTATATTYGGAAGTAGGGG		

Primers for PCR amplification of the promoter regions and for bisulfite sequencing.

#### References

1. Holliday R: The inheritance of epigenetic defects. Science 1987, 238(4824):163-170.

2. Egger G, Liang G, Aparicio A, Jones PA: Epigenetics in human disease and prospects for epigenetic therapy. Nature 2004, 429(6990):457-463.

3. Jeronimo C, Bastian PJ, Bjartell A, Carbone GM, Catto JW, Clark SJ, Henrique R, Nelson WG, Shariat SF: Epigenetics in prostate cancer: biologic and clinical relevance. Eur Urol 2011, 60(4):753-766.

4. Ehrlich M: DNA methylation in cancer: too much, but also too little. Oncogene 2002, 21(35):5400-5413.

5. Estecio MR, Gallegos J, Dekmezian M, Lu Y, Liang S, Issa JP: SINE retrotransposons cause epigenetic reprogramming of adjacent gene promoters. Mol Cancer Res 2012, 10(10):1332-1342.

6. Estecio MR, Gallegos J, Vallot C, Castoro RJ, Chung W, Maegawa S, Oki Y, Kondo Y, Jelinek

J, Shen L, Hartung H, Aplan PD, Czerniak BA, Liang S, Issa JP: Genome architecture marked by retrotransposons modulates predisposition to DNA methylation in cancer. Genome Res 2010, 20(10):1369-1382.

 Baylin SB: DNA methylation and gene silencing in cancer. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 2005, 2 Suppl 1:S4-11.

Laird PW: The power and the promise of DNA methylation markers. Nat Rev Cancer 2003, 3(4):253-266.

9. Clarke MF: Epigenetic regulation of normal and cancer stem cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2005, 1044:90-93.

10. Cho NY, Kim BH, Choi M, Yoo EJ, Moon KC, Cho YM, Kim D, Kang GH: Hypermethylation of CpG island loci and hypomethylation of LINE-1 and Alu repeats in prostate adenocarcinoma and their relationship to clinicopathological features. J Pathol 2007, 211(3):269-277.

11. Andres G, Ashour N, Sanchez-Chapado M, Ropero S, Angulo JC: The study of DNA methylation in urological cancer: present and future. Actas Urol Esp 2013, 37(6):368-375.

12. Brothman AR, Swanson G, Maxwell TM, Cui J, Murphy KJ, Herrick J, Speights VO, Isaac J, Rohr LR: Global hypomethylation is common in prostate cancer cells: a quantitative predictor for clinical outcome? Cancer Genet Cytogenet 2005, 156(1):31-36.

13. Siegel R, Ma J, Zou Z, Jemal A: Cancer statistics, 2014. CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians 2014, 64(1):9-29.

 Goering W, Kloth M, Schulz WA: DNA methylation changes in prostate cancer. Methods Mol Biol 2012, 863:47-66.

15. Ahmed H: Promoter methylation in prostate cancer and its application for the early detection of prostate cancer using serum and urine samples. Biomark Cancer 2010, 2:17-33.

16. Vestergaard EM, Nexo E, Torring N, Borre M, Orntoft TF, Sorensen KD: Promoter hypomethylation and upregulation of trefoil factors in prostate cancer. Int J Cancer 2010, 127(8):1857-1865.

17. Feinberg AP, Vogelstein B: Hypomethylation distinguishes genes of some human cancers from their normal counterparts. Nature 1983, 301(5895):89-92.

18. Wang Q, Williamson M, Bott S, Brookman-Amissah N, Freeman A, Nariculam J, Hubank MJ, Ahmed A, Masters JR: Hypomethylation of WNT5A, CRIP1 and S100P in prostate cancer. Oncogene 2007, 26(45):6560-6565.

19. Ehrlich M: DNA hypomethylation in cancer cells. Epigenomics 2009, 1(2):239-259.

20. Evans EE, Henn AD, Jonason A, Paris MJ, Schiffhauer LM, Borrello MA, Smith ES, Sahasrabudhe DM, Zauderer M: C35 (C17orf37) is a novel tumor biomarker abundantly expressed in breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 2006, 5(11):2919-2930.

21. Dasgupta S, Wasson LM, Rauniyar N, Prokai L, Borejdo J, Vishwanatha JK: Novel gene C17orf37 in 17q12 amplicon promotes migration and invasion of prostate cancer cells. Oncogene 2009, 28(32):2860-2872.

22. Cheng WY, Ou Yang TH, Anastassiou D: Biomolecular events in cancer revealed by attractor metagenes. PLoS Comput Biol 2013, 9(2):e1002920.

23. Liu QQ, Yin K, Zhu S, Zhang L, Wen PE, Li CL, Zhang DB, Liu M, Yan G: Inhibition of C35 gene expression by small interfering RNA induces apoptosis of breast cancer cells. Biosci Trends 2010, 4(5):254-259.

24. Hasler J, Strub K: Alu elements as regulators of gene expression. Nucleic Acids Res 2006, 34(19):5491-5497.

25. Valastyan S, Weinberg RA: Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell 2011, 147(2):275-292.

26. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA: Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011, 144(5):646-674.

27. Dasgupta S, Cushman I, Kpetemey M, Casey PJ, Vishwanatha JK: Prenylated c17orf37 induces filopodia formation to promote cell migration and metastasis. J Biol Chem 2011, 286(29):25935-25946.

28. Hsu CH, Shen TL, Chang CF, Chang YY, Huang LY: Solution structure of the oncogenic MIEN1 protein reveals a thioredoxin-like fold with a redox-active motif. PLoS One 2012, 7(12):e52292.

29. Katz E, Dubois-Marshall S, Sims AH, Faratian D, Li J, Smith ES, Quinn JA, Edward M, Meehan RR, Evans EE, Langdon SP, Harrison DJ: A gene on the HER2 amplicon, C35, is an oncogene in breast cancer whose actions are prevented by inhibition of Syk. Br J Cancer 2010, 103(3):401-410.

30. Leung TH, Wong SC, Chan KK, Chan DW, Cheung AN, Ngan HY: The interaction between C35 and DeltaNp73 promotes chemo-resistance in ovarian cancer cells. Br J Cancer 2013, 109(4):965-975.

31. Pakneshan P, Xing RH, Rabbani SA: Methylation status of uPA promoter as a molecular mechanism regulating prostate cancer invasion and growth in vitro and in vivo. FASEB J 2003, 17(9):1081-1088.

32. Shukeir N, Pakneshan P, Chen G, Szyf M, Rabbani SA: Alteration of the methylation status of tumor-promoting genes decreases prostate cancer cell invasiveness and tumorigenesis in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Res 2006, 66(18):9202-9210.

33. Pulukuri SM, Estes N, Patel J, Rao JS: Demethylation-linked activation of urokinase plasminogen activator is involved in progression of prostate cancer. Cancer Res 2007, 67(3):930-939.

34. Nakayama M, Gonzalgo ML, Yegnasubramanian S, Lin X, De Marzo AM, Nelson WG: GSTP1 CpG island hypermethylation as a molecular biomarker for prostate cancer. J Cell Biochem 2004, 91(3):540-552.

35. Yegnasubramanian S, Haffner MC, Zhang Y, Gurel B, Cornish TC, Wu Z, Irizarry RA, Morgan J, Hicks J, DeWeese TL, Isaacs WB, Bova GS, De Marzo AM, Nelson WG: DNA hypomethylation arises later in prostate cancer progression than CpG island hypermethylation and contributes to metastatic tumor heterogeneity. Cancer Res 2008, 68(21):8954-8967.

36. Hoque MO: DNA methylation changes in prostate cancer: current developments and future clinical implementation. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2009, 9(3):243-257.

37. O'Rourke CJ, Knabben V, Bolton E, Moran D, Lynch T, Hollywood D, Perry AS: Manipulating the epigenome for the treatment of urological malignancies. Pharmacol Ther 2013, 138(2):185-196.

38. Perry AS, Watson RW, Lawler M, Hollywood D: The epigenome as a therapeutic target in prostate cancer. Nat Rev Urol 2010, 7(12):668-680.

39. Tomilin NV: Control of genes by mammalian retroposons. Int Rev Cytol 1999, 186:1-48.

40. Zhang W, Edwards A, Fan W, Deininger P, Zhang K: Alu distribution and mutation types of cancer genes. BMC Genomics 2011, 12:157-2164-12-157.

41. Christman JK: 5-Azacytidine and 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine as inhibitors of DNA methylation: mechanistic studies and their implications for cancer therapy. Oncogene 2002, 21(35):5483-5495.
42. Chuang JC, Yoo CB, Kwan JM, Li TW, Liang G, Yang AS, Jones PA: Comparison of biological effects of non-nucleoside DNA methylation inhibitors versus 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine. Mol Cancer Ther 2005, 4(10):1515-1520.

43. Singh N, Duenas-Gonzalez A, Lyko F, Medina-Franco JL: Molecular modeling and molecular dynamics studies of hydralazine with human DNA methyltransferase 1. ChemMedChem 2009, 4(5):792-799.

44. Lee BH, Yegnasubramanian S, Lin X, Nelson WG: Procainamide is a specific inhibitor of DNA methyltransferase 1. J Biol Chem 2005, 280(49):40749-40756.

45. Segura-Pacheco B, Trejo-Becerril C, Perez-Cardenas E, Taja-Chayeb L, Mariscal I, Chavez A, Acuna C, Salazar AM, Lizano M, Duenas-Gonzalez A: Reactivation of tumor suppressor genes
by the cardiovascular drugs hydralazine and procainamide and their potential use in cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2003, 9(5):1596-1603.

46. Heinemeyer T, Wingender E, Reuter I, Hermjakob H, Kel AE, Kel OV, Ignatieva EV, Ananko EA, Podkolodnaya OA, Kolpakov FA, Podkolodny NL, Kolchanov NA: Databases on transcriptional regulation: TRANSFAC, TRRD and COMPEL. Nucleic Acids Res 1998, 26(1):362-367.

47. Chen B, Hsu R, Li Z, Kogut PC, Du Q, Rouser K, Camoretti-Mercado B, Solway J: Upstream stimulatory factor 1 activates GATA5 expression through an E-box motif. Biochem J 2012, 446(1):89-98.

48. Matsuda M, Tamura K, Wakui H, Maeda A, Ohsawa M, Kanaoka T, Azushima K, Uneda K, Haku S, Tsurumi-Ikeya Y, Toya Y, Maeshima Y, Yamashita A, Umemura S: Upstream stimulatory factors 1 and 2 mediate the transcription of angiotensin II binding and inhibitory protein. J Biol Chem 2013, 288(26):19238-19249.

49. West AG, Huang S, Gaszner M, Litt MD, Felsenfeld G: Recruitment of histone modifications by USF proteins at a vertebrate barrier element. Mol Cell 2004, 16(3):453-463.

50. Koressaar T, Remm M: Enhancements and modifications of primer design program Primer3.Bioinformatics 2007, 23(10):1289-1291.

## **CHAPTER V**

### SUMMARY AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

#### **Discussion and Implications in Cancer**

Over a century ago, Dr. Theodor Boveri, a German biologist, made some predictions about cancer initiation and progression. The understanding we have gained through experiments confirm that his predictions are alarmingly accurate; right from the presence of cell cycle checkpoints, oncogenes and tumor suppressors, tumor progression and genetic predisposition, to the sensitivity of cancer cells to radiation [1]. Apart from the proof of existence of these phenomena, various scientists have also tried to provide explanations on how these aberrations are caused. Gene regulation is the simple, yet all-encompassing explanation, which includes control at the chromosomal, transcriptional, post-transcriptional, translational, post-translational and epigenetic levels, to maintain homeostasis. Deregulation of a variety of these mechanisms results in genomic instability, as observed in cancer. Of the many cancers, prostate cancer is the second leading cause of death, a consequence of metastasis. Metastasis, a multi-step process including escape of cell death, proliferation, angiogenesis, invasion, migration and homing and growth of tumor at secondary site, is primarily facilitated by various signaling molecules that not only promote the tumor growth but also alter the microenvironment [2, 3]. These signaling molecules are the direct result of disrupted gene regulatory events.

This study focuses on the post-transcriptional and epigenetic regulation of a novel protein, MIEN1, in prostate cancer. MIEN1, expressed in the 17q12 region of the human chromosome, 505 nucleotides away from the HER2/neu gene in a tail-to-tail arrangement, plays an important role in cancer progression by promoting the Akt/NF-κB pathway and facilitating filopodia formation [4-6]. MIEN1 also has an important selenium binding domain and an ITAM motif which are currently under study in our laboratory. Interestingly, immunohistochemical analysis by Evans et al., showed that while many normal tissues including adrenal gland, blood and bone marrow lacked MIEN1 expression, the Leydig cells and some normal breast ductal epithelium exhibited some expression of the protein [4]. In contrast, MIEN1 expression was remarkably high in many cancers including breast and prostate [4, 5]. Other tumor antigens which demonstrate such tissue distribution have been classified as cancer/testis antigens and are potentially implicated as diagnostic and therapeutic targets [7]. In order to validate the potential use of MIEN1 as a target for prostate cancer, identification of the molecular mechanisms that regulate this gene in normal cells was needed. This study is an effort to achieve this goal, and determine if these regulatory elements are disturbed in cancer. This understanding will advance our knowledge with respect to MIEN1 and its regulators in prostate cancer and ultimately may even help in development of diagnostic and/or therapeutic agents. To study the regulation of MIEN1, we used the *in vitro* cell culture system; PWR-1E and HPV-18C-1, immortalized normal epithelial cells, LNCaP, an androgen dependent prostate cancer cell and DU-145 and PC-3, androgen independent prostate cancer cells, in the various experiments.

Our rational to study post-transcriptional regulation of MIEN1 by miRNA was based on the lack of protein expression in PC-3 cells, though there was mRNA, apart from the distinctive differential expression of MIEN1 mRNA and protein between normal and cancer cells. The bioinformatics and microarray based analysis helped in identifying potential miRNA that could regulate MIEN1. Further experiments demonstrated that MIEN1 could be regulated by a novel microRNA, hsa-miR-940. Upon examination, we found that the miR-940 was highly expressed in normal cells while its expression was lost in cancer, an inverse correlation to MIEN1 expression pattern. The higher expression of miR-940 in the normal and benign glands compared to the matched cancer tissues, from 15 patients, proved the clinical relevance of miR-940. To validate the regulation, we ectopically overexpressed or inhibited miR-940 in the different cells. Our results confirmed the ability of miR-940 to directly alter MIEN1 expression. MiRNAs are known to be able to target many mRNAs based on the availability of the target mRNA pool and the seed sequence complementarity of the miRNA to the mRNA [8-10]. Hence, the overall function of any miRNA cannot be assumed based on its regulation of a single target. To define the function of miR-940 in cancer progression, the effect of miR-940 on some of the hallmarks of cancer was tested. We observed that miR-940 decreased migratory and invasive capacities of the cells, functions facilitated by MIEN1. Anoikis resistance, another critical step in cancer progression and metastatic dissemination, includes anchorage-independent growth and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition capabilities of the cells [11]. Ectopic expression of miR-940 in cancer cells not only abrogated EMT but also their anchorage-independent growth, thus implicating the role of miR-940 in induction of anoikis sensitivity. Analysis using bioinformatics algorithms predicted many targets of miR-940 to be involved in cancer progression.

The expression variances observed in miR-940 between cancer and normal cells led us to the next important question: could miR-940 be a serum biomarker, along with PSA. To address this, our preliminary experiments were to determine miR-940 expression in the conditioned media (cell culture supernatant). Interestingly, our results showed elevated expression of the miRNA in the supernatant. This was contradictory to the expression pattern observed in cells. But, miRNA are known to be secreted out of the cells in various forms and reports predict the use of such circulating miRNA as biomarkers for disease prediction and prognosis [12-17]. We predicted that miR-940 was packaged into exosomes and secreted out of the cancer cells, thereby inhibiting its role in prevention of cancer progression. As hypothesized, isolated exosomes from cancer cell supernatant showed an increase in both the mature as well as the precursor forms of the miRNA compared to the normal counterpart. Based on these observations, our next task was to evaluate the expression of the miR-940 in human serum from healthy donors as well as cancer patients. Though there was a change, this did not provide any significant differences compared to the PSA test, owing to the small sample size. Thus, a more detailed study, with larger number of samples, is required to determine the use of miR-940 as a better biomarker for (a) prostate cancer diagnosis, and (b) differentiation between indolent and aggressive disease.

Even though miR-940 was identified as a regulator of MIEN1, there was still no clear understanding of the deregulation that led to its increased transcriptional activity in cancer. The proximity of MIEN1 with HER2/*neu* was sufficient to explain co-amplification of the gene (possibly copy number variations) [18]. But presence of MIEN1 on the negative strand (opposite to HER2), suggested that the transcriptional regulation leading to increased mRNA expression was not an amplicon effect. Scanning the putative promoter region of MIEN1 showed CpG rich islands. Almost all of the cancer/testis antigens have been demonstrated to be regulated by DNA methylation [7]. Bisulfite sequencing showed MIEN1 to be hypermethylated in its SINE Alu region compared to hypomethylation of the same region in cancer cells. Demethylation reversed the repression on MIEN1 transcription in the normal cells. Closer look at the region adjacent to the transcription start site revealed an E-box element. This implies that MIEN1 transcription may be activated by binding of USF to an unmethylated E-box in cancer cells, which are known to exhibit global hypomethylation [19]. Conversely, since SINE repeats that are insulated by USF binding in the gene promoters are better tolerated, we believe that USF binding is lost in normal cells and the SINE Alu is methylated, resulting in MIEN1 transcriptional repression [20, 21].

In conclusion, this study successfully identified a post-transcriptional and an epigenetic regulation of MIEN1 (Figure 1). The miR-940 not only down regulates MIEN1 but also negatively influences cancer progression, globally. Though use of miR-940 as a biomarker in tissues and serum shows potential, it is still at its infancy and needs extensive validation. Finally, the loss of methylation leading to increased expression of MIEN1 in cancer questions the existing approach of using global hypomethylating agents as cures for cancer.



# Figure 1: MODEL

(Top) In normal cells, MIEN1 promoter is methylated, preventing transcription; additionally, if any transcript is made, it is targeted by miR-940; together, these mechanisms inhibit MIEN1 expression. (Bottom) In cancer, MIEN1 promoter is hypomethylated, USF potentially binds, activating MIEN1 transcription; additionally, the miRNA transcribed is shuttled out of the cells and into circulation thereby preventing its action on MIEN1 transcript; together, these mechanisms enhance MIEN1 expression.

### **Future Directions**

The global role of miR-940 in cancer progression was examined on an *in vitro* platform. The efficacy of using miR-940 as a therapeutic agent is dependent on its ability to affect tumor progression *in vivo* [22]; experiments towards achieving this goal are in progress. In order to use miR-940 as a marker/therapy, its expression in other cells and tissues and the other target mRNAs have to be carefully examined [23]. Additionally, a large scale validation study with appropriate controls have to be used to determine the use of miR-940 as a serum biomarker.

The role of histones in epigenetic regulation is, at times, closely linked with the DNA methylation [24]. In our study, since we only confirmed DNA methylation pattern, histone modifications are yet to be explored. Though we predict USF binding and activation of MIEN1, this needs to be experimentally demonstrated, along with confirmation of E-box methylation in normal cells. Assessing methylation status of MIEN1 in clinical tissues may add to the list of epigenetic markers for prostate cancer diagnosis [23]. The effects of demethylating agents, that are currently in clinical trials, on MIEN1 expression and hence, tumor progression, have to studied [25].

There is an increasing amount of evidence suggesting extensive cross-talk between the regulatory mechanisms [24, 26, 27]. In our study, we have identified miRNA and DNA methylation mediated regulation of MIEN1 as independent mechanisms; but they could be interrelated and this needs further investigation. Additionally, though we believe both the mechanisms are equally importance, the precedence of these regulations, specifically with respect to MIEN1 expression pattern and globally with respect to prostate cancer progression have to be evaluated.

### References

 Balmain A: Cancer genetics: from Boveri and Mendel to microarrays. Nat Rev Cancer 2001, 1(1):77-82.

 Hanahan D, Weinberg RA: Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011, 144(5):646-674.

3. Valastyan S, Weinberg RA: Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell 2011, 147(2):275-292.

4. Evans EE, Henn AD, Jonason A, Paris MJ, Schiffhauer LM, Borrello MA, Smith ES, Sahasrabudhe DM, Zauderer M: C35 (C17orf37) is a novel tumor biomarker abundantly expressed in breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 2006, 5(11):2919-2930.

5. Dasgupta S, Wasson LM, Rauniyar N, Prokai L, Borejdo J, Vishwanatha JK: Novel gene C17orf37 in 17q12 amplicon promotes migration and invasion of prostate cancer cells. Oncogene 2009, 28(32):2860-2872.

6. Dasgupta S, Cushman I, Kpetemey M, Casey PJ, Vishwanatha JK: Prenylated c17orf37 induces filopodia formation to promote cell migration and metastasis. J Biol Chem 2011, 286(29):25935-25946.

7. Fratta E, Coral S, Covre A, Parisi G, Colizzi F, Danielli R, Nicolay HJ, Sigalotti L, Maio M: The biology of cancer testis antigens: putative function, regulation and therapeutic potential. Mol Oncol 2011, 5(2):164-182.

8. Salmena L, Poliseno L, Tay Y, Kats L, Pandolfi PP: A ceRNA hypothesis: the Rosetta Stone of a hidden RNA language? Cell 2011, 146(3):353-358.

9. Lewis BP, Burge CB, Bartel DP: Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. Cell 2005, 120(1):15-20.

175

10. Tay Y, Rinn J, Pandolfi PP: The multilayered complexity of ceRNA crosstalk and competition. Nature 2014, 505(7483):344-352.

11. Paoli P, Giannoni E, Chiarugi P: Anoikis molecular pathways and its role in cancer progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013, 1833(12):3481-3498.

12. Sita-Lumsden A, Dart DA, Waxman J, Bevan CL: Circulating microRNAs as potential new biomarkers for prostate cancer. Br J Cancer 2013, 108(10):1925-1930.

13. Mitchell PS, Parkin RK, Kroh EM, Fritz BR, Wyman SK, Pogosova-Agadjanyan EL, Peterson A, Noteboom J, O'Briant KC, Allen A, Lin DW, Urban N, Drescher CW, Knudsen BS, Stirewalt DL, Gentleman R, Vessella RL, Nelson PS, Martin DB, Tewari M: Circulating microRNAs as stable blood-based markers for cancer detection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008, 105(30):10513-10518.

14. Ferracin M, Veronese A, Negrini M: Micromarkers: miRNAs in cancer diagnosis and prognosis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2010, 10(3):297-308.

15. Iorio MV, Croce CM: MicroRNA dysregulation in cancer: diagnostics, monitoring and therapeutics. A comprehensive review. EMBO Mol Med 2012, 4(3):143-159.

16. Carlsson J, Davidsson S, Helenius G, Karlsson M, Lubovac Z, Andren O, Olsson B, Klinga-Levan K: A miRNA expression signature that separates between normal and malignant prostate tissues. Cancer Cell Int 2011, 11(1):14-2867-11-14.

17. Mo MH, Chen L, Fu Y, Wang W, Fu SW: Cell-free Circulating miRNA Biomarkers in Cancer.J Cancer 2012, 3:432-448.

18. Cheng WY, Ou Yang TH, Anastassiou D: Biomolecular events in cancer revealed by attractor metagenes. PLoS Comput Biol 2013, 9(2):e1002920.

19. Ehrlich M: DNA hypomethylation in cancer cells. Epigenomics 2009, 1(2):239-259.

20. Estecio MR, Gallegos J, Dekmezian M, Lu Y, Liang S, Issa JP: SINE retrotransposons cause epigenetic reprogramming of adjacent gene promoters. Mol Cancer Res 2012, 10(10):1332-1342.
21. West AG, Huang S, Gaszner M, Litt MD, Felsenfeld G: Recruitment of histone modifications by USF proteins at a vertebrate barrier element. Mol Cell 2004, 16(3):453-463.

22. Fabbri E, Brognara E, Borgatti M, Lampronti I, Finotti A, Bianchi N, Sforza S, Tedeschi T, Manicardi A, Marchelli R, Corradini R, Gambari R: miRNA therapeutics: delivery and biological activity of peptide nucleic acids targeting miRNAs. Epigenomics 2011, 3(6):733-745.

23. Chiam K, Ricciardelli C, Bianco-Miotto T: Epigenetic biomarkers in prostate cancer: Current and future uses. Cancer Lett 2014, 342(2):248-256.

24. Kristensen VN, Lingjaerde OC, Russnes HG, Vollan HK, Frigessi A, Borresen-Dale AL: Principles and methods of integrative genomic analyses in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2014, 14(5):299-313.

25. Ehrlich M, Lacey M: DNA hypomethylation and hemimethylation in cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 2013, 754:31-56.

26. Liep J, Rabien A, Jung K: Feedback networks between microRNAs and epigenetic modifications in urological tumors. Epigenetics 2012, 7(4):315-325.

27. Liu X, Chen X, Yu X, Tao Y, Bode AM, Dong Z, Cao Y: Regulation of microRNAs by epigenetics and their interplay involved in cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2013, 32(1):96-9966-32-96.